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F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s

Year ended June 30 2003 2002 2001

Statement of Operations Data (in thousands, except per-share data)

Total revenue $ 551,646 $ 490,477 $ 433,320

Net loss $ (52,184) $ (440,950) $ (363,135)

Net loss per common
equivalent shares outstanding $ (0.59) $ (5.04) $ (4.49)

Weighted average common and 
equivalent shares outstanding 88,807 87,452 80,863

Balance Sheet Data

Working capital $ 304,286 $ 201,741 $ 142,661

Total assets $1,587,270 $ 1,637,477 $ 2,183,953

Total stockholders’ equity $1,268,149 $ 1,305,661 $ 1,732,186

Net book value 
per share outstanding $ 14.21 $ 14.82 $ 19.93
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In 2003, the financial e-commerce landscape remains 

dynamic – continuously shifting via a multitude of market

forces, economic conditions and competitive challenges.

We’ve learned that achieving leadership in this landscape

comes from a steadfast focus on quality and solution-driven

innovation – always with the customer as the centerpiece

of our thinking.

Today, hard-earned CheckFree leadership has brought us 

a “high ground” advantage, a unique perspective to both

anticipate and respond to our markets – and ultimately

afford us a prominent role in shaping the landscape, as well

as the future, of financial e-commerce.

Sustaining that advantage requires vigilance. But it is a 

task we enthusiastically embrace and confidently execute 

everyday. It is what drives us, inspires our best thinkers 

and continues to define us as a leader in our industry.

Sustaining the advantage in financial e-commerce is our

leverage for growth – our platform for innovation – and 

our fuel for the future.

Sustaining the advantage
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CheckFree’s performance in fiscal 2003 reflects solid execution in each of our businesses in every 

market in which we compete. We performed well against our performance measurements, surpassing

our internal targets, beating the performance metrics of our competitors, and exceeding our primary

financial performance target – free cash flow – by generating more than $133 million during the year.

In last year’s letter to shareholders, I noted that if you want to track CheckFree’s performance over 

the coming year, look to our ability to increase bottom-line results as we decrease market costs. By

using our powerful internetwork infrastructure to create economies of scale efficient enough to lower

our client user costs as we simultaneously increase our margins, we believe we can maintain our market 

leadership position and execute on a sustained basis.

I suggested that if you track our results in this area, you would be tracking our strategy for success in

continuing to lead and expand these markets. My intent was to provide you – our shareholders – with 

a very clear and specific definition of our strategy and the standard to which our company should be

held accountable.

Fiscal 2003: Sustaining the Advantage

In holding CheckFree accountable to that performance standard, one can only conclude that the 

company performed as it was designed to perform in fiscal 2003. We have reduced the operating 

costs of our clients as a whole by double-digit percentages over the past 18 months. At the same time,

our internal operating efficiencies have improved to the point that we have increased CheckFree’s 

free cash flow by more than 500 percent from just shy of $24 million in fiscal 2002 to more than 

$133 million in fiscal 2003.

Fellow Shareholders:
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Anyone who follows CheckFree for very long knows we are as committed to investing in innovation 

and operating quality as we are to cost efficiency. In fiscal 2003, we continued this investment even as 

we provided significant improvement in bottom-line results. We believe market leadership, while always

advantageous, is a critical component in the emerging markets in which we compete. By establishing and

sustaining a leadership position in these markets through these types of investments, we have been able

to continue to define the standards our competitors must meet in order to compete.

Electronic Commerce

In our Electronic Commerce division, we expanded our margins with significant increases in revenue 

and operating income. We released the next version of our flagship electronic billing and payment 

Web product, enhancing ease-of-use for both consumers and consumer service providers. Processing 

434 million transactions in fiscal 2003, our transaction volume showed steady gains quarter-over-

quarter. In addition, we saw outstanding growth in electronic bill delivery through an ever-expanding

number of distribution sites, which grew to 949 sites by year’s end. Our e-bill run rate for the year

was 46 million, a better than 300% increase over the 15.2 million we realized in fiscal 2002; and the

number of unique bills available online has expanded to now cover the majority of primary bills

received by U.S. households.

Investment Services

Within Investment Services, our APL Multiple Strategy Portfolio solution found strong support in 

the marketplace, and we saw strong client retention across all our investment solutions in fiscal 2003.

Financially, this unit had a solid year despite working in one of the most difficult investor markets 

of the last 20 years. CheckFree maintained its lead with money managers and brokers under con-

tract, ending fiscal 2003 with slightly more than 1.2 million portfolios under management.
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Software

Our Software division saw less dramatic, but no less impressive gains in fiscal 2003. We saw solid

revenue growth throughout the year, and margins that improved as the year progressed. Our

commitment to check conversion solutions for financial institutions in our ACH business, as well as

enterprise reconciliation in our CFACS unit, contributed to our upward momentum as we closed the

year. Our i-Solutions unit was perhaps more challenged by the economy. Collectively, this division

continues to successfully retain and extend contracts within its impressive client stable.

While fiscal 2003 was arguably the best year of execution that CheckFree has realized, as the Chief

Executive Officer of a company that is driven by competitive performance and bottom-line results,

I am also obligated to analyze our areas for improvement.

• We have had remarkable success in building and implementing a Six Sigma process designed for 

application to our digital service-based business model. Our Electronic Commerce division has 

simultaneously raised quality and reduced costs, and created a path for continued improvement 

that is integral to our ability to sustain this level of excellence. These achievements are, of course,

extremely positive, but in hindsight we should have applied this Six Sigma process and knowledge 

to our other businesses earlier. Most of our business operations can benefit from our Sigma 

Quality process, and we must be much more aggressive in driving this important initiative 

throughout CheckFree, while driving the quality standards of our markets to a higher level 

in the process.
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• Better-than-average performance in difficult times is a good indicator of a strong business, and 

I believe that is the case with our Software division. This business unit is performing better than 

most other financial services software organizations in a tough economic environment; however,

I believe CheckFree has an even greater opportunity to leverage this success and its impact on our 

bottom-line results than we previously realized. Through either expanded development or new 

acquisition – or both – we plan to grow the Software division at a faster pace and focus more 

attention on this under-appreciated asset.

• Finally, entering fiscal 2004, CheckFree has the strongest set of key business and operational leaders

in its history. That said, I believe we need to increase the development of our overall leadership 

base. As CheckFree has passed through the $500 million revenue mark and set our sights on 

$1 billion and beyond, it is evident we need to do an increasingly better job of building leaders

throughout our organization who are capable of growing their businesses and operations beyond

current expectations.

Fiscal 2004: Leveraging Our Position

CheckFree’s strategic direction for fiscal 2004 is clear.

• We bring the efficiency and effectiveness of financial electronic commerce infrastructure to our

clients within our chosen markets, and we expect to sustain substantial market leadership in each 

of these markets.

• We have room within the increasing scale of our operating environment to continue to improve 

efficiency at a rate that will enable us to lower our clients’ costs, even as we increase our margins,

for the foreseeable future.

• We intend to continue to innovate and provide support to increase the aggressiveness of our clients’

marketing and to further open the mass consumer mainstream markets for managing household

finances electronically.
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• We will continue to drive costs out of the system, increase economies of scale efficiencies, and drive

the cost/value balance of our services ever further to the positive for our clients.

Through our Electronic Commerce division, we expect to see an increase in the availability of electronic

bills through additional distribution outlets as well as increased usage through current sites. Electronic

billing and payment adoption will be fueled by increased awareness and acceptance by mainstream

consumers, who we know will be more quality-conscious than our early adopters. Improving quality in all

areas of the business, and a concentrated focus on customer satisfaction will be key drivers for us in 2004.

In Investment Services, we will continue to improve our technology and infrastructure, with a continued

focus on the quality of our operations and service. We will continue to pursue new opportunities for

Multiple Strategy Portfolios, driving that functionality deeper into our client base. And we will look for

improved growth later in the year with a strengthening investor market.

We also expect to see continued interest in our Software division’s reconciliation solutions, and further

expansion into international markets for our CFACS unit in 2004. Sales in our check conversion solution

should continue to gain traction with our current clients as well as potential clients in this industry. We

will continue to manage the return on investment for our clients in the software industry, using quality

and cost savings initiatives to continue to drive this competitive market.

We are still early in each of our service markets, and we continue to prove that innovation remains an

important driver in extending our leadership in these markets. From multiple strategy portfolio capability

for our brokerage customers to increased integration of electronic bills with online banking services,

we will continue to drive the markets with improved services and increased capabilities. Most of our 

product and service areas will have at least one – and in several areas two or more – new generational

releases of product that will continue to advance the market, and we expect to further extend the

definitions of these marketplaces in fiscal 2004.
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While many theories and trial approaches will be bandied about in the financial electronic commerce

market space, CheckFree will continue to operate from a position of strength and experience. Our 

confidence in our position for continued innovation, market leadership and growth is solid. Consumers

will continue to accelerate the move from paper-based financial management processes to electronic

processes, and CheckFree will continue to be the primary provider of the Internetwork Infrastructure 

technology that will enable and support this move within our targeted financial service markets.

Look for CheckFree to continue to execute on the path we set in fiscal 2003 and to increase bottom-

line results as we decrease market costs for our clients. We have a very clear and straightforward standard

for CheckFree performance in fiscal 2004: Through our continued focus on execution, our clients will

enjoy an enhanced ability to serve their customers, effectively compete in their markets, and realize

continued reduction in their operating costs. We believe this commitment will provide our clients with

superior returns over the competitors who are not using CheckFree services and enable CheckFree to

sustain our leadership advantage.

Pete Kight

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Part I

Item 1.  Business.

All r eferences to  “ we,” “ us ,”  “ o ur ,”  “CheckFree”  or  the “Com p an y”  in  this  Ann ua l Rep o rt o n For m 1 0- K
m ea n Ch eckFr ee Co rp o ra tio n an d a ll en tities  owned  o r co n tr olled  b y CheckFree Co r po ra tio n, except wh er e it is  ma de
clear  th at th e term  on ly mean s the p a rent co mp an y.

O verv iew 

CheckFree was founded in 1981 as an electronic payment processing company and has become a leading
provider of financial electronic commerce products and services.  Our current business was developed through the
expansion of our core electronic payments business and the acquisition of companies operating in similar or
complementary businesses.

Through our Electronic Commerce Division, we enable consumers to receive and pay bills electronically.
For the year ended June 30, 2003, we processed approximately 434 million transactions, and delivered
approximately 32 million electronic bills.  For the quarter ended June 30, 2003, we processed approximately 120
million transactions and delivered approximately 11.5 million electronic bills.  During the quarter ended June 30,
2003, over 10 million consumers initiated a payment through CheckFree-managed services. The number of
transactions we process each year continues to grow.  For the year ended June 30, 2003, growth in the number of
transactions exceeded 37%.  The Electronic Commerce Division accounts for approximately 73% of our annual
revenue.

Through our Investment Services Division, we provide a range of portfolio management services to
financial institutions, including broker dealers, money managers and investment advisors.  As of June 30, 2003, our
clients used the CheckFree APL portfolio accounting system to manage over 1.2 million portfolios, totaling more
than $700 billion in assets.  The Investment Services Division accounts for approximately 15% of our annual
revenue.

Through our Software Division, we deliver software, maintenance, support and professional services to
large financial service providers and other companies across a range of industries.  Our Software Division is
comprised of three units, each with its own distinct set of software products.  The ACH Solutions unit provides
software and services that are used to process more than two-thirds of the nation’s nine billion Automated Clearing
House (“ACH”) payments. The CheckFree Financial and Compliance Solutions (“CFACS”) unit enables
organizations to manage their reconciliation and compliance requirements.  The i-Solutions unit provides software
and services that enable end-to-end e-billing and e-statement creation, delivery and payment.  The Software Division
accounts for approximately 12% of our annual revenue.

Electronic Commerce Division

Introduction.  The Electronic Commerce Division enables consumers to receive and pay bills
electronically.  Its products enable consumers to:

� receive electronic bills through the Internet;
� pay any bill - whether it arrives over the Internet or through traditional mail - to anyone;
� make payments not related to bills - to anyone; and
� perform customary banking transactions, including balance inquiries, transfers between accounts and

online statement reconciliations.

The majority of consumers using our services access the CheckFree system through Consumer Service
Providers (“CSPs”).  These are organizations, such as banks, brokerage firms, Internet portals and content sites,
Internet-based banks, Internet financial sites and personal financial management software providers, that use our
products to enable consumers to receive and/or pay bills electronically.  We have relationships with hundreds of
CSPs.  Some of our largest CSPs, as determined by type of CSP and number of consumers using CheckFree’s
products, are Bank of America, U.S. Bank, Charles Schwab & Co., Navy Federal Credit Union, SunTrust, U.S.
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Postal Service, Wachovia, Wells Fargo and Yahoo!.  This list of our CSPs is not exhaustive and may not fully
represent our customer base.

Industry Background.   On average more than 17 billion paper bills are produced each year, with the cost to
a biller of submitting a paper bill, including printing, postage and billing inserts, averaging anywhere from $0.50 -
$2.00 per bill (Gartner Group 2002).  In addition, it is estimated that 42.5 billion checks are written in the United
States every year.  The use of checks for bill payment imposes significant costs on financial services organizations,
businesses and their customers.  These costs include the writing, mailing, recording and manual processing of
checks. The majority of today’s consumer bill payments are completed using traditional paper-based methods.
According to a March 2002 TowerGroup study of the estimated 17 billion consumer bills produced each year, 74%
are paid by paper check, 11% are paid by electronic means and the remainder are paid by other means (cash, payroll
deduction, money order, etc.).  This compares to PSI Global statistics for 1990 which indicated that 90% of
consumer bills were paid by check and 2% to 3% were paid electronically.  Today, many traditional financial
transactions can be completed electronically due to the emergence of new communications, computing and security
technologies.  Many financial services organizations and businesses have invested in these technologies and are
creating the infrastructure for recording, reporting and executing electronic transactions.  We believe the broad
impact of the Internet, the relatively high cost of producing, printing and mailing a paper bill and the cost to
financial services organizations, businesses and customers of processing paper checks will continue the trend toward
increased usage of electronic methods to execute financial transactions.

Pro du cts  a nd  Services.  W e have d ev elop ed an  op en  in fr as tru ctur e, kn o wn  as G en es is, to p ro ces s electro nic
b ills  an d pay ments.  The Genesis  s ys tem  is acces s ed  b y CSP s us ing  v ariou s w eb -b ased ap p licatio ns .  In  March 20 0 1,
w e in tr o du ced  o ur  latest ap plication  fo r electro n ic b illin g and  p ay m en ts  - “W eb Pay f or  Co ns um er s ” (o r  W eb Pay) ,
w hich  ad ded to ou r cor e p ro du ct th e ability  fo r con su mer s to  receiv e and  pay e- b ills  ov er  e- mail an d to  ex ch ang e
m on ey  w ith  each  o th er us ing  e-m ail “inv itation s” to  r eceiv e m on ey .  W eb Pay h elps  co ns um ers  au to mate th e com plete
p ro cess  of  v iew in g and  p aying  b ills -  they can  r eceiv e b ills  on line as  w ell as p ay  th os e bills  o n line.  W eb Pay als o allow s
the con s um er  to  “Pay  A ny o ne” - f ro m a child  in  co lleg e, to  a lawn  care o r  o th er  serv ice p ro v id er , to a f rien d  - 
electro n ically, u sin g th e G en es is sy s tem.

� Electronic Billing or e-Bill Services.  As of June 30, 2003, consumers could view 279 different e-bills
through CSP websites or directly at our website.  The following billers are some of our largest e-billing
customers, as determined by the number of consumers viewing and paying their e-bills:  Bank of
America Credit Card, JC Penney Card Services, Sam’s Club Credit, Macy’s, Home Depot Consumer
Accounts, Lowe’s Consumer Credit Card, Sprint PCS, Verizon Corporation and Texaco.  Actual e-
bills delivered in the fourth quarter ended June 30, 2003, exceeded 11.5 million, which is an increase
of 24% over the 8.8 million e-bills distributed in the third quarter ended March 31, 2003, and an
increase of more than 200% over the 3.8 million e-bills delivered in the fourth quarter ended June 30,
2002.  For the year, we delivered about 32 million e-bills.  The number of CSPs where consumers can
both view and pay bills grew by approximately 63% in 2003, with 949 CSPs now offering full
electronic billing and payment.

� Electro n ic Pa ym en t o r th e Check Free PayAn yo n e SM Service.   O ur  P ay An yo n eSM serv ice allo ws 
con su mer s to  literally  p ay an yo n e electro nically  us in g a v ar iety of  devices  s uch  as p er so nal com p uter s.
O nce a con su m er  h as  acces sed th e s ys tem , he or  s h e can either  elect to  p ay an  electr o nic bill deliv er ed  by 
u s or  can in s tr uct the s y stem  to  p ay  an y in d iv id u al o r com pan y with in th e U nited  S tates .  W e com p lete
this pay ment requ es t eith er  electr on ically, us in g  the F ederal Res er v e’ s A utom ated Clear in g H ou se, o r in 
s om e in s tances other  electr on ic meth o ds  s uch  as V is a e- p ay , o r by  is su in g  a p ap er ch eck  o r d raft.

♦ Autom ated Clear in g H ou se.  The F ed eral Res er ve’ s Au tom ated  Clear in g Ho u se ( A CH ) is  th e
p rimary  batch -o rien ted  electr on ic fu n ds  tran sf er  sy stem  finan cial s erv ices or gan ization s us e to
m ov e fu n ds  electr on ically  thr ou g h th e b an kin g sy s tem.  W e acces s th e A CH  th ro ug h  an
agr eemen t with Su nTr us t Ban k.  A dd ition al in fo rm ation  o n  the ACH can  b e f ou nd  at the Federal
Res er ve Co mm iss io n’ s  w eb s ite at ww w.f ed er alr es er v e.go v.  Lik e o th er  us er s  o f th e A CH , w e
b ear cr edit r is k res ultin g fr om  retu r ned tr ans actio ns  caus ed  by  ins u ff icien t fu n ds , s to p pay ment
o rd er s, clos ed acco u nts, fr ozen  acco u nts, u n au th o rized u se, d is pu tes , th eft o r f raud .
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♦ Pap er  Ch ecks  or  D ra fts .  W hen we ar e u nable to mo v e th e f un ds  electr o nically , we will is su e a
p ap er  ch eck, dr aw n o n ou r  b an k accou n t, o r a p ap er dr af t, dr awn  o n the co ns um er ’ s ban k
accou nt.  Wh en we is su e a check , w e b ear th e r is k  o f in s uf ficient f u nd s, stop  p aym en t o rd er s ,
clo sed accou n ts  o r f ro zen  accou n ts .

♦ Payment Meth o d Selection .  O ur  G en esis s ys tem con tains  p atented  tech no log y that deter min es 
the p ref er red  m etho d  o f p ay ment to  b alance p ro ces sing  co sts, op er ation al ef ficiencies  and  r isk  o f 
los s.  W e hav e been  ab le to  m an age o u r risk  of  lo ss  b y u sing  th is  tech no log y to  ad ju s t th e m ix  o f 
electro n ic an d paper  tran sactio n s in  in divid ual cas es  s u ch  th at, ov erall, w e hav e no t incur r ed 
los ses in ex ces s of  0.41 % o f ou r  r ev enu es  in  any  of  the past five y ear s.  W e als o maintained  a
r es er ve fo r these r isk s o f $6 00 ,00 0 at Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3.

U sa ge Metr ics .  We r epo rt us ag e m etrics in  s everal w ay s.  F ir s t we r epo rt glob al nu mb ers  s ho w in g the total
n um ber o f tr ans actio ns  an d th e total nu mb er  of  co ns um er s  w ho  in itiate a p ay ment in  an y qu ar ter .  Fo r th e y ear  end ed 
J un e 30 , 2 00 3 , we p r oces s ed  m or e than  4 34  m illio n  trans actio n s an d d eliv ered ab o ut 3 2  m illio n e- b ills .  Fo r the f ou r th 
q uarter  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 , mo r e th an 10  m illio n  con su m er s initiated a p ay ment th ro u gh  CheckF ree-m an ag ed
s er vices .  W e als o r ep or t u sage based  o n th e r elation sh ip we have w ith  th e CS P, eith er a  “F ull S er vice” r elation sh ip or 
a “Paym ent S erv ices ” r elation sh ip.  A  F ull S er vice relatio ns h ip  is o ne w ith  a CS P th at o utso ur ces  th e co mp lete
electro n ic b illin g and  p aym en t p ro ces s to  u s .  A  Paym en t S er v ices  r elatio ns hip is on e w ith a CSP  th at u tilizes on ly  a
s ub set o f ou r  electr on ic billin g  and  paym en t s er v ices  o r  u ses  o ne o f  o ur  other Electr on ic Co mm er ce Divis io n p ro du cts .
U sing  th es e m etrics , f or  th e year en d ed  J un e 3 0, 20 03 , w e pr o cess ed  ap pr o ximately 30 9 .8  m illio n trans actio ns  related 
to Fu ll Serv ice con s um er s  and  r eco rd ed reven ues o f ap pr o ximately $3 1 0.8 m illion  fo r these s erv ices.  We also 
p ro cess ed ap p ro ximately 1 24 .0  m illio n  trans actio n s in  th e Pay ment S erv ices categ or y and  r eco rd ed  revenu e o f
app ro xim ately  $ 53 .7  million  f or  th es e s er vices .  Gr ow th  in  tr an saction s in th e Electr on ic Co mm er ce Divis io n exceeded 
3 7% f or  th e y ear an d  g ro w th  in r ev en u e ex ceeded 1 5% f or  th e y ear.

T he CheckFree Advan tag e.  W e have develop ed  n u mero u s sy stems  an d pr og r am s to en han ce o u r electro nic
b illing  an d p ay ment pr od u cts.

� S ca la ble G en esis Pla tf or m .  The G en esis p latf or m  is an open infrastructure created to process electronic
bills and payments.  Genesis has the built-in scale to handle transactions from more than 30 million
consumers.  Between 1999 and 2002, we successfully migrated all transaction processing for all
consumers using CheckFree services to the Genesis platform, enabling us to improve our economies of
scale.

� S ig ma  Q u ality.   In  f is cal y ear  2 00 0 , we began an in ter nal p ro gr am called th e “Sigm a Challeng e,” w hich
ties em p lo yee p er fo r mance evalu ation s  and  co mp en s atio n to th e ach iev em en t o f pr o cess  an d sy s tem
imp ro vem en ts .  Sigm a is a m easu r e of  qu ality  typ ically u sed b y manu f actu r in g fir ms  to  m in im ize d efects.
The S ig m a Ch allen ge ap plies  S ig m a measu remen ts  as  a b ar o meter  o f ou r  p er f or mance o n o ur  k ey  metr ics 
o f sy stem av ailab ility  an d paym ent timelines s, an d fo cu s es  o u r atten tion  on  critical task s and  p eak 
p er fo rm ance.  The S igm a Challen g e was  d es ig n ed  to  tak e o ur  q u ality p er fo r mance to 99 .9%, or  4.6
S ig ma.  A 4.6  S ig ma is  th e qu ality  s tan dard  set b y th e teleco mm un ication s  ind us try  f o r deliv er in g  their 
s er vices  to b us in es s es  an d co ns u mers , and  s ign if ies   “d ial-to ne” qu ality .  Meeting  th e Sigm a Challeng e
has allowed us to provide a higher level of quality service to our clients.  As a result of our Sigma Challenge
program, in 2003, we voluntarily raised our service level agreements across our entire base of CSPs.

� Electro n ic Pa ym en t Rate.   Electr on ic paym en ts ar e m or e eff icien t th an pap er  p ay m en ts , w hich  ar e m ad e
b y ch eck  o r d raft.   Electr on ic paym ents ar e les s  exp en s iv e to pr ocess  in itially , res ult in  fewer  err or s  and 
r es ult in few er  cus tom er  in qu ir ies .  As  o f J un e 3 0, 2 00 3 , we co mp leted  o v er  7 5% of  o u r paym ents
electro n ically.  Th is co m pares to 71 % as of  Ju ne 30 , 20 0 2.  I n ad ditio n to send ing  a larg e m ajor ity  o f o ur 
p ay ments  electr on ically, we als o  h av e d ev elo ped a p ro ces s by  wh ich w e in clu de w ith  th e paym ent
add itio n al in fo rm ation  th e receiving  merchan t has  g iv en  us  ab ou t ho w  its  paym en t s ho u ld  b e trans m itted.
W e have es tab lish ed  co nn ectiv ity  w ith  o ver 6 ,0 00  merchan ts  to  p ro vid e th is ad ditio nal inf or m atio n .  This 
add itio n al in fo rm ation  allo ws  m erchan ts  to q uick ly an d m or e accur ately  p r oces s the electr on ic pay ments
they receive fr om  u s  and  redu ces  the nu mb er  of  cu stom er  in qu iries  w e r eceiv e on  th es e p ay men ts .



-7-

� Exp er ien ced Cus to mer  Car e.   We have approximately 780 trained, experienced customer care and
merchant services staff located in facilities in Dublin, Ohio; Aurora, Illinois; and Phoenix, Arizona.
The level and types of customer care services we provide vary depending upon the customer’s or
CSP’s requirements.  We provide both first- and second-tier support.  When we provide first-tier
customer care, we handle all inbound customer calls, in some cases under the CSP’s name.   When we
provide second-tier customer support, we provide payment research and support, and the CSP handles
its own inbound customer calls.  To maintain our customer care standards, we employ extensive
internal monitoring systems, conduct ongoing customer surveys and provide comprehensive training
programs.  We use the feedback from these sources to identify areas of strength and opportunities for
improvement in customer care, and to help us adjust resources to respond efficiently.

O ur  Bus iness  Stra teg y.   O ur  b us iness  strateg y is  to  p ro v id e an ex pan ding  rang e o f co n venien t, secur e an d 
cos t- ef f ectiv e electro nic com mer ce s erv ices  an d r elated  pr od u cts to  finan cial s erv ices or gan ization s, I n tern et- based 
inf or matio n s ites , b us in ess es  th at g enerate recu r ring  b ills and  s tatem en ts, and  th eir  cus to m er s.  W e hav e des ig ned o ur 
s er vices  and  pr od ucts to  take ad vantage o f o pp or tun ities  w e p er ceiv e in lig ht o f  cur r en t tr end s and  o ur  fu nd amental
s tr ateg y .  Th e key elemen ts  o f o ur  b u siness  strateg y ar e to:

� D rive in cr ea s ed  a do p tion  of  electr on ic co mm erce s er vices  b y con su mer s.  We believe that consumers
will move their financial transactions from traditional paper-based to electronic methods if they have
an easy-to-access, easy-to-use, secure, and cost-effective method for receiving and paying their bills
electronically.  To drive this transition, we make our e-bill and payment services available directly,
through CSPs and through biller sites so that e-bills are available wherever consumers feel most
comfortable viewing and paying them.  We also price our services to our customers in such a way as to
facilitate their offering electronic billing and payment to a broad array of consumers.  CSPs and billers
pay us based on the number of their consumers enabled to use our system, the number of transactions
we process, or some combination of both.  The price charged for each consumer or each transaction is
negotiated individually with each CSP and may vary depending on:

♦ the services provided to the consumers;
♦ the nature of the transactions processed; and
♦ the volume of consumers, transactions, or both.

We believe this flexibility equips our CSPs and billers to provide their consumers with services that
will meet their needs, and that this flexibility makes it more attractive for CSPs and billers to more
heavily promote the CheckFree electronic billing and payment service.

� Continue to improve operational efficiency and effectiveness.   We believe that as our business grows
and the number of transactions we process increases, we will be able to take advantage of operating
efficiencies associated with increased volumes, thereby reducing our unit costs.  Our Sigma Challenge
program, our high electronic rate, our consolidation of platforms, the scalability of the Genesis system
and our high quality customer care centers all help us achieve greater efficiencies.

� D rive n ew fo r ms  o f electr on ic co mm er ce services.  O ur  electronic commerce services are currently
applied to banking, billing and payment transactions.  We believe that new applications will be
developed as a result of the growth in electronic commerce generally, and Internet-based commerce
specifically.  We intend to leverage our infrastructure and distribution to address the requirements of
consumers and businesses in these new applications.  For example, our core payment and processing
network can manage person-to-person and small business payments, as well as payments made at
Internet merchant sites.  In 2003, we updated our website, www.checkfree.com, to provide an
education site where consumers can go to learn about and experience electronic billing.

Technology, Research and Development.   Our core technology capabilities were developed to handle
settlement services, merchant database services and online inquiry services on a traditional mainframe system with
direct communications to businesses.  We have implemented a logical, nationwide “n-tier” internetworking
infrastructure.  In other words, our infrastructure networks together any number of other networks, passing
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transaction data among them.  For example, we internetwork together networks of billers, consumers, CSPs and
financial institutions to complete electronic billing and payment transactions.   Consumers, businesses and financial
services organizations access this internetworking infrastructure through the Internet, dial-up telephone lines,
privately leased lines or various types of communications networks.  Our computing complex in Norcross, Georgia,
houses a wide variety of application servers that capture transactions and route them to our back-end banking,
billing and payment applications for processing.  The back-end applications are run on IBM mainframes, Tandems
or Unix servers.  We have developed databases and information files that allow accurate editing and initiation of
payments to billers.  These databases have been constructed over the past 22 years as a result of our transaction
processing experience.

In 2003, we implemented a project to enhance our disaster recovery systems.  As part of this new project,
we utilize IBM Business Recovery Services and EMC’s remote disk mirroring technology.  We replicate and
transmit our data twice a day to our disaster recovery site so that we have a restartable system in the event of a
disaster.  Using this system, we are able to recover technical infrastructure, client communications, in-flight
payments and tier-one customer care within 24 hours.

We maintain a research and development group with a long-term perspective of planning and developing
new services and related products for the electronic commerce, financial application software and investment
services markets.  As of June 30, 2003, our research and development group consisted of approximately 180
employees.  Additionally, we use independent third party software development contractors as needed.

S ales , Mar ketin g an d  D is tribu tio n.  O ur marketing and distribution strategy has been to create and maintain
distribution alliances that maximize access to potential customers for our services.  We do not, for the most part,
market to, or have a direct relationship with, consumers or end-users of our products and services.  We believe that
these alliances enable us to offer services and related products to a larger customer base than can be reached through
stand-alone marketing efforts.  We seek distribution alliances with companies who have maximum penetration and
leading reputations for quality with our target customers.  These alliances include our relationship with CSPs; with
billers; with Biller Service Providers (or BSPs) such as Kubra Data Transfer, Ltd., CSG Systems, Inc. and DST
Output; and with value-added resellers such as Fiserv, Certegy, Digital Insight, PSCU Financial Services and S1
Corporation.  This list of BSPs and resellers is not exhaustive and may not fully represent our customer base.

In order to foster a better understanding of the needs of our CSPs, billers, BSPs and resellers, we employ a
number of relationship managers assigned to each of these specific customers.  We also employ marketing personnel
to facilitate joint consumer acquisition programs with each of these customer groups, and to share our industry
knowledge and previously developed campaigns with their marketing departments.  Our alliance partners market our
services in numerous ways, including television, radio and print advertising, in some cases offering bill payment
services for free.

Competition.  We face significant competition for all of our electronic commerce products.  Our primary
competition is the continuance of traditional paper-based methods for receiving and paying bills, both on the part of
consumers and billers.  In addition, the possibility of billers and CSPs using internal development and management
resources to create in-house systems to handle electronic billing and payment remains a competitive threat.

Metavante, a division of Marshall and Ilsley Corporation, competes with us most directly from the
perspective of providing pay anyone solutions to financial services organizations.   In 2000, Metavante announced
that it had signed an agreement to provide processing to Spectrum, a joint venture formed by J.P. Morgan Chase,
First Union (now Wachovia Corporation) and Wells Fargo & Co. to allow individuals and businesses to receive and
pay bills electronically.  According to Metavante, this agreement contained guaranteed minimum transactions from
each of the three joint venture banks.  Since 2001, Metavante has either purchased or announced the purchase of
four companies associated with some aspect of electronic billing or payment: Cyberbills, Derivion, Paytrust and
Spectrum.

A number of other companies compete with us by providing some, but not all, of the services that make up
our complete e-bill and electronic pay anyone service.  For example, MasterCard International provides a service
which allows electronic payment to certain merchants.
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Other Products and Services.  In addition to the electronic billing and payment service products, the
Electronic Commerce Division also offers a credit card account balance transfer product, a credit card refund
balance product, an automated recurring payments and software service, which is primarily installed at health clubs
throughout the United States, and other forms of wholesale and retail payment solutions.

Acq uisitio ns .   Our current business was developed through expansion of our core Electronic Commerce
business and the acquisition of companies operating in similar or complementary businesses.  Our major
acquisitions related to the Electronic Commerce Division include Servantis Systems Holdings, Inc. in February
1996, Intuit Services Corporation in January 1997, and MSFDC, L.L.C. (TransPoint) in September 2000.  In
October 2000, we completed the strategic agreement we entered into with Bank of America in April 2000, under
which we acquired certain of Bank of America’s electronic billing and payment assets.

Investment Services Division

Introduction.  The Investment Services Division provides a range of outsourced portfolio management
services to help more than 270 institutions deliver portfolio management, performance measurement and reporting
services to their clients, primarily for processing separately managed accounts (“SMAs”).

Our institutional client base includes investment advisors, brokerage firms, banks and insurance companies.
Our fee-based money manager clients are typically sponsors or managers of “wrap,” or separately managed
accounts, money management products, or traditional money managers, managing investments of institutions and
high net worth individuals.  We also support a growing number of third party vendors providing quick-to-market
turnkey solutions.

Investment Services’ primary product is a real-time portfolio management system called CheckFree APL,
which is used by 39 of the top 50 brokers in the United States and 36 of the top 40 money managers.  Our clients use
the APL system to manage over 1.2 million portfolios representing more than $700 billion in assets.

Industry Background.  Industry analysts (including Forrester Research and Financial Research Corporation
2001) predict a compound annual growth in the separately managed account business to exceed 20% over the next
several years.  This projected growth is due primarily to the marketing of fee-based services, like SMAs by
brokerage companies, and consumers’ desire to more efficiently manage the tax implications of their holdings by
investing in SMAs.

Pro du cts  a nd  Services.  Our portfolio management products and services are marketed under the product
names CheckFree A PL and  Ch eck Fr ee A P L Wr ap, and  pr ov ide the fo llo wing  f u nctio ns :

� account open and trading capabilities;
� graphical client reporting;
� performance measurement;
� decision support tools;
� account analytics;
� tax lot accounting;
� multiple strategy portfolios;
� straight through processing;
� Depository Trust Corporation interfacing;
� billing functions; and
� system and data security.

In fiscal 2003, we enhanced our CheckFree APL Wrap product by creating a Multiple Strategy Portfolio
solution.  This solution allows our clients to track, on a combined basis, the portfolios of their customers, even when
multiple portfolios are managed by different asset managers.  We currently have 14 clients using this solution and
another 17 clients in pre-production.
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In addition, our Investment Services team provides data conversion services, trains personnel on system
use, and provides technical network support and computer system interface set-up.  Our APL System currently
maintains 1,100 interfaces across 89 vendors.  Our M-Search product manages data for 1,300 managers and 5,600
investment products.

Revenues in our portfolio management services are generated per portfolio under management through
multiple year agreements that provide for monthly revenue on a volume basis.  Revenue from our information
services and software is typically generated through annual agreements.

T echn olo gy.  O ur  Investment Services Division utilizes IBM RS/6000s to run the portfolio management
software.  Services are provided primarily as a service bureau offering with the data center residing in Chicago,
Illinois.  Clients obtain access either through a dedicated circuit or through dial-up applications.  The Chicago data
center is the communication center for more than 160 dedicated links together with four concentration hub sites
located in New Jersey, New York, Boston and San Diego.  Each of these hub sites supports the concentration of
local dedicated links plus dial-up access.  In addition to the dedicated private network, clients use frame relay
services from several companies to access services.  Our integrated outsourced solution utilizes a Unix platform.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution.  We market CheckFree APL through our direct sales force.  We
generate new customers through direct solicitation, user groups and advertisements.  We also participate in trade
shows and sponsor industry seminars for distribution alliances.

Com petitio n.  One source of competition Investment Services faces is from potential customers building
their own internal portfolio accounting systems. We also compete with providers of portfolio accounting software
and services like Advent Software, DST and IDS, and service bureau providers like SunGard Portfolio Solutions and
Financial Models Company.

Other Products and Services.  In addition to our APL and APL Wrap portfolio management products, the
Investment Services Division also offers investment performance measurement and reporting products and services.
Marketed under M-Search and M-Watch, these products are a result of the acquisition of Mobius Group, Inc. in
March 1999.  In 2003, we launched a new product, M-Pact, which is a proposal generation system that provides
product analysis and client proposals.

Acq uisitio ns .  Our current business was developed through the acquisition of Security APL, Inc. in May
1996, and Mobius Group, Inc. in March 1999.

Software Division

The Software Division operates three units, each of which delivers software, maintenance, support and
professional services.  These units are ACH Solutions, Financial and Compliance Solutions, and i-Solutions.

� ACH Solutions.  Our ACH Solutions unit provides Automated Clearing House (ACH) software and
services. ACH is the primary batch-oriented electronic funds transfer system financial services
organizations use to move funds electronically through the banking system.  More than 80 percent of
the nation’s top 50 ACH originators use our solutions for ACH processing, and more than two-thirds
of the nation’s nine billion ACH payments are processed each year through institutions using our
software systems.  In addition to the United States, we have provided electronic payment technology in
Australia, Barbados, Chile, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Jamaica, Malaysia and
Panama.

ACH Solutions markets software under the product name PEP+ (Paperless Entry Processing System).
PEP+ is an online, real-time system that enables the originating and receiving of payments through the
ACH system.  These electronic transactions are substitutes for paper checks, and are typically used for
recurring payments such as direct deposit payroll payments; corporate payments to contractors and
vendors; debit transfers that consumers make to pay insurance premiums, mortgages, loans and other
bills; and business-to-business payments.  In fiscal 2003, we launched a new product, marketed as
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reACH, that can be used with our PEP+ software.  This product allows returned checks, checks at the
point-of-sale, and checks sent to a lockbox to be converted to electronic payments.

CheckFree Financial and Compliance Solutions (CFACS).  CFACS provides software and
professional services that enable organizations to perform automated reconciliation and maintain
compliance with federal and state regulations.  Banks, bank holding companies, securities and
insurance firms, corporations, and government agencies use our reconciliation and compliance
products and services.  Our reconciliation solutions are marketed under the CheckFree RECON-Plus
and CheckFree RECON Securities brand.  These systems reconcile high volumes of complex
transactions that are spread across multiple internal and external systems and include securities
transaction processing, automated deposit verification, consolidated bank account reconciliation and
cash mobilization, and improved cash control.  In fiscal 2002, we released RECON-Plus Frontier™, a
multi-tier reconciliation system that operates over the Internet.  The CFACS compliance products
support:

♦ unclaimed property management;
♦ 1099 reporting;
♦ fraud detection;
♦ the Bank Secrecy Act;
♦ corporate accountability; and
♦ retirement reporting.

� i-Solutions.  i-Solutions provides end-to-end business-to-consumer and business-to-business software
and services for e-billing and e-statement creation, delivery and payment.

CheckFree i-Solutions software enables billers to create online bills and statements and distribute them
to their customers for viewing and payment.  Online bills can be delivered to the biller’s customers
through any or all of the following options:  through CheckFree’s network of CSPs; directly at the
biller’s website; through e-mail; and through CheckFree’s website, www.checkfree.com, all of which
are serviced through our Electronic Commerce Division. Our software and outsourced application
hosting services deliver: e-bill and e-statement creation; e-bill and e-statement delivery; e-bill payment
transaction management and security; e-bill payment tracking and history; online marketing from the
biller to its customers; and customer care.

i-Solutions markets the CheckFree i-Series product line, which is a set of e-billing and e-statement
software solutions.  Each product in the i-Series includes a template for creating e-bills and e-
statements unique to a specific industry segment, reducing development and deployment time.  These
solutions are offered in both licensed and outsourced application service provider (ASP) agreements.
These products are marketable in international markets as well. i-Solutions software has been sold in
23 countries.

L icen ses .  We generally grant non-exclusive, non-transferable perpetual licenses to use our application
software at a single site.  Our standard license agreements contain provisions designed to prevent disclosure and
unauthorized use of our software.  License fees vary according to a number of factors, including the types and levels
of services we provide.  Multiple site licenses are available for an additional fee.  In our license agreements, we
generally warrant that our products will function in accordance with the specifications set forth in our product
documentation.  License fees are generally due upon product documentation and software delivery to the customer.

Mainten a nce a nd  S up p or t.  Maintenance includes enhancements to our software.  Customers who obtain
maintenance generally retain maintenance service from year to year.  To complement customer support, we
frequently participate in user groups with our customers.  These groups exchange ideas and techniques for using our
products and provide a forum for customers to make suggestions for product acquisition, development and
enhancement.

Pro fess ion al Services. We o ff er im p lementation  serv ices bu ild in g cus to m er  app lication s ar o un d o ur  p ro d ucts .
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Sales, Marketing and Distribution.  We market software products through our direct and indirect sales
force.  Salespersons have specific product responsibility and receive support from technical personnel as needed.
We generate new customers through direct solicitations, user groups, advertisements, direct mail campaigns and
strategic alliances.  We also participate in trade shows and sponsor industry technology seminars for prospective
customers.  Existing customers are often candidates for sales of additional products or for enhancements to products
they have already purchased.  We also market through resellers for certain geographies and vertical markets.

Competition.  The computer application software industry is highly competitive.  We believe that there is at
least one direct competitor for most of our software products, but no competitor competes with us in all of our
software product areas.

In the electronic statement creation and financial applications software markets, we compete directly or
indirectly with a number of firms, including large diversified computer software service companies and independent
suppliers of software products.  CheckFree i-Solutions’ electronic statement and billing creation software products
compete primarily with edocs, Inc., Avolent Software and with billers building their own solutions rather than
buying software or outsourcing the service.  The RECON-Plus products compete with Chesapeake, Accurate and
SmartStream.  Our PEP+ products compete with Transaction Systems Architects, Inc.

Acquisitions.  Our current business was developed through the acquisition of Servantis Systems Holdings,
Inc. in February 1996 and BlueGill Technologies, Inc. in April 2000.

G ov ernment  R eg ulat ion 

We believe that we are not required to be licensed by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the
Federal Reserve Board, or other federal or state agencies that regulate or monitor banks or other types of providers
of electronic commerce services.  The Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (“FFIEC”), however,
periodically audits us, because we are a supplier of products and services to financial services organizations.  The
FFIEC is made up of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, the National Credit Union Administration, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Office
of Thrift Supervision.  In addition, because we use the ACH to process many of our transactions, we are subject to
the rules of the Federal Reserve Board, which currently allow us to use the ACH by using a routing number assigned
to a bank.

I n co nd u ctin g  o ur  b u sines s, h ow ever, w e are s u bject to var io us  laws  an d regu latio n s relatin g to th e electr on ic
m ov em en t o f m on ey .   I n 2 00 1, th e US A  P atrio t Act amend ed th e Ban k S ecrecy Act to ex p an d th e d ef inition  of  m o ney
s er vices  b us iness es  so  th at it m ay  in clud e b us in ess es  s u ch  as  Check F ree.  S ev er al states hav e als o pass ed leg is latio n
r eg ulating  o r  licen s in g check  s eller s , mo ney  tran sm itter s or  serv ice p ro v id er s to ban ks , an d  w e h av e reg is ter ed  u nd er
this leg is latio n in  sp ecific in s tances.  In  ad ditio n, as  are all U.S . citizen s, we ar e su bject to  the r egu latio ns  o f  the Of fice
o f Fo reign  A s sets  Co ntro l tar geted  at m on ey  laun d er in g.  F ur ther, w e are a “f in ancial ins titutio n ” with in th e m eanin g of 
the G ramm -Leach- Bliley A ct, w hich  g o vern s  n otice to con su mer s ab o ut the finan cial in stitu tion ’s  po licies with res pect
to us e o f cu s to mer d ata and  r es tricts  cer tain us e and  d isclo s ur e of  cu sto mer data.   Finally , we are also subject to the
electronic funds transfer rules embodied in Regulation E, promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board.  The Federal
Reserve’s Regulation E implements the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, which was enacted in 1978.  Regulation E
protects consumers engaging in electronic transfers, and sets forth the basic rights, liabilities, and responsibilities of
consumers who use electronic money transfer services and of financial services organizations that offer these
services.

Intellectual Property Rights

We regard our financial transaction services and related products as proprietary and rely on a combination
of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, employee and third party nondisclosure agreements, and other
intellectual property protection methods to protect our services and related products.  We have been issued 22
patents in the United States and abroad.  The majority of these patents cover various facets of electronic billing
and/or payment.  We also have a large number of pending patent applications.  We own over 30 domestic and
foreign trade and service mark registrations related to products or services and have additional registrations pending.
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Emp lo yees

As of June 30, 2003, we employed approximately 2,700 full-time employees, including approximately 475
in research and development, including software development, approximately 750 in customer care, approximately
285 in sales and marketing and approximately 1,190 in administration, financial control, corporate services, human
resources and other processing and service personnel.  We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreement
and are not aware of any efforts to unionize our employees.  We believe that our relations with our employees are
good. We believe our future success and growth will depend in large measure upon our ability to attract and retain
qualified management, technical, marketing, business development and sales personnel.

Business Risks

We desire to take advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995.  Many of the following important factors discussed below have been discussed in our prior filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.  In addition to the other information in this report, readers should carefully
consider that the following important factors, among others, in some cases have affected, and in the future could
affect, our actual results and could cause our actual consolidated results of operations for the fiscal year ending June
30, 2004, and beyond, to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by us, or
on our behalf.

Ris ks  Rela ted  to Ou r  Bus iness 

The mark et  f o r ou r elect ron ic co mmerce serv ices is ev olv in g a nd  may  no t con tinu e t o d ev elop  or g row  rap idly
eno ug h f or u s  t o ob t ain p ro fita b ilit y .

I f th e n um ber  o f electro n ic com m er ce tr an saction s  d oes n ot co ntin ue to  g r ow  o r if co n su mers  or  b u siness es do 
n ot con tin ue to  ado p t ou r  s er vices , it co uld  h av e a m aterial ad vers e eff ect o n o ur  b u siness , f in ancial con ditio n an d 
r es ults  of  o p er atio n s.  W e believe f u tu re g r ow th  in  the electro nic com mer ce m ar k et w ill b e d riven  b y th e cos t,
eas e-o f-u se and  qu ality  o f p ro du cts  and  serv ices of f er ed  to  con s um er s  and  b u sines ses.  I n or d er  to con sis tently  in cr eas e
and  m ain tain  ou r pr o fitab ility, co ns u mers  an d bu s in es ses  m us t con tin ue to  ado pt ou r s er vices .

We ha ve no t o pera ted  p ro f it ab ly  in  t h e pa st  an d exp ect t o ex p erience n et  lo ss es  in  t h e fu tu re.

W e have no t con sistently  op er ated pr o fitably  to d ate.  Since our inception, our accumulated losses have
totaled approximately $1.18 billion.  W e in cu r red:

� a los s f ro m o peratio ns  o f  $ 46 4.7  m illio n an d  a n et lo ss  of  $ 3 63 .1  m illio n  f or  th e fis cal year en d ed  J un e 3 0,
2 00 1;

� a los s f ro m o peratio ns  o f  $ 53 5.5  m illio n an d  n et lo ss  o f  $ 44 0 .9  m illio n f or  the fiscal year  en ded  J un e 3 0,
2 00 2; an d

� a los s f ro m o peratio ns  o f  $ 73 .5  million  and  net los s of  $5 2.1  m illio n fo r  the f iscal year  en ded J un e 30 ,
2 00 3.

W e an ticip ate app ro ach in g  b reak - ev en  fr om  o p er ation s in  fiscal 20 04  bu t m ay  con tin ue to  exp erien ce
add itio n al n et lo ss es or  may no t b e able to  su stain  p ro f itab ility  in  the fu tu re.  Fo r  the f iscal year  en ded J un e 30 , 2 00 3 ,
w e in ves ted abo ut $ 5 3 million  in  r es ear ch  an d dev elop men t an d  $ 57  m illio n  in sales  an d mark eting .  We in tend  to 
con tinu e to m ak e sig nifican t in v es tm ents in  research an d  d ev elo pm en t and  sales and  m ark etin g .  I f  the in vestm en t of 
o ur  cap ital is no t s ucces sf ul to  g ro w  o ur  b u sines s, it w ill h av e a m ater ial adv ers e eff ect o n ou r  b us in ess  an d finan cial
con ditio n, as  w ell as neg ativ ely  imp act an inv es tment in  o ur  bu sines s an d  lim it ou r ability  to  p ay divid en ds  in  the fu tu r e
to ou r s to ck h olders .
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O ur f ut u re p rof it ab ility  depend s  u po n  o ur a b ilit y  t o imp lemen t ou r s trat egy  s ucces sf u lly to  in creas e ad o pt io n  o f
elect ro n ic b illin g a nd  p a ymen t met ho d s.

O ur  f utu re p r of itab ility  will d epend , in par t, o n  o ur  ab ility  to im p lemen t ou r s tr ategy  s ucces sf u lly to  in cr eas e
ado ptio n  o f electro n ic b illin g and  p aym en t m etho d s.  Ou r  s tr ategy  in clud es in ves tm en t o f tim e an d  m on ey  du rin g fiscal
2 00 4 in  pr og r am s des ig ned  to:

� d rive co ns um er aw ar eness  of  electr on ic billing  an d paym ent;
� encou rag e co n su mers  to  s ign  u p f or  an d us e o ur  electr on ic billing  an d pay ment s erv ices of fer ed  b y  o ur 

d is tr ib u tion  partner s;
� con tinu e to r ef in e o ur  in fr as tr u ctur e to han dle s eamles s  p ro ces sing  of  tr an saction s;
� con tinu e to d ev elop  state-o f- th e-art, eas y-to-u se tech no lo g y; and 
� increas e the nu mb er  of  b ills we can p resent an d p ay  electr on ically.

I f we d o  n ot su cces s fu lly  imp lem en t o ur  s tr ategy , r ev en u e gr o wth may  b e m in im al, and  ex pend itu res  f or  th es e
p ro gr am s  w ill n ot b e jus tif ied.

O ur  inv estmen t in  th es e p ro gr am s  w ill h av e a n eg ative im pact on  o ur  sh or t-ter m pr o fitab ility.  A dd ition ally,
o ur  f ailur e to im plement th es e p ro gr ams  s ucces sf u lly or  to  s u bs tantially  in cr eas e ad o ptio n o f electro nic com m er ce
b illing  an d p ay ment meth o ds  b y con su m er s wh o  p ay  fo r th e s er v ices  co uld h av e a m ater ial adv ers e eff ect o n ou r 
b us in es s , fin an cial co nd ition  an d res ults  o f  o per atio ns .

C ompetit iv e p ress ures we fa ce ma y ha v e a ma t eria l a dv ers e ef f ect on  us .

W e face sign ificant co mp etition  in  o u r each  of  o u r bu sin es s u nits , Electr on ic Co mm er ce, I nv estment S erv ices
and  S of tware.  In cr eas ed  co mp etition  or  o th er co m petitiv e pr ess ur es  may r es ult in pr ice r ed u ctio n s, r ed u ced m ar gins  or 
los s of  bu sin es s, an y of  wh ich cou ld  have a mater ial ad v er se ef fect on  o u r bu sin es s, financial co nd itio n  and  resu lts  o f
o peratio ns .  Fu rther , co m petitio n will pers ist, and  m ay  in cr eas e an d  intens if y in th e f utur e.

I n Electro nic Com mer ce, o ur  p rim ar y com petitio n r em ains  th e traditio nal p ap er -b ased m etho ds  of  p aying  an d
r eceivin g bills .  I n  add ition , a n um b er  o f b an ks  have d evelo p ed  o r h av e ann ou nced th eir  intent to  d ev elo p th eir  o wn 
inter nal s olu tion s f or  all or  p o rtio n s of  th e electro nic b ill p resen tm en t and  p aym en t p ro ces s.  W ells  F arg o &  Co., J .P .
Mor gan Chase an d Wacho via cur ren tly h av e in - ho us e s olution s f or  all or  a po rtio n  o f the integr ated serv ices w e
p ro vide, and  Bank  O n e is  wo rk in g  o n a s im ilar so lutio n.  W e d o no t k no w w heth er  other  b an ks  th at cu rr en tly  o u ts ou rce
the b ill p res en tm en t and  paym en t p ro ces s to  us  w ill d ecide to  con str uct in- ho us e s olu tion s in th e f utur e.  A lth ou gh  we
b elieve th at mo st o f  the bank s w ho  d ecide to  u se an  in- h ou se so lu tio n will co ntinu e to us e o ur  s erv ices  fo r s om e po r tion 
o f th eir  electr on ic bill pr es en tment an d pay ment pr od uct, we may no t p ro v id e th e s am e r an ge of  s erv ices  as  w e
cur rently do  an d, th er ef o re, we may n ot r eceiv e the s am e amo u nt o f r ev en u e fr om  th es e b an ks .

W e also  co mp ete d ir ectly  with  Metav an te, a divisio n of  Mars hall an d  I ls ley Cor po r atio n, wh ich  cur ren tly
o ff er s a p ay  an yo ne so lu tio n to  finan cial s erv ice o rg an izatio ns .  I n  2 00 0 , Metav an te an n ou nced  th at it h ad  ex ecu ted a
lon g- ter m co n tr act w ith S pectru m , a joint v entur e f or med  b y J .P . Mo r gan Chase, F ir st Un io n ( no w W acho via) an d 
W ells  F arg o &  Co., to pr o vide electr o nic pay ment pr oces s in g.  A ccor d in g to Metav an te, th is  con tract co ntain ed 
g uaranteed  m inimu m trans actio n amo un ts fr om  each  of  the th ree joint ventu re b an k s.  O ver th e p as t s ev er al years ,
Metav an te has  com pleted o r an no u nced  several acq u is itio n s in  th e electro n ic b ill p res en tm en t and  paym en t area,
inclu din g th e p ur ch ase o f  Cyb er Bills , D er iv io n , P ay tr us t and  Sp ectr u m. W e also  face po tential co mp etition  f r om 
Mas terCard  I n tern ation al, w hich  has ann ou nced a p ro du ct to  o f fer on lin e b ill pr esentm en t to  en ab le peop le to  receiv e
and  p ay  bills  o ver the I n tern et.  We cann ot as su r e yo u that w e will be ab le to com pete ef fectively ag ain st Metav an te
and  Mas ter Car d, o r again s t th e actio n  o f fin an cial serv ices o rg an ization s  and  b illers  bu ild in g th eir  o w n electro nic
b illing  an d p ay ment so lu tio ns  in tern ally, o r  agains t oth er  cu rr en t and  f u tu re electr o nic co m merce com petitor s .

I n ad ditio n, we can n ot as su re y o u th at we w ill b e able to co m pete ef fectively  ag ains t cur ren t an d  f utur e
com petitor s in th e inv es tment s erv ices an d s of tw are p ro d ucts  mark ets .  Th e mark ets  f o r ou r inv es tment s erv ices an d
s of tw ar e p ro d ucts  ar e als o high ly co m petitiv e.  I n In ves tm en t S er vices , o ur  com p etition  com es pr imarily  fr om 
p ro vider s of  po rtfo lio  acco un tin g so f tw ar e and  f r om  in- h ou se so lu tio ns  d evelo ped  b y lar ge f inancial ins titution s.  I n



-15-

S of tw ar e, ou r  com petitio n  com es  fr om  several d if f er en t m ar ket s eg men ts , inclu din g lar ge d iv ers if ied  com p uter 
s of tw ar e and  serv ice com p an ies and  in depend ent s u pp lier s  o f s of tw ar e p ro d ucts .

S ecurit y  a nd  priv acy  b rea ch es  in  o ur electro nic t ra ns act io ns  ma y da mag e cus to mer rela tion s a nd  in hibit o ur
g ro wt h.

A ny  f ailur es  in  o ur  secu r ity an d  p riv acy measu res  cou ld  have a mater ial adv er se ef fect on  o u r bu s in es s,
f in an cial co n dition  an d r es ults  of  o p er atio n s.  W e electro nically  tr an sf er larg e s um s  o f mo n ey  an d stor e p er s on al
inf or matio n abo ut co ns um ers , in clu din g bank  acco u nt and  cr ed it card  in fo r mation , s ocial s ecu rity  nu mb er s , an d 
m er ch an t acco un t nu m bers .  If  w e are un ab le to  p r otect, or  co ns um er s  p er ceive th at w e are u n ab le to  p ro tect, th e
s ecur ity  and  pr iv acy  o f o ur  electr on ic tr an s actio ns , ou r  g ro w th  and  th e g ro wth o f th e electr on ic co mm er ce mar ket in 
g en er al co uld  b e mater ially  adv ers ely  aff ected .  A secu r ity o r pr iv acy  b r each  m ay:

� cau se o u r cu s to mers  to  lo se con f id en ce in  o u r ser vices;
� d eter  co ns um ers  f ro m  u sin g ou r s er vices ;
� h ar m ou r  r ep u tation ;
� exp os e u s to  liab ility ;
� increas e o ur  ex pens es fr o m po ten tial remediation  co sts; an d
� d ecreas e m ar k et acceptan ce of  electr o nic co m merce trans actio n s.

W hile w e b eliev e th at we utilize p ro v en  app lication s des ig ned  f or  p r em iu m  d ata s ecur ity  and  in tegr ity  to 
p ro cess  electro nic trans actio ns , ther e can b e no  as su ran ce th at o ur  us e o f th es e app licatio n s will be s u ff icien t to  ad dr ess 
chang in g  m ar k et con d itio n s or  th e secur ity and  p r iv acy con cer ns  o f existing  and  po ten tial s u bs cr ibers .

We rely  on  t h ird pa rties  to  d is t ribu t e ou r elect ron ic co mmerce an d inv es t ment  s erv ices prod u ct s, wh ich may  n o t
res ult in wid es prea d  a do p tion .

I n Electro nic Com mer ce, w e rely  on  o u r co ntr acts  with  f inancial s er v ices  or ganizatio n s, b us iness es, b illers ,
I nter net p or tals an d  o th er th ir d  p ar ties to  pr ov ide b ran ding  fo r ou r  electr on ic co mm erce ser vices  and  to  m ar k et o ur 
s er vices  to their  cu stom ers .  S imilar ly , in  In ves tm en t S er vices , we rely  up on  in vestm en t ad v is or s , br ok erage firm s,
b an ks  an d in s ur an ce co mp anies  to  m ar k et inv estmen t acco u nts to co ns u mers  an d th ereby  in cr eas e po r tf olio s  o n o ur 
A PL s ys tem .  Th es e con tr acts ar e an imp or tan t so u rce of  th e g ro wth in dem an d fo r  o ur  electr o nic com merce and 
inv es tm ent s erv ice p ro du cts .  I f  any  of  thes e th ird  p ar ties aband on s , cu r tails o r in s uf ficiently  in cr eas es  its mark eting 
eff or ts , it cou ld  h ave a material ad v er se ef fect on  o ur  bu sin es s, f inancial con d itio n  and  r esu lts  o f op eratio ns .

C on so lid at io n  in th e f in a ncia l s ervices  ind u st ry  ma y ad v ersely af fect ou r a bilit y to  sell o u r elect ro nic commerce
s ervices , in v es tmen t  s erv ices  a n d so f tw are.

Mer gers , acq u is itio n s an d  p er so n nel chang es  at k ey finan cial serv ices or g an ization s h av e th e p otential to
adv er sely af f ect ou r  b us iness , f in an cial co n ditio n an d r es ults of  o p er ation s.  This con so lid atio n  cou ld  caus e u s to  lo se:

� cur rent an d p oten tial cu s to mers ;
� b us in es s  o pp o rtun ities , if co mb ined f in an cial ser vices o rg an ization s  w er e to deter min e th at it is  m or e

eff icien t to  develo p  in-h ou se s erv ices similar  to  o ur s o r of f er  o ur  com petitor s’  pr od ucts or  serv ices; an d
� r ev en ue, if com bined  f in ancial s er vices  o rg anizatio ns  w ere ab le to n eg otiate a g reater vo lu m e dis co un t

f or , or  to  d iscon tin ue th e us e o f, o u r pr od u cts and  s er v ices .

O ne cus t omer acco un t s fo r a  s ig n if ica nt  p ercen ta g e of  o u r rev en ue.

W e have on e cus to mer , Ban k of  A m er ica, th at acco u nts fo r  1 7% of  o ur  to tal r ev en u e, w h ich ref lects  their  us e
o f pr od u cts in all thr ee of  o ur  bu sin es s seg ments .  The lo ss  or  r en ego tiation  o f  o ur  co ntract with Bank  of  A m er ica o r a
s ig nifican t d ecline in  th e nu mb er of  tr an saction s  w e pr o cess  fo r th em co u ld  h av e a m aterial ad ver se eff ect o n  o ur 
b us in es s , fin an cial co nd ition  an d res ults  o f  o per atio ns .



-16-

I f we d o  n ot  su cces s fu lly  ren ew  or renego tia te o u r ag reement s  w it h o ur cu st omers , ou r b us in ess  ma y su ff er.

O ur  agr eem en ts fo r electr on ic co mm er ce serv ices w ith fin an cial serv ices o rg an ization s  g en er ally p ro vide fo r
ter ms  o f  two  to  f iv e y ear s.  Sim ilar ly, o ur  ag reements w ith o ur  p or tfo lio  m an ag ement cu stom ers  ar e gener ally  lo ng 
ter m.  I f we ar e no t able to ren ew  o r  r en eg o tiate these ag reements o n fav or ab le term s  as th ey ex p ir e, it cou ld have a
m ater ial adv ers e ef f ect o n ou r b us in ess , fin an cial co nd ition  an d res ults  of  o per atio n s.

The p ro f itab ility  o f  o ur  So ftwar e Div is io n d ep en d s, to a s ub stan tial deg ree, u p on  o u r so ftw ar e cus to mer s
electin g  to ann ually  r en ew th eir  m ain tenance agr eem en ts .  If  a su bs tan tial nu mb er of  ou r so f tw ar e cus to m er s d eclined 
to renew  thes e ag reements , ou r r ev en u es  and  pr of its  in this b us in es s  s eg m en t wo u ld  b e m ater ially  ad vers ely  af fected .

O ur f ut u re p rof it ab ility  depend s  o n a  d ecrea se in  t he co st  o f  p ro ces sing  tran sa ction s .

If we are unable to continue to decrease the cost of processing transactions, our margins could decrease,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  Many
factors contribute to our ability to decrease the cost of processing transactions, including our Sigma Challenge
program, our customer care efficiency program, our processing technology optimization program, and our focus on
continually increasing the number of transactions we process electronically.   Our electronic rate, or percentage of
transactions processed electronically, was 64% at the end of the fiscal year 2001, more than 71% at the end of fiscal
year 2002 and 75% at the end of fiscal year 2003.  As a result of the combined effects of programs focused on
quality and process improvements, maximizing efficiency, and improving electronic processing rates, our total
Electronic Commerce cost per transaction processed decreased more than 20% as of June 30, 2003, as compared to
June 30, 2002.  Our future profitability will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to decrease this cost.

The t ra n sa ct ion s we process  exp o se u s  t o fra ud  a n d cred it ris ks .

A ny  los s es  r esu ltin g  f ro m  r etur n ed  tr an saction s, merchan t fr aud  o r err on eou s tr ans mis sion s cou ld  resu lt in 
liability to  financial s erv ices  or gan izatio n s, m erchants  o r s ub scrib er s, wh ich cou ld  have a mater ial ad v er se ef fect on  o u r
b us in es s , fin an cial co nd ition  an d res ults  o f  o per atio ns .  Th e electr on ic an d co n vention al p aper-b as ed  tr an saction s w e
p ro cess  ex po s e us  to  cred it r is k s.  These in clud e r is ks  ar is ing  f ro m  r etu rn ed  tr an saction s cau sed  b y:

� ins uf ficient fu nd s;
� u nautho r ized  us e;
� s to p pay ment or ders ;
� p ay ment disp u tes;
� clo sed accou n ts ;
� theft;
� f ro zen accou n ts ; an d 
� f raud .

W e ar e als o exp os ed  to  cr ed it r isk  f r om  m er chant fr au d and  er ro neou s  tran sm is sio ns .

We ma y exp erien ce b rea kd o wn s in  ou r p ro cess ing  s y st ems t ha t cou ld  d a ma ge cu st omer relat io ns  an d exp os e u s
t o liab ility .

W e depen d heavily  o n  the reliab ility  of  o ur  pr ocess in g s ys tem s in  b o th  th e Electro nic Com mer ce an d
I nv es tm ent S erv ices  Divis io ns .  A sy s tem ou tag e o r data lo ss  co uld h av e a m ater ial ad vers e eff ect o n ou r  b us iness ,
f in an cial co n dition  an d r es ults  of  o p er atio n s.  N ot o nly  w ou ld we s u ff er  damage to  o u r repu tatio n  in th e even t of  a
s ys tem o utag e o r data lo s s bu t w e may  als o b e liable to  th ir d  p ar ties.  Man y of  ou r con tr actual agr eemen ts  w ith 
f in an cial in s titu tio ns  r equ ir e the p aym en t o f pen alties  if  o u r sy stems  d o  n ot m eet certain o peratin g stand ar d s.  In 
add itio n , in  ou r Electro n ic Com m er ce Divisio n, w e g uaran tee the d elivery  of  p ay m en ts  an d an y  f ailur e on  ou r p ar t to 
p er fo rm  may r es ult in late paym ents o r penalties  to  thir d par ties  o n  b eh alf  o f o ur  s u bs cr ib ers .  In  o ur  In ves tm en t
S er vices  D iv ision , a f ailur e of  ou r s ys tem cou ld  resu lt in  in co rr ect o r m is timed  s to ck tr ad es th at may r es ult in th ird 
p ar ty  liab ility .  To  s ucces sf ully op erate o u r bu s in es s, we m u st b e able to pr otect o u r pr ocess in g  and  o ther s ys tems  fr om 
inter ru p tion  by  even ts  th at are beyo n d ou r con tr o l.  Fo r  exam ple, o u r sy s tem may  b e s ub ject to  lo ss  o f s er vice
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inter ru p tion s  cau sed  b y h os tile th ir d  p ar ties or  other ins tan ces of  delib er ate s ys tem  s ab otage.  Other events  that cou ld 
cau se s y stem  in terr u ptio n s in clu de:

� f ir e;
� n atur al disas ter;
� u nautho r ized  en tr y;
� p ow er  lo ss ;
� telecom m un ication s f ailu r e;
� com pu ter  v ir u ses; an d
� ter ro ris t acts.

Although we have taken steps to protect against data loss and system failures, there is still risk that we may
lose critical data or experience system failures.  Furthermore, our property and business interruption insurance may
not be adequate to compensate us for all losses or failures that may occur.

We ma y exp erien ce s o ft wa re defects  a n d develop men t dela y s, d a ma ging  cu st o mer relat io n s, d ecrea sin g ou r
p ot en tia l pro fita bilit y a nd  exp o sing  us  t o lia bilit y.

O ur  p ro d ucts  ar e bas ed  o n  s op his ticated  s of tware an d co m pu tin g sy stems  th at o ften en cou nter  develop ment
d elay s, an d the u nd erlyin g so ftw ar e m ay  con tain u nd etected  er ro rs  o r  d ef ects.  D ef ects in  o u r so f tw ar e p ro du cts  and 
err or s o r delay s in  ou r p ro cess ing  o f  electr on ic tr an saction s  cou ld  resu lt in :

� add itio n al d evelo pm ent co sts;
� d iv er sio n of  tech nical an d other  r es o ur ces f ro m o ur  o th er dev elop men t ef f or ts ;
� los s of  cr ed ibility  with  cu rr en t o r p oten tial cu s to mers ;
� h ar m to  ou r r ep utation ; o r
� exp os ur e to liability claim s.

I n ad ditio n, we r ely  o n techn olo gies  su pp lied to  us  b y third  parties  that m ay  also  co ntain u nd etected err or s  o r
d ef ects  th at co uld h av e a m ater ial ad vers e eff ect o n ou r  b us iness , f in an cial co n ditio n an d r es ults of  o p er ation s.
A ltho ug h  w e attem pt to  limit ou r  p otential liability fo r  w ar r an ty  claims  th ro ug h  d is claim er s  in o ur  s of tware
d ocum en tatio n  and  limitatio n-o f-liability pr o vision s  in o ur  licens e and  cus tom er  ag reem ents, we can n ot as su re y o u th at
these m eas ur es will be s u cces sf u l in  limitin g ou r  liability.

We ex perience s ea so n al f luctu at ion s in ou r n et  s a les ca u sing  ou r op era tin g resu lts  t o  f lu ct u at e.

W e have histo rically  exp erien ced  s eas on al f luctu ation s in ou r  electr on ic co mm er ce an d  s of tw are s ales, an d we
exp ect to ex p er ience s im ilar flu ctuatio ns  in  the fu tu re, w hich co uld  cau s e ou r s to ck  pr ice to decreas e u nexp ected ly .
O ur  g ro w th  in  electr on ic co mm er ce tr ans actio ns  is  aff ected  b y  s easo n al f actor s, su ch  as  h oliday- b as ed  r eso lu tio ns 
con su mer s mak e to  m anage finances better, an d th e f act that m os t fin an cial in stitu tio ns  trad itio n ally  co nd uct their 
lar gest co ns u mer mar ketin g camp aig ns  in  the fall mo nths .  Th ese s eas on al factor s  m ay  im pact ou r o peratin g res ults  b y 
con centr atin g  con su m er  acqu is ition  an d set- u p co s ts , wh ich  m ay no t b e im m ed iately of f set by  reven ue incr eases 
p rimarily du e to in tro du cto ry  s erv ice p rice disco un ts .  Ad ditio nally , on lin e in ter activ e ser vice co ns um ers  g enerally  ten d 
to be less  active u s er s d ur in g the s u mm er  m o nths , r es ultin g in lo wer  r ev enu e du r in g this per io d.  O ur  s o ftwar e sales 
h av e his to rically  b een  af fected  by  calend ar  year  en d, b u ying  patter n s of  financial s erv ices  or gan izatio n s an d  o ur  s ales
com pens ation  s tr uctu r e wh ich  m eas ur es  sales p er fo r mance at ou r  J un e 3 0 fis cal year en d .

I f we d o  n ot  resp on d  t o rap id  t ech no log ical ch an g e or ch an ges  in in d us try  s ta nd a rd s, ou r services  cou ld  beco me
o bs olet e a nd  we cou ld lo s e ou r cus to mers.

I f co mp etito r s in tr o du ce new pr o du cts  and  s erv ices em bo d ying  new techn olo gies , o r if  new in d us tr y  s tand ard s
and  p ractices  emerg e, ou r  existing  p r od uct and  s erv ice o ff er ing s, p r op rietary  tech no log y an d  s ys tem s may  b eco me
o bs olete.  F u rther, if  w e f ail to ad o pt o r d ev elo p new techn o lo gies  or  to  adapt ou r p ro du cts  and  serv ices to  em er gin g
ind us tr y  s tan dard s, we m ay lo se cu rr ent and  fu tu r e cu sto mers , w hich  co uld  h av e a m aterial ad vers e eff ect o n o ur 
b us in es s , fin an cial co nd ition  an d res ults  o f  o per atio ns .  Th e electr on ic co mm er ce in d us tr y is ch ang in g r ap id ly.  To 
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r em ain com petitiv e, we m u st con tin ue to  enh ance and  imp r ov e the f un ction ality  an d featu res o f ou r  p ro du cts , s er vices 
and  tech no lo g ies.

We ma y b e un a ble to  prot ect  o ur in tellect ua l p ro p erty  a n d techn olog y , permitt in g  comp et it ors  t o d up lica t e ou r
p ro du ct s  a nd  serv ices.

O ur  s ucces s and  ability to co mp ete d epend s, in  p art, up o n ou r  p ro pr ietar y  techn o lo gy , w hich  in clu des sev er al
p aten ts  fo r o ur  electr on ic billing  an d paym ent p r oces sin g sy s tem, o u r so u rce co d e in f or matio n fo r  o ur  s o ftwar e
p ro du cts , an d  o ur  o p er ating  tech no lo g y.  We rely  pr im ar ily  o n  p aten t, co p yr ig ht, trad e secr et an d  tradem ar k law s to 
p ro tect ou r techn olo gy .  We als o  enter in to  co nf identiality and  ass ign men t ag reements  w ith o ur  em ploy ees , co n su ltan ts
and  v en d or s and  g en erally  con tr o l acces s to  an d d is tr ib u tion  of  o ur  so ftw ar e do cum en tatio n and  o ther in tellectu al
p ro perty .  W e can no t ass u re y ou  th at th es e m easu r es  w ill p ro v id e th e p ro tection  th at we n eed .

Becau se ou r m ean s of  p r otectin g ou r  intellectu al pr o perty r ig hts  m ay  n o t be ad eq uate, it m ay  b e p os s ib le f o r a
third  p arty to co py , r ev ers e en g in eer  o r oth er wis e ob tain an d  u se o u r techn olog y  w ith ou t au tho rizatio n.  I n add itio n , th e
law s of  so me co un tr ies  in  w hich  we s ell o ur  pr od u cts do  no t p ro tect so ftw ar e an d  intellectu al pr o perty r ig hts  to th e
s am e ex ten t as th e law s o f th e U nited  S tates .  U n au th or ized cop ying , u se or  r ev ers e eng in eer in g o f ou r p ro du cts  cou ld
h av e a m ater ial adv ers e eff ect o n ou r  b us in ess , f in an cial co n dition  an d r es ults  of  o p er atio n s.

A  third  party  cou ld  also  claim that o ur  tech no lo g y in fr ing es  its pr o pr ietar y rig hts.  A s th e n um b er  o f s of tw are
p ro du cts  in o ur  tar g et m ark ets increases an d  the fu nctio nality of  th es e p ro du cts  o ver lap, w e b eliev e th at so f tw ar e
d ev elop ers  m ay in cr eas in g ly  f ace inf r in gemen t claim s.  These claims , even  if witho ut merit, can b e time- co ns u ming 
and  exp ens iv e to def en d.  A  thir d par ty  ass ertin g  inf rin gemen t claim s ag ain st u s  in the f utu re m ay requ ire u s  to en ter 
into co s tly r oy alty  ar ran gements  o r litig ation .

O ur b us iness  co uld b ecome s ub ject to  in crea s ed  g o vern men t reg ulat io n , wh ich  cou ld ma k e ou r b us in ess  more
exp en siv e to  op erat e.

A ltho ug h  o ur  bu sines s is  cu rr en tly  s u bject to nu m er ou s r ules  an d reg ulation s of  go ver nm en tal en tities, it is
p os sible that this r eg ulation  m ay in creas e o r ch ang e in  th e f utur e and  s u ch  incr ease or  chan ge m igh t mak e ou r  b us in ess 
m or e ex p en siv e to  o p er ate and  o u r pr o du cts les s d es ir ab le to  us e.  I n par ticu lar , du e to in creas ed fo cu s  b y the
g ov er nm ent o n  ter ro r is t activ ities , w e may s ee ad dition al reg ulatio n  tar g eted  at m on ey laun d er in g  o r mak in g p ay ments 
to certain  p r oh ib ited in d iv id uals.  I n recen t years , var io us  go vern m en tal entities  h ave b eco me ev en  m or e interested  in 
f ur th er  regu latin g the u s e an d s harin g of  d ata an d pr otectio n  o f th e p riv acy of  th is  data.  It is  als o p os sib le that n ew  laws 
and  r eg u latio ns  m ay  be en acted w ith r es pect to  th e In ter net, in clud ing  taxation  of  electr on ic co m merce activ ities .
Becau se electro nic com mer ce in g en er al, and  mo st of  o ur  pr od u cts an d  s er v ices  in  p ar ticular , are so  n ew , the ef fect of 
an in cr eas e in regu latio n  o r am end men t to  ex is tin g regu latio n  is un cer tain an d d if ficult to  pr ed ict.  A n y su ch ch an g es ,
h ow ev er , cou ld lead  to  in cr eased  o per atin g cos ts  an d red uce the con v en ien ce and  fu nctio nality of  ou r pr o du cts  o r
s er vices , po s sibly r es ultin g in  redu ced  m ar k et acceptan ce.  I t is  also  p o ss ib le th at new law s an d  r eg ulation s  inv olv in g
the I ntern et migh t d ecrease the gr ow th of  co ns um ers  u sin g th e I nter n et, w hich  co uld in tu rn  decr eas e th e d em and  f or 
o ur  p ro d ucts  or  s er v ices , increase o u r co st of  d o in g bu s in es s  o r co u ld  o therw is e h av e a m aterial ad vers e eff ect o n o ur 
b us in es s , fin an cial co nd ition  an d res ults  o f  o per atio ns .

The F ed eral Res er ve ru les  p ro vid e th at we can  o nly acces s  the F ederal Res er v e’ s A utom ated Clear in g H ou se
thr ou gh  a ban k.  If  th e F ed er al Reser ve r ules wer e to  ch an ge to  f ur ther r es tr ict o ur  access  to  th e Au to m ated  Clearin g
H ou se o r  lim it ou r ability to  p r ov id e autom ated clear in g  h ou s e tr an s actio n pr ocess in g  s er vices , it co uld  h av e a m aterial
adv er se ef fect on  o u r bu s in es s, finan cial co nd ition  and  resu lts  o f o peratio ns .

A  con tin ued w ea k eco no my  co uld h av e a  mat erially  ad vers e imp a ct  o n o ur b u siness .

A  con tin ued w eak Un ited S tates eco no m y co uld  h av e a m aterial ad vers e imp act o n o ur  b u siness .  In  a weak 
eco no my , com p an ies m ay  p o stpo ne or  cancel n ew so f tw ar e p ur ch ases or  limit the am ou nt of  m on ey th ey sp en d  o n
techn olo gy  an d mark eting .  In  th e In v es tm en t S er v ices  D ivisio n, g ro w th  d epend s u po n ind iv id u als and  com p an ies 
con tinu ing  to  inv es t in the U nited  S tates  eq uity  mark ets .  To  the ex tent th e Un ited S tates s to ck  mark ets  s ee a decr eas e
in in ves tm en t, we m ay see a d ecr ease in  p or tfo lio  accou n ts .
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O ur q ua rterly  o pera t in g res ults  fluct ua te a n d ma y  n ot  a ccu ra t ely predict  ou r fu t ure p erfo rma nce.

Our quarterly results of operations have varied significantly and probably will continue to do so in the
future as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside our control.  These factors include:

� changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;
� loss of customers due to competitors or in-house solutions;
� relative rates of acquisition of new customers;
� seasonal patterns;
� delays in the introduction of new or enhanced services, software and related products by us or our

competitors or market acceptance of these products and services; and
� other changes in operating expenses, personnel and general economic conditions.

As a result, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are not necessarily
meaningful, and you should not rely on them as an indication of our future performance.  In addition, our operating
results in a future quarter or quarters may fall below expectations of securities analysts or investors and, as a result,
the price of our common stock may fluctuate.

The marketing agreement with First Data and the commercial alliance agreement with Microsoft may limit
the flexibility of management.

The marketing agreement we executed with First Data requires us to purchase payment processing and
other products from First Data under specified circumstances, even if our management has other reasons for
choosing a different supplier.  In addition, the commercial alliance agreement with Microsoft requires us to develop
our products that are used with products made by Microsoft in ways that conform to specified standards.
Accordingly, as a result of these arrangements with Microsoft and First Data, both of which were entered into as part
of our acquisition of MSFDC, L.L.C. (TransPoint), our management’s flexibility to make business decisions may be
limited in various respects.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

O ur common  s t ock ha s  b een  v olat ile s ince December 3 1, 2 0 00 .

S in ce D ecemb er 31 , 2 00 0, ou r sto ck  p r ice has  b een  v olatile, trading  at a high  o f  $ 58 .25  p er  sh ar e and  a lo w o f
$ 7.45  p er sh are.  Th e vo latility  in o ur  s to ck pr ice h as  been  caus ed  by :

� actual o r an ticip ated flu ctuatio ns  in  o ur  o p er ating  r es u lts;
� actual o r an ticip ated flu ctuatio ns  in  o ur  s u bs cr iber gr o wth;
� ann ou ncements  b y us , o ur  co mp etito rs  or  o ur  cu sto mers ;
� ann ou ncements  o f th e intr od uctio n of  new or  en han ced pr o du cts  and  s erv ices by  u s  o r o ur  com p etito rs ;
� ann ou ncements  o f jo int d evelo pm ent ef fo rts o r co r po rate partn er sh ip s  in the electr on ic co mm erce m ar ket;
� m ar ket con ditio ns  in  the bank in g , telecom mu n ication s, tech no log y an d  o th er em er g in g g ro wth s ecto r s;
� r um or s r elating  to o ur  co mp etito rs  o r  u s; an d
� g en er al mark et or  econ om ic co nd ition s .

A va ilab ility  of  s ig n if ica nt  a mo u nt s o f ou r commo n  s to ck  fo r s ale in  th e f ut ure cou ld  ad vers ely  a f fect  o u r st o ck 
p rice.

The availability fo r  f utu re s ale o f a s ub stantial n um ber  o f s hares o f ou r  com mo n  s to ck in  th e pu b lic mar ket, or 
iss uance o f com mo n s to ck  up on  th e ex ercis e o f sto ck  o ption s, warr an ts or  co nv er s io n o f th e n otes  or  o th erw is e cou ld 
adv er sely af f ect th e m ar k et p rice fo r  o ur  co mm on  stock.  A s o f Septemb er  8, 2 00 3 , we had ou tstan d in g 89 ,54 0,3 90 
s hares o f ou r  com mo n  s to ck, o f w hich  83 ,2 23 ,03 6 s hares o f ou r  iss ued  and  ou ts tan ding  co mm on  stock  w er e h eld b y
n on -aff iliates.  Th e h old er s of  th e r em ainin g 6,3 17 ,3 54  sh ar es were en titled to  resell th em  on ly  by  a r egistr atio n
s tatemen t un d er  the Secu r ities A ct o f  1 93 3 o r an  ap plicable exemp tio n fr o m regis tr ation .  A s  o f S ep temb er 8, 20 03 , w e
h ad  an add ition al 2 7 ,2 75 ,91 0 sh ares o f ou r com mo n  s to ck  av ailab le f o r fu tur e sale, in clud in g :
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� u p to  1 0 ,3 13 ,36 7 sh ares availab le fo r  iss uan ce u n der ou r  s to ck op tio n an d  s to ck  in cen tive p lan s, un der
w hich  th er e are o uts tand ing  o ption s to pu rch as e 5 ,7 80 ,5 2 4 sh ares of  ou r com mo n s to ck , o f wh ich  o p tion s
f or  3 ,0 3 8,05 2  s hares  w er e f ully  vested an d exercisable at an  av er ag e w eig hted  ex er cis e pr ice o f
app ro xim ately  $ 28 .8 4  p er  sh ar e;

� iss ued w ar ran ts  to p ur ch ase 1 2,5 00 ,0 0 0 sh ar es of  ou r co m mo n s to ck , o f wh ich  w ar r an ts  fo r 2,5 00 ,0 0 0
s hares w er e f ully  v ested  an d ex ercis able at a weigh ted exercise p rice of  ap pr ox imately $2 8.2 6 per  s hare;

� u p to  1 ,03 2,0 33  s har es  av ailable f or  is su an ce un d er  o ur  As so ciate S tock P ur ch as e P lan ;
� u p to  1 ,07 3,9 53  s har es  av ailable f or  is su an ce un d er  o ur  40 1( k ) Plan ; and 
� u p to  2 ,35 6,5 57  s har es  o f  o ur  co mm on  stock iss uable u po n  con ver sion  of  o ur  co nv ertib le no tes .

A s of  S eptem b er  8 , 2 00 3, th e fo llo win g en tities h old sh ares o r warr ants to pu rch as e s hares o f ou r  com mo n 
s to ck  in  the fo llow ing  am ou nts:

� Micro so f t Co r po ratio n, w h ich ho lds  8 ,56 7,25 0  s har es ;
� The f or m er  m emb er s o f I nteg rio n Fin an cial Netw o rk , L.L.C. collectively  ho ld  w arr an ts to  p u rchas e up  to 

1 ,5 00 ,0 0 0 sh ares wh ich  ar e fu lly  v es ted  and  ex er cis ab le;
� Ban k On e, wh ich  h old s war rants to pu r ch as e 1 ,0 00 ,00 0 sh ares, wh ich are f u lly ves ted and  exer cisab le;

and 
� Ban k of  Am er ica, wh ich  h o ld s 6,2 71 ,1 8 4 sh ar es of  reco rd  an d w ar rants  to p ur ch as e u p to 10 ,0 0 0,00 0 

s hares, wh ich  w ar ran ts  ar e no t cur ren tly ves ted.

Each of  Bank  On e, Bank  o f  A merica an d  the f o rm er  mem bers  o f  I nteg rio n may  b e en titled  to reg is tr ation 
r ig hts.  I f the f or m er  m emb er s o f I nteg rio n, Bank  O ne or  Bank  o f A merica, b y exercising  th eir r eg is tr ation  righ ts , cau s e
a lar ge nu mb er of  s h ar es  to  b e r eg is ter ed  an d so ld in  th e pu b lic mar ket, th es e s ales  may hav e an  ad vers e eff ect o n the
m ar ket p rice of  o ur  co mm o n stock .

I n co nn ectio n  w ith the Trans Po int acqu is ition , w e filed a shelf registration statement on behalf of Microsoft,
First Data and Citibank that allows continuous resales of the shares that each received as a result of the TransPoint
acquisition.  Citibank was not restricted in its ability to transfer its shares of our common stock, and we believe it
has sold all of the shares that it acquired as a result of this acquisition.   Microsoft and First Data were limited in
their ability to transfer their shares of our common stock through September 1, 2002, pursuant to stockholder
agreements with us.  Since September 1, 2002, First Data has sold a significant number of its shares and no longer
holds in excess of 5% of our common stock.  Microsoft continues to hold its shares of our common stock but as of
September 1, 2003, could sell up to the greater of 1% of our average weekly trading volume or 1% of our
outstanding common stock in reliance on registration exemptions.  In addition, Microsoft and First Data are
permitted to a limited extent to engage in hedging transactions with respect to our common stock.

As of September 28, 2001, Bank of America could sell up to the greater of 1% of our average weekly
trading volume or 1% of our outstanding common stock in reliance on registration exemptions.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock by any of the parties described above, or the perception
that these sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock.

A nt i-t ak eo ver p ro v is io ns  in  o u r orga n izat ion al d o cu men ts  a nd  Dela w are la w  mak e a ny  ch an ge in  con t ro l more
d if ficu lt.

O ur  cer tif icate o f incor p or atio n  and  by -law s co n tain  pr ov is ion s that may  h av e the ef fect of  d elaying  or 
p reventing  a ch an ge in  co ntro l, may d is co ur age b ids  at a p rem iu m ov er th e m ar ket p rice of  o u r co m mo n sto ck  an d may
adv er sely af f ect th e m ar k et p rice of  ou r co m mo n s to ck  an d th e v otin g  and  other r ig hts  o f th e h old er s of  ou r com mo n
s to ck .  Th es e p ro vis io ns  in clud e:
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� d iv is io n  o f o ur  b oar d of  directo rs  in to  thr ee class es  s erv in g  s tagg ered thr ee-y ear ter ms ;
� r em ov al of  o u r directo rs  by  the stock ho ld er s  o nly  f or  caus e u po n 80 % s to ckh older  app r ov al;
� p ro hibitin g o ur  s to ckh old er s fr o m calling  a sp ecial m eetin g o f stock ho ld ers ;
� ability  to  is su e ad d itio n al s har es  o f  o ur  co mm on  stock o r pr eferr ed  stock  w itho u t sto ck ho ld er ap p ro val;
� p ro hibitin g o ur  s to ckh old er s fr o m un ilaterally  am en ding  ou r cer tificate o f in co r po ratio n or  by -law s ex cep t

w ith 80 % s to ckh older  app r ov al; and 
� adv an ce no tice requ iremen ts  f or  rais ing  b us iness  or  m ak ing  n o minatio ns  at s to ck h older s’  m eetin gs .

W e also  have a stock ho ld er righ ts plan th at allo w s us  to  iss u e pr ef err ed  stock w ith r ig hts s en io r  to th o se o f  o ur 
com mo n s to ck  with ou t any  fu rther  v ote o r actio n b y ou r s to ck h olders . The is su an ce of  ou r pr eferr ed stock  u nd er th e
s to ck ho lder r ig hts p lan cou ld  d ecr eas e th e amo un t o f ear ning s  and  as sets  av ailab le f o r distr ib ution  to the h o ld er s o f ou r 
com mo n s to ck  or  cou ld ad v er sely  af fect th e r ig hts  and  p o wers , inclu d in g v otin g r ig hts , of  th e ho lders  o f  o ur  co mm on 
s to ck . I n so m e circu ms tan ces, th e is s uance o f pr eferr ed  stock  cou ld  have th e ef f ect o f decr eas in g  the m ark et pr ice o f
o ur  com m on  s tock.

W e also  ar e s ub ject to  p r ov is io n s o f th e D elaw are cor p or ation  law  th at, in gen er al, p ro hib it an y bu sin es s
com binatio n w ith a b en ef icial o w ner o f 15 % o r mo r e of  o u r co m mo n sto ck  f o r five year s  u nles s  the ho ld er ’ s acq uisitio n
o f ou r s to ck  was ap p ro ved  in ad v an ce by  o ur  bo ar d  o f dir ecto r s.

In addition, both the commercial alliance agreement with Microsoft and the marketing agreement with First
Data, each of which we executed in connection with the closing of the TransPoint acquisition, allow the termination
of the agreement by Microsoft or First Data, as the case may be, under specific change of control circumstances.  If
either Microsoft or First Data terminates under these circumstances, we will lose a portion of the future revenue
guarantees under the applicable agreement.  This potential termination event could discourage third parties from
acquiring us.

We are subject to significant influence by some stockholders that may have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change in control.

At September 8, 2003, our directors, executive officers, Bank of America and Microsoft collectively owned
approximately 24% of the outstanding shares of our common stock.  As a result, these stockholders are able to
exercise significant influence over matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and
approval of significant corporate transactions.  This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change in control.

Available Information

We make available free of charge on our Internet website, www.checkfreecorp.com, our annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable, amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as
soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission.
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Item 2.  Properties.

We lease the following office facilities:

� approximately 229,000 square feet in Norcross, Georgia;
� approximately 150,000 square feet in Dublin, Ohio;
� approximately 100,000 square feet in Phoenix, Arizona;
� approximately 78,000 square feet in Aurora, Illinois;
� approximately 35,000  square feet Raleigh, North Carolina;
� approximately 33,000 square feet in Jersey City, New Jersey
� approximately 29,000 square feet in Waterloo, Ontario, Canada;
� approximately 26,000 square feet in Owings Mills, Maryland;
� approximately 22,000 square feet in Worthington, Ohio;
� approximately 21,000 square feet in Newark, New Jersey;
� approximately 15,000 square feet in Chicago, Illinois;
� approximately 5,000 square feet in San Diego, California;
� approximately 2,000 square feet in Slough, Berkshire, United Kingdom;
� approximately 2,000 square feet in Boston, Massachusetts; and
� approximately 2,000 square feet in Henderson, Nevada.

We own a 51,000 square foot conference center in Norcross, Georgia that includes lodging, training, and
fitness facilities for our customers and employees.  Although we own the building, it is on land that is leased through
June 30, 2015.  We believe that our facilities are adequate for current and near-term growth and that additional space
is available to provide for anticipated growth.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings.

There are no material legal proceedings pending against us.

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.
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Part II

Item 5.  Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.

O ur  com m on  s tock is  tr ad ed on  th e N as daq N atio n al Mar k et u n der th e s ym b ol “CK F R.”  Th e fo llo win g table
s ets fo r th  th e high  an d low  s ales pr ices of  ou r com mo n s to ck  fo r th e p er iod s in d icated as  r epo rted by  th e N as daq
N atio nal Mar k et.

C ommo n S to ck 
Price

Fis ca l Perio d  H ig h Low 

Fis ca l 2 00 2
F ir st Q u ar ter ....................................................................................................................................... $  3 5.40 $  1 4.55 
S econ d Q uarter ................................................................................................................................. $  2 2.69 $  1 2.20 
Third  Q u ar ter ..................................................................................................................................... $  2 0.20 $  1 0.93 
F ou rth Q uarter................................................................................................................................... $  2 5.40 $  1 3.28 

Fis ca l 2 00 3
F ir st Q u ar ter ....................................................................................................................................... $  1 5.83 $    7 .4 5 
S econ d Q uarter ................................................................................................................................. $  2 0.35 $    8 .9 6 
Third  Q u ar ter ..................................................................................................................................... $  2 3.65 $  1 6.12 
F ou rth Q uarter................................................................................................................................... $  3 0.13 $  2 0.60 

Fis ca l 2 00 4
F ir st Q u ar ter  ( th ro u gh  S eptem ber  8 , 2 00 3) .................................................................................. $  3 0.10 $  1 9.75 

O n Septemb er  8, 2 00 3 , th e las t r ep or ted  b id  pr ice f or  o u r co m mo n sto ck  o n  the N as daq N atio n al Mar k et w as
$ 23 .7 5 p er  s h ar e.  A s of  Septem b er  8 , 2 00 3, th er e w er e app ro x im ately  9 25  ho ld er s  o f r ecor d o f ou r  com mo n  s to ck.

W e cu rr ently  an ticip ate that all o f o ur  f utu re earn in gs  will be r etain ed  fo r th e d ev elo pm en t o f o ur  b us iness  an d
d o no t anticipate p aying  cash  d ividen ds  o n o ur  co mm on  s tock f or  the fo res eeab le fu tu r e.  Ou r  b oar d of  d irecto rs  w ill
d eter min e fu tur e div id en d  p olicy  b as ed on  o u r res ults  o f  o per atio ns , f in ancial con ditio n, capital r eq uir em en ts an d o th er 
cir cu ms tan ces .  D ur ing  th e last ten y ears , w e hav e no t p aid cas h div id en d s.
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data.

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7. Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

(In thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations:
Revenues:
  Processing and servicing .................................... $ 476,416 $ 422,237 $ 362,051 $ 261,621 $ 201,059
  License fees......................................................... 24,163 25,020 30,180 16,818 15,975
  Maintenance fees ................................................ 25,733 24,298 21,332 18,752 17,746
  Other.................................................................... 25,334 18,922 19,757 13,004 15,351
            Total revenues........................................... 551,646 490,477 433,320 310,195 250,131

Expenses:
  Cost of processing, servicing and support ......... 237,978 262,105 255,528 182,540 146,704
  Research and development................................. 52,717 55,172 55,621 35,631 21,085
  Sales and marketing............................................ 57,170 58,030 90,283 44,782 32,354
  General and administrative................................. 39,030 43,687 50,474 40,931 31,466
  Depreciation and amortization ........................... 226,638 435,565 427,495 42,830 24,630
  In-process research and development ................ - - 18,600 6,900 2,201
  Impairment of intangible assets.......................... 10,228 155,072 - - -
  Reorganization charge ........................................ 1,405 16,365 - - -
            Total expenses .......................................... 625,166 1,025,996 898,001 353,614 258,440
  Net gain on dispositions of assets ...................... - - - - 4,576
  Loss from operations .......................................... (73,520) (535,519) (464,681) (43,419) (3,733)
  Interest:
    Income............................................................... 7,327 8,486 15,415 7,689 2,799
    Expense ............................................................. (12,975) (12,788) (13,154) (8,027) (618)
  Loss on investments............................................ (3,228) - (16,077) - -
  Loss before income taxes and cumulative
   effect of accounting change............................... (82,396) (539,821) (478,497) (43,757) (1,552)
  Income tax benefit .............................................. (33,106) (98,871) (115,362) (11,437) (12,009)
  Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

accounting change.............................................. (49,290) (440,950) (363,135) (32,320) 10,457
  Cumulative effect of accounting change............ (2,894) - - - -
  Net income (loss) ................................................ $ (52,184) $ (440,950) $ (363,135) $ (32,320) $ 10,457

Diluted net income (loss) per common share ...... $        (0.59) $        (5.04) $        (4.49) $        (0.61) $ 0.18
Equivalent number of shares outstanding............ 88,807 87,452 80,863 53,367 56,529

Balance Sheet Data:
  Working capital................................................... $ 304,286 $ 201,741 $ 142,661 $ 178,761 $ 24,245
  Total assets.......................................................... 1,587,270 1,637,477 2,183,953 713,114 252,761
  Long-term obligations, less current portion....... 176,692 176,377 176,541 173,236 3,882
  Total stockholders’ equity .................................. 1,268,149 1,305,661 1,732,186 445,894 186,903
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview

CheckFree was founded in 1981 as an electronic payment processing company and has become a leading
provider of financial electronic commerce products and services.  Our current business was developed through the
expansion of our core electronic payments business and the acquisition of companies operating in similar or
complementary businesses.

We operate our business through three independent but inter-related divisions:

� Electronic Commerce;
� Investment Services; and
� Software.

Thr ou gh  ou r Electro n ic Co mm er ce Divis io n, w e enab le con s um er s  to receive an d pay  b ills electro nically .  Fo r
the y ear  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3, w e p ro ces sed app ro x im ately  4 34  millio n  electr on ic paym ent tran saction s an d  d elivered
app ro xim ately  3 2 million  electr o nic b ills .  Fo r the q uar ter end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 , w e p ro cess ed nearly 12 0  m illio n
trans actio ns  an d deliv er ed ap pr o ximately 11 .5 million  electr o nic bills .  Du ring  th e q uarter  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 , ov er
ten  m illio n con su mer s in itiated  a pay ment th ro ug h  Check F ree m an ag ed  serv ices.  The n u mb er  o f  tran sactio n s we
p ro cess  each  year  co ntin u es  to g ro w.  F or  th e year en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 , g ro wth in th e n um ber  o f trans actio ns  pr oces s ed 
exceeded  3 7%.  Th e Electr on ic Co mm er ce Divis io n accou nted fo r  app ro x im ately  7 3% of  o u r an nu al rev en ue.

Our Electronic Commerce Division’s products allow consumers to:

� receive electronic bills through the Internet;
� pay any bill — whether it arrives over the Internet or through traditional mail — to anyone;
� make payments not related to bills — to anyone; and
� perform customary banking transactions, including balance inquiries, transfers between accounts and

online statement reconciliations.

Through our Investment Services Division, we provide a range of portfolio management services to
financial institutions, including broker dealers, money managers and investment advisors.  As of June 30, 2003, our
clients used the CheckFree APL portfolio accounting system to manage over 1.2 million portfolios, totaling more
than $700 billion in assets.  The Investment Services Division accounts for approximately 15% of our annual
revenue.

Our institutional client base includes investment advisors, brokerage firms, banks and insurance companies.
Our fee-based money manager clients are typically sponsors or managers of “wrap” or separately managed accounts,
money management products, or traditional money managers, managing investments of institutions and high net
worth individuals.  We also support a growing number of third party vendors providing quick-to-market turnkey
solutions.

Our portfolio management products and services are marketed under the product names CheckFree A PL
and  CheckF ree A PL W r ap , and  p ro v id e the f ollow in g  f un ction s:

� account open and trading capabilities;
� graphical client reporting;
� performance measurement;
� decision support tools;
� account analytics;
� tax lot accounting;
� multiple strategy portfolios;
� straight through processing;
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� Depository Trust Corporation interfacing;
� billing functions; and
� system and data security.

In addition to our APL portfolio management products, our Investment Services Division also offers
proposal generation, investment performance, and reporting products and services.  Marketed under M-Pact, M-
Search and M-Watch, these products are a result of the acquisition of Mobius Group, Inc. in March 1999.

Through our Software Division, we deliver software, maintenance, support and professional services to
large financial service providers and other companies across a range of industries.  Our Software Division is
comprised of three units, each with its own distinct set of software products.  The ACH Solutions unit provides
software and services that are used to process more than two-thirds of the nation’s nine billion ACH payments.  The
CFACS unit enables organizations to manage their reconciliation and compliance requirements.  The i-Solutions
unit provides software and services that enable end-to-end e-billing and e-statement creation, delivery and payment.
The Software division accounted for approximately 12% of our fiscal 2003 revenue.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth as percentages of total operating revenues, certain consolidated statements of
operations data:

Year ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

Total revenues..................................................................................................   100.0%  100.0%  100.0%
Expenses:
    Cost of processing, servicing and support ..................................................     43.1    53.4    59.0
    Research and development..........................................................................       9.6    11.3    12.8
    Sales and marketing.....................................................................................     10.4    11.8    20.8
    General and administrative..........................................................................       7.1      8.9    11.7
    Depreciation and amortization ....................................................................     41.1    88.8    98.7
    In-process research and development .........................................................  -         -      4.3
    Impairment of intangible assets ..................................................................       1.8    31.6         -
    Reorganization charge.................................................................................       0.2      3.3         -
        Total expenses .........................................................................................   113.3  209.2  207.2
Loss from operations .......................................................................................    (13.3) (109.2) (107.2)
Interest:
    Interest income.............................................................................................       1.3      1.7      3.6
    Interest expense ...........................................................................................      (2.3)     (2.6)     (3.1)
Loss on investments.........................................................................................      (0.6)         -     (3.7)
Loss before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change........    (14.9) (110.1) (110.4)
Income tax benefit ...........................................................................................      (6.0)   (20.2)   (26.6)
Loss before cumulative effect of accounting change .....................................      (8.9)   (89.9)   (83.8)
Cumulative effect of accounting change ........................................................      (0.5)           -             -
Net loss.............................................................................................................

(9.4)% (89.9)% (83.8)%

Years Ended June 30, 2003 and 2002

 Revenue.  Total revenue increased by 12%, from $490.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to
$551.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Total company revenue growth was driven by 15% growth in our
Electronic Commerce business, 10% growth in our Software business and 2% growth in our Investment Services
business.
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Growth in our Electronic Commerce business is driven primarily by growth in total transactions processed
from approximately 316 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to over 434 million for the year ended June 30,
2003.  Please refer to the Segment Information section of this report, Electronic Commerce Division, for an
analysis of changes in the mix of business inherent in our transaction growth.  Additionally, revenue related to
minimum guarantees from Microsoft and First Data Corporation have increased in total by $9.0 million on a year
over year basis.  Growth in Electronic Commerce revenue has been dampened somewhat by a decrease in interest
rates, which has negatively impacted our interest-sensitive offerings, such as our account balance transfer product,
by certain of our larger customers transferring payment volume to in-house solutions during the most recent fiscal
year, and by a large customer reaching pricing tier discounts during the year due to significant volume growth.

Our Software business has continued to grow in spite of customers taking longer than normal to evaluate
discretionary investment-spending alternatives, such as third party software product offerings.  We experienced
relatively strong software license sales in our seasonally high June and December quarters and we were engaged in a
significant software services agreement during the year, which combined to provide a near term boost to Software
revenue; however, until the economy rebounds, we expect to experience modest growth in our Software business.

Growth in our Investment Services business has been dampened by poor stock market conditions.
Portfolios managed have remained relatively flat over the past year or so, as investors reducing stock holdings have
offset new portfolio growth.  Pricing in Investment Services is primarily based on portfolios managed, and as a
result, we have experienced less than historical revenue growth in this business.  We expect this trend to continue
until stock market performance improves.

Across all segments of our business, for the year ended June 30, 2003, Bank of America generated total
revenue of $94.3 million, which exceeds 10% of our total revenue, and remains the only customer that exceeds 10%
of our total revenue.   The agreement with Bank of America has a ten-year term, includes annual minimum
guarantees of $50 million and includes tiered pricing which is competitive with pricing we offer our other
customers, based on volumes of activity provided by Bank of America.

  Our processing and servicing revenue increased by $54.2 million, or 13%, from $422.2 million for the
year ended June 30, 2002, to $476.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Processing and servicing revenue
occurs in both our Electronic Commerce and Investment Services businesses.  As previously mentioned, portfolios
managed have remained fairly flat year over year, and as a result, we have seen only modest growth in processing
and servicing revenue from our Investment Services business.  Growth in processing and servicing revenue has
therefore come primarily from growth in transactions processed within our Electronic Commerce business.
Additionally, we delivered almost 32 million electronic bills in the year ended June 30, 2003, as compared to
approximately 11 million bills in the previous year.  In conjunction with our acquisition of TransPoint in September
2000, we entered into agreements with Microsoft and First Data Corporation, both of which include monthly
minimum revenue guarantees that increase annually over the five-year term of the agreements.

The following table represents the total annual minimum revenue guarantees throughout the five-year
contract period with Microsoft and First Data Corporation (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, Microsoft First Data Total

          2001 ............................... $     6,000 $      5,000 $    11,000
          2002 ............................... 15,000 8,500 23,500
          2003 ............................... 21,000 11,500 32,500
          2004 ............................... 27,000 14,500 41,500
          2005 ............................... 33,000 17,500 50,500
          2006 ............................... 18,000 3,000 21,000
               Total.......................... $  120,000 $    60,000 $   180,000

We are operating below the minimum levels in both agreements and, as a result of increased minimum
levels, revenue from Microsoft and First Data grew by $9.0 million from the year ended June 30, 2002, to the year
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ended June 30, 2003.  Reductions in interest yields from this time last year have had a dampening effect on our
interest-sensitive products such as our account balance transfer offering, which has offset further growth in
Electronic Commerce processing and servicing revenue.  Furthermore, our largest customer reached cliff-based
pricing milestones in the quarters ended December 31, 2002, and June 30, 2003, which reduced our revenue per
subscriber for that customer by between 10% and 15%.  While much less in magnitude, we expect the same
customer to reach an additional pricing milestone around the end of the 2003 calendar year.

At the end of our 2002 fiscal year, we introduced transaction-based metrics designed to help investors
better understand trends in our business.  We offer two basic levels of electronic billing and payment services to our
customers.  Customers that use our Full Service offering generally outsource their electronic billing and payment
process to us.  For instance, a Full Service customer might not use a CheckFree-hosted user interface, but still use
our full array of services, including payment processing, payment warehouse, claims processing, e-bill, online proof
of payment, customer care, and other aspects of our service.  Also, while a Full Service customer may build its own
payment warehouse, we may maintain a customer record and payment history within our payment warehouse to
support the Full Service customer’s servicing needs.  Customers in the Full Service category may contract to pay us
either on a per-subscriber basis, a per-transaction basis, or a blend of both.  Customers that utilize our Payment
Services offering receive a limited subset of our electronic billing and payment services.  Additionally, within
Payment Services, we provide services to billers for electronic bill delivery and hosting, as well as other payment
services, such as account balance transfer.  A third category of revenue we simply refer to as Other Electronic
Commerce.  Other Electronic Commerce includes our Health and Fitness business and other ancillary revenue
sources, such as CSP and biller implementation and consulting services.

As we have previously reported, three of our larger customers, all of whom were original principals of a
consortium known as Spectrum, have created and begun using in-house payment warehouses for routing electronic
bill payment transactions, and each is in various stages of this transition process.  For payment processing services,
each of the three principal banks signed a multi-year transaction processing agreement with Metavante, a payment
processing division of Marshall and Ilsley Corporation (“M&I”), which included guaranteed minimum transaction
levels during the contract period.  As a result, each of these banks is routing payment transactions to Metavante in
order to meet these minimum requirements.  J.P. Morgan Chase, which has historically maintained an in-house
payment warehouse as a Payment Services customer of CheckFree, moved all of its Internet-based bill payment
transactions, except for those processed through personal financial management (“PFM”) programs such as Intuit’s
Quicken or Microsoft Money, to Metavante during the quarter ended December 31, 2002.  Wells Fargo has begun
directing new electronic bill payment customers onto its in-house system and has been routing some payments from
existing customers to Metavante over the second half of fiscal 2003.  We expect to see a significant volume of Wells
Fargo transactions diverted during the quarter ending September 30, 2003.  Wachovia initiated its in-house payment
warehouse at the end of the quarter ended December 31, 2002, and has been migrating legacy Wachovia bill pay
customers, on a state-by-state basis, onto its in-house system.  Their migration was effectively completed by June
30, 2003.  We are not aware of any plans in place at this time to migrate legacy First Union customers to the
Wachovia in-house system.  We are working with Wells Fargo to integrate their payment systems with CheckFree in
order to continue to process transactions for them.  Wells Fargo announced in April 2003 that, together, we have
enabled their in-house system with e-bill capability.  For reference purposes, Wells Fargo currently operates as a
Payment Services customer while Wachovia operates as a Full Service customer.

A fourth bank customer, Bank One, has announced intentions to move its electronic payment processing to
an in-house payment solution as well.  Bank One started processing payments late in fiscal 2003, and we expect the
remainder of its electronic payment transaction volumes to decrease significantly beginning in the quarter ended
September 30, 2003, as it fully enables its system and takes payment processing in-house.

We believe that the complexity and costs of building, supporting, and hosting an in-house payment
warehouse and user interface are substantial, and execution is likely limited to a few large banks.  Regardless, we
expect to compete for payment transaction volume from banks that ultimately choose an in-house payment routing
alternative.
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Our license fee revenue decreased $0.8 million, or 3%, from $25.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2002
to $24.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  License revenue is derived from our Software business.  The
economy continues to cause potential customers to extend their evaluation time on discretionary spending for such
things as software products, which has resulted in slower than normal software license sales.  We expect this trend to
continue until the economy begins to rebound.

Our maintenance fee revenue increased by $1.4 million, or 6%, from $24.3 million for the year ended June
30, 2002, to $25.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Maintenance revenue, which represents annually
renewable product support for our software customers, is isolated to our Software business.  A combination of a
decrease in new license sales, customer retention rates of at least 80% across all of our Software business units, and
moderate price increases on a year over year basis, resulted in a moderately increasing maintenance base.  We defer
revenue recognition on maintenance billings until cash is collected, which can cause quarter-to-quarter fluctuations
in maintenance revenue.  Until license sales regain historical growth rates, we expect to see moderate growth in
maintenance.

Our other revenue increased by $6.4 million, or 34%, from $18.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2002
to $25.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Other revenue consists of consulting and implementation fees
across all three of our business segments.  The primary driver of growth in this area is a consulting services project
we were engaged in with a large bank customer within our ACH software business unit in fiscal 2003.

Cost of Processing, Servicing and Support.  Our cost of processing, servicing and support was $262.1
million, or 53.4% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002, and was $238.0 million, or 43.1% of total
revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Cost of processing, servicing and support as a percentage of processing
and servicing only revenue (total revenue less license fees) was 56.3% for the year ended June 30, 2002, versus
45.1% for the year ended June 30, 2003.  The largest single factor resulting in the decline in processing and
servicing costs, in light of growth in processing and servicing revenue, was platform consolidation in our Electronic
Commerce business late in fiscal 2002.  For most of fiscal 2002, we maintained three redundant payment-processing
platforms.  Through December 2001, we were converting Bank of America subscribers from the legacy Bank of
America processing platform we purchased in October 2000 and, through March 2002, we maintained the redundant
system to close out remaining customer care inquiries and claims, at which time we retired the redundant processing
platform.  Through this period, we paid Bank of America to run and maintain the platform for us.  Once we retired
the Bank of America system, we were able to close our customer care facility in San Francisco on April 30, 2002,
and our Houston customer care facility in the month ended June 30, 2002.  Additionally, as we migrated all but a
few CSPs off of our legacy Austin processing platform onto Genesis by the end of June 2002, we closed our Austin
office as well.  The combination of platform consolidation and office closings eliminated approximately $6.0 million
of redundant quarterly processing and servicing costs in the Electronic Commerce business.  Additionally, our
electronic payment rate has improved from approximately 71% for the year ended June 30, 2002, to over 75% for
the year ended June 30, 2003.  Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost per unit than do paper-
based payments and are far less likely to result in a costly customer care claim.  We continue to invest in additional
efficiency and quality improvements within our customer care processes and our information technology
infrastructure to drive improvements in our total cost per transaction.  We expect these efforts to result in further
improvement in cost per transaction in future periods.

Research and Development.  Our research and development costs were $55.2 million, or 11.3% of total
revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002, and were $52.7 million, or 9.6% of total revenue, for the year ended June
30, 2003.  Last fiscal year, on March 19, 2002, we announced a company reorganization that resulted in a reduction
in workforce that impacted all areas of the company, including research and development.  The reduction resulted in
savings on a year over year basis.  However, we continue to invest significantly in product enhancement and quality
improvement programs in all three of our businesses.

Sales and Marketing.  Our sales and marketing costs were $58.0 million, or 11.8% of total revenue, for the
year ended June 30, 2002, and were $57.2 million, or 10.4% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2003.
During the current fiscal year, we introduced new relationship management and account management positions in
our Investment Services business, however, the previously mentioned reorganization, announced on March 19,
2002, also impacted sales and marketing expenses resulting in a year over year reduction of costs.
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General and Administrative.  Our general and administrative costs were $43.7 million, or 8.9% of total
revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002, and were $39.0 million, or 7.1% for the year ended June 30, 2003.  In
addition to reduced rental and related overhead expense from facilities closed late in fiscal 2002 and improved
collection experience resulting in favorable bad debt expenses year over year, we continue to carefully manage our
corporate expenses, resulting in expected leverage in our overhead costs.

Depreciation and Amortization.  Depreciation and amortization costs decreased from $435.6 million for the
year ended June 30, 2002, to $226.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  In July 2002, we adopted Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”  Upon adoption,
goodwill is no longer subject to amortization over its estimated useful life.  Instead, goodwill is subject to at least an
annual assessment for possible impairment.  We will continue to amortize all other intangible assets, such as
acquired technology, strategic agreements, tradenames, and the like, over their respective useful lives.  As a result of
the change, amortization from acquisition related intangible assets has decreased from $394.0 million for the year
ended June 30, 2002, to $183.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Underlying depreciation and amortization
from operating fixed assets and internally developed product costs has increased from $41.6 million for the year
ended June 30, 2002, to $43.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  The increase in non-acquisition related
depreciation and amortization is the result of continued investment in new product innovations and fixed assets
necessary to support the continued growth of the company.

Impairment of Intangible Assets.  Charges for the impairment of intangible assets have decreased from
$155.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $10.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  In the quarter
ended December 31, 2001, we recorded intangible asset impairment charges totaling $155.1 million.  This was the
combined result of a charge of $107.4 million for the impairment of goodwill associated with our acquisition of
BlueGill Technologies in April 2000 (currently known as CheckFree i-Solutions), and of $47.7 million for the
retirement of certain technology assets we acquired from TransPoint in September 2000.  In the quarter ended June
30, 2003, we recorded intangible asset impairment charges totaling approximately $10.2 million associated with our
annual assessment of the recoverability of goodwill and other intangible asset balances, particularly in our i-
Solutions business unit.  Upon adoption of SFAS 142 in the quarter ended September 30, 2002, we incurred an
additional $2.9 million impairment of intangible assets that is described in the coming paragraph labeled Cumulative
Effect of Accounting Change, which is reflected separately in our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Upon successful integration of BlueGill Technologies into the operations of our Software business, during
fiscal 2001, we established a revenue outlook for fiscal 2002 that anticipated continued rapid growth in software
license sales.  We experienced a drop in demand for electronic billing software during the quarter ended September
30, 2001; however, we did not believe this would impact our longer-term expectations for this product line and,
therefore, in our estimation, there was no impairment at that time.  When software sales declined again in the quarter
ended December 31, 2001, we reevaluated our long-term expectations and viewed this as a triggering event that
required evaluation of possible impairment per the guidelines of SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of.”  Our tests relative to the total tangible and intangible assets related to the i-
Solutions product line revealed that the assets were in fact impaired.  This resulted in a charge of $107.4 million to
write down the value of goodwill related to the acquisition of BlueGill.

As part of the acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000, we were contractually required to maintain the
TransPoint operating technology for up to three years for any customer that wished to remain on the system.  When
valuing the TransPoint assets, we established an intangible asset for current technology and assigned it a three-year
life.  By December 31, 2001, we had migrated all of the subscribers, billers and CSPs to our Genesis platform and
the last of our international partners gave notice of their intention to cancel their maintenance agreement with us
during the December 2001 quarter.  Additionally, we had recently concluded that components of the TransPoint
technology were not compatible with current or future planned initiatives.  We viewed these as triggering events that
required the evaluation of possible impairment per SFAS 121.  Our overall testing indicated that there was no
impairment of the TransPoint assets in general; however, we then evaluated SFAS 121 requirements related to the
retirement of assets and identified two technologies for which we had no future use.   We retired these two
technologies, resulting in a charge of $47.7 million in the quarter ended December 31, 2001.
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Throughout fiscal 2003, there were no triggering events that caused us to evaluate the recoverability of our
intangible asset balance.  In April 2003, we performed our annual evaluation of intangible asset recoverability.  Our
initial tests indicated a potential impairment of goodwill in our i-Solutions reporting unit.  Our follow up tests
included an SFAS 86 recoverability test of our technology assets, which indicated no issues, and a SFAS 144 test,
which resulted in an impairment of $4.2 million in one of our non-goodwill intangible assets.  The final SFAS 142
test resulted in a further impairment of $6.0 million in our i-Solutions goodwill balance for a total charge of $10.2
million.

Reorganization charge.  Our reorganization charges decreased from $16.4 million for the year ended June
30, 2002, to $1.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  In January 2002, we announced plans to close our
customer care facility in San Francisco, effective April 30, 2002, which resulted in the termination of employees at
that facility.  At that time we also announced our intent to eliminate certain of our financial planning products within
our Investment Services division, which also resulted in a small reduction of employees in our Raleigh, North
Carolina office.  On March 19, 2002, we further announced the closing of our Houston and Austin, Texas offices,
our Ann Arbor, Michigan office and our Singapore office, combined with a net reduction in force totaling 450
employees.  As a result of those actions, we incurred charges totaling $16.4 million consisting primarily of
severance and related employee benefits and lease termination fees.  We accounted for these actions in accordance
with Emerging Task Force (EITF) abstract number 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity.”  Due primarily to our inability to sublease abandoned office space as
originally expected, in the quarter ended June 30, 2003, we recorded $1.4 million of additional reorganization
charges to true-up our estimates from the actions we initiated in fiscal 2002.

Interest.  Interest income declined from $8.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $7.3 million for
the year ended June 30, 2003.  An increase in invested balances of cash, short-term and long-term investments from
2002 to 2003 was offset by reduced yields from lower interest rates during fiscal 2003.

Interest expense has increased from $12.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $13.0 million for the
year ended June 30, 2003.  The increase is due primarily to an increase in long-term lease obligations during fiscal
2003.  Anchored by the fixed rate on our $172.5 million of outstanding convertible debt, average interest rates have
remained stable for us over these periods.

Loss on Investments.  In the year ended June 30, 2003, we incurred a charge of $3.2 million for losses in
investments.  Due primarily to a decline in the market value of one of our investments in a private imaging
company, which had been below our book value for over six months, we judged this to be an “other than temporary”
decline in the market value and, accordingly, in the quarter ended March 31, 2003, we recorded a charge of $1.3
million to reflect the loss.  Due to a decline in the market value of our investment in Payment Data Systems, Inc.
(formerly Billserv, Inc.), which had been below our book basis for over six months at the time, we also judged this
to be an “other than temporary” decline in the investment and in the quarter ended December 31, 2002, we recorded
a charge of $1.9 million to reflect the loss.

Income Taxes.  We recorded an income tax benefit of $98.9 million, with an effective rate of 18.3%, for the
year ended June 30, 2002, and an income tax benefit of $33.1 million, with an effective rate of 40.2%, for the year
ended June 30, 2003.  Our June 30, 2002, pre-tax income included the impact of non-deductible goodwill
amortization expense.  With our adoption of SFAS 142 in July 2002, we stopped amortizing goodwill.  Our resulting
effective tax rate in fiscal 2003 is now more in line with a blended statutory rate of about 40%, with the exception of
federal and state tax credits that have more than offset other non-deductible expense.

Cum ulative Effect o f Acco un ting  Ch an g e.  O n Ju ly 1, 20 02 , w e ad o pted  S F AS  1 4 2, “Go o dw ill and  O ther
I ntan gib le A s sets .”  S FA S  1 42  ch an ges  the acco un tin g fo r  g oo d will an d oth er  intang ib le as sets.  G oo dw ill is n o lo ng er
s ub ject to  am or tizatio n o ver its  estimated u sefu l lif e.  Rath er , go o dw ill is su b ject to  at least an  ann u al as sess men t fo r 
imp airm ent b y  app ly ing  a fair -v alu e- b as ed  test.

I n acco r dance w ith S FA S 1 42 , we were requ ir ed to  perf or m  a tr an sitio nal imp airm ent test.  Th e tes t was
p er fo rm ed as  of  J uly  1 , 2 00 2.  This imp airm ent test r eq u ir ed  us  to ( 1)  id en tify  ou r r ep or tin g un its , (2 )  d eterm in e the
car ry in g  v alu e of  each  r epo rtin g  u nit b y as s ig nin g as sets an d  liabilities , in clu ding  ex is tin g go o dw ill and  in tang ib le
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ass ets, to  th os e rep or tin g un its , an d  ( 3)  d eterm ine the fair  valu e o f each repo r ting  un it.  If  th e carr y in g v alue o f  any 
r ep or tin g un it ex ceeded its  f air  v alu e, then  the am ou nt of  an y go od w ill imp airm ent w as deter mined  thr ou g h fair valu e
analy sis  o f each of  th e ass ig ned  ass ets  ( ex clu din g go od w ill)  an d liabilities.

As a result of the transitional impairment test, we determined that goodwill associated with our i-Solutions
reporting unit was impaired.  We recorded an impairment charge of $2.9 million, which is reflected as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended June 30,
2003.  Refer to Note 7. “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, for further discussion regarding the current year and expected future impact of this change on
our depreciation and amortization expense.

Years Ended June 30, 2002 and 2001

Revenues.  Our total revenue increased by 13%, from $433.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to
$490.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  Total company revenue growth was driven by 17% growth in our
Electronic Commerce business and 14% growth in our Investment Services business, offset by a 5% decline in our
Software business.  Growth in Electronic Commerce revenue was driven primarily by growth in total transactions
processed from 231 million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to over 316 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.
The impact of growth in transactions processed was offset by a decline in revenue from interest rate sensitive
products, such as our account balance transfer product, caused by significant decreases in interest rates from fiscal
2001.  In October 1999, we entered into an agreement with a third party in which we issued warrants on one million
shares of our stock, exercisable on September 15, 2002, contingent upon maintaining the existence of our agreement
through that date.  During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2.7 million against
revenue resulting from the probable vesting of those warrants to the third party.

Growth in Investment Services was driven primarily by an increase in portfolios managed from over 1.1
million at June 30, 2001, to about 1.2 million at June 30, 2002, offset by industry consolidations which resulted in
the loss of over 0.1 million portfolios in fiscal 2002.  The majority of these portfolios processed at a lower price
point than average, based on the service level provided, resulting in a reduced negative impact.  Also, in the quarter
ended March 31, 2002, we announced the elimination of certain of our financial planning software products within
Investment Services, resulting in a modest decrease in revenue as the product line was in existence the full year in
fiscal 2001 and less than three quarters of the year in fiscal 2002.  As a result of the difficult stock market conditions
that worsened since late September 2001, portfolio growth slowed significantly, and we remained short of historic
growth rates in this part of our business.  Due also to poor economic conditions in fiscal 2002, we experienced a
decline in revenue in our Software business on a year over year basis.  Although revenue from our more mature
ACH processing and Reconciliation products had remained relatively stable, sales of our i-Solutions electronic
billing and statement software were lower than expected as the recession continued.

Across all segments of our business, for the year ended June 30, 2002, Bank of America generated total
revenue of $60.0 million, which represented in excess of 10% of our total revenue in fiscal 2002, and they were the
only customer to exceed 10% of our total revenue.  Because they owned approximately 10 million shares of our
stock at the time, Bank of America was considered a related party.

Our processing and servicing revenue increased by $60.2 million, or 17%, from $362.1 million for the year
ended June 30, 2001, to $422.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  Within Electronic Commerce, growth in
underlying processing and servicing revenue was driven by the previously mentioned growth in subscribers and
transactions.  Our acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000 included a five-year strategic agreement with
Microsoft and a five-year marketing agreement with First Data Corporation, each of which includes minimum
quarterly revenue guarantees, as does our ten-year strategic agreement with Bank of America.  Through June 30,
2002, the agreements with Microsoft and First Data were operating below the minimum guarantee level.  The Bank
of America contract operated under minimums until the December 31, 2001 quarter.  As a result of these minimum
guarantees, overall subscriber-based revenue correlated less directly with subscriber growth.  Additionally, we
processed over 1.3 million electronic bills in the month ended June 30, 2002, which was a significant increase from
the 1.1 million electronic bills processed in the month ended March 31, 2002, and the 500,000 electronic bills
processed in the month ended June 30, 2001.  This growth was offset by a decline in revenue from interest rate
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sensitive products and the previously mentioned $2.7 million non-cash charge we recorded against revenue related
to warrants we issued to a third party in 1999.  In the quarter ended June 30, 2002, J.P. Morgan Chase announced
plans to utilize in-house technologies to build and manage their own electronic billing and payment user interface
and payment warehouse.

Our license fee revenue decreased by $5.2 million, or 17%, from $30.2 million for the year ended June 30,
2001 to $25.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  License sales had dropped off during the recessionary
period that began toward the end of fiscal 2001 and continued throughout fiscal 2002.  While sales in our more
mature ACH processing and Reconciliation software products had remained fairly stable, sales of our i-Solutions
electronic billing and statement software have continued to fall short of our expectations.  The reduction in expected
license sales in our i-Solutions business unit resulted in our recording an impairment charge relative to the intangible
assets we recorded as part of our acquisition of BlueGill.  The charge is explained in the paragraph labeled
Impairment of Intangible Assets later in this analysis.

Our maintenance fee revenue increased by $3.0 million, or 14%, from $21.3 million for the year ended
June 30, 2001 to $24.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  Maintenance tends to grow with incremental
software license sales from the last four quarters, combined with annual retention rates of existing customers that
exceed 80% across all product lines.  Although software sales have declined on a year over year basis, because of
the annuity effect of a renewing customer base, we have continued to experience growth in maintenance revenue.
Pricing did not have a material impact on maintenance revenue growth.

Our other revenue decreased by $0.8 million, or 4%, from $19.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2001,
to $18.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  The decline in other revenue was the combined result of lower
biller implementation fees in our Electronic Commerce business, lower software implementation engagements from
lower software sales in our Software business and lower implementation and custom reporting fees in our
Investment Services business.

Cost of Processing, Servicing and Support.  Our cost of processing, servicing and support was $255.5
million, or 59.0% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2001, and was $262.1 million, or 53.4% of total
revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002.  Cost of processing, servicing and support, as a percentage of processing
only revenue, was 63.4% for the year ended June 30, 2001, versus 56.3% for the year ended June 30, 2002.  We
achieved improved efficiency and processing quality within our Genesis processing platform in our Electronic
Commerce business.  Our ratio of electronic payments to total payments improved from 64% at June 30, 2001, to
over 71% at June 30, 2002.  Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost per unit than paper based
payments and are far less likely to result in a costly customer inquiry or claim.  The full underlying impact of
improved efficiency and quality, however, is not fully explained in these results.  We acquired TransPoint in
September 2000 and the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America in October 2000.  As a result of
these transactions, we supported two additional billing and payment platforms for much of the year ended June 30,
2001, and one additional platform through March 31, 2002, as we worked to migrate subscribers and billers over to
Genesis.  The acquired platforms were less efficient than our Genesis processing platform, and therefore much more
expensive to operate.  As an example, during fiscal 2002 alone, we incurred approximately $18.0 million in costs
paid to Bank of America for their support of the Bank of America West processing platform during the conversion
process.  We completed the conversion of the TransPoint subscribers and billers onto our Genesis platform in the
quarter ended June 30, 2001.  We completed the conversion of a portion of the Bank of America East operations in
the quarter ended March 31, 2001, and the remainder of the Bank of America subscribers, referred to as Bank of
America West, to Genesis in the quarter ended December 31, 2001.  After resolving the backlog of open customer
care inquiry and claims during the quarter ended March 31, 2002, we retired the Bank of America processing
platform and were no longer required to reimburse Bank of America for running the platform on our behalf.
Additionally, we migrated all but a few CSPs off of our Austin processing platform and relocated the remaining
technologies to our Norcross, Georgia facility.  As a result of these retirements, we closed our San Francisco
customer care facility effective April 30, 2002, our Houston customer care facility effective June 30, 2002, and
closed our Austin office effective September 30, 2002.  The retirement of the Bank of America platform and the
resulting closing of the San Francisco, Houston and Austin offices resulted in a recurring reduction in our quarterly
processing cost of almost $5.0 million beginning in the quarter ended June 30, 2002, and increasing to
approximately $6.0 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2002.  The net impact of the above programs and
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actions resulted in a decrease of over 20% in our direct cost per transaction processed in the year ended June 30,
2002.  Refer to the Reorganization Charge paragraph below and Note 17 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements within this report for further information regarding the one-time charge we recorded as a result of the
reorganization actions.

Research and Development.  Our research and development costs were $55.6 million, or 12.8% of total
revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2001, and $55.2 million, or 11.3% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30,
2002.  Adjusted for capitalized development costs, our gross research and development costs were $60.5 million, or
14% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2001, and $59.6 million, or 12.2% of total revenue, for the year
ended June 30, 2002.  During fiscal years 2000 and 2001, we invested heavily in research and development activities
to enhance our product offerings and further distance ourselves from our competition.  We continued to invest
consistently in research and development activities on a gross dollar basis in all of our business segments during
fiscal 2002 in anticipation and support of revenue growth, quality enhancement and efficiency improvement
opportunities.  On March 19, 2002, we announced a company reorganization that resulted in a reduction in
workforce that impacted all areas of the company, including research and development.

Sales and Marketing.  Our sales and marketing costs were $90.3 million, or 20.8% of total revenue, for the
year ended June 30, 2001, and were $58.0 million, or 11.8% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002.  The
terms of our strategic agreement with Bank of America in October 2000 called for us to provide $25.0 million
toward a two year, $45.0 million marketing campaign to be administered by Bank of America.  Because we had no
direct influence or control over the specific nature, timing or extent of the use of funds, we expensed the $25.0
million as a period cost in the quarter ended December 31, 2000.  Net of this one-time charge, sales and marketing
costs were $65.3 million, or 15.1% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2001.  Fiscal year 2002 commission
expenses were lower than prior year due to lower overall software sales and lower biller signings than in the prior
year.  We reduced the number of i-Solutions sales and marketing staff in the quarter ended June 30, 2001 and sales
and marketing staff across the company were also impacted by the reduction in force announced on March 19, 2002.
Because our electronic billing and payment services are offered as a private labeled service through our bank
customers, we do not incur the cost of direct advertising and promotion campaigns.  However, our existing
marketing staff provided assistance to our consumer service provider customers in identifying best practice
programs that were successful in driving increased subscriber adoption and activation.

General and administrative.  Our general and administrative costs were $50.5 million, or 11.7% of total
revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2001, and were $43.7 million, or 8.9% of total revenue, for the year ended June
30, 2002.  Our general and administrative costs as a percentage of revenue continued to decline due to leverage
inherent in our business model and efforts to curtail discretionary spending in a recessionary economy throughout
fiscal 2002.

Depreciation and Amortization.  Depreciation and amortization costs increased from $427.5 million for the
year ended June 30, 2001, to $435.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  The significant depreciation and
amortization costs relative to the other costs of our business are composed primarily of amortization expenses
related to the intangible assets we recorded as a result of the acquisition of BlueGill Technologies in April 2000, the
acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000, and our purchase of the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank
of America in October 2000.  Net of intangible amortization from acquisitions, our depreciation costs related
primarily to fixed assets used in ongoing operations, increased from $34.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2001
to $41.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  The increase in fixed asset depreciation was the result of
continued capital spending for data processing equipment, related software, and facility improvements in support of
the continued growth of the business.  As a result of our decision to close our San Francisco, Houston and Austin
offices, we had certain fixed assets that had no future use to us, and we accelerated the remaining depreciation on
those assets to reduce their book value to zero to reflect the timing of the office closings and their resulting shorter
useful life.

In-Process Research and Development.  In the three months ended September 30, 2000, we incurred $18.6
million of in-process research and development costs in relation to our acquisition of TransPoint.  For a detailed
discussion of this charge, please refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our June 30,
2001 Annual Report.
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Impairment of Intangible Assets.  In the quarter ended December 31, 2001, we recorded charges totaling
$155.1 million for the impairment of intangible assets.  As previously explained, this was the combined result of a
charge of $107.4 million for the impairment of goodwill associated with our acquisition of BlueGill Technologies in
April 2000 (currently referred to as CheckFree i-Solutions), and of $47.7 million for the retirement of certain
technology assets we acquired from TransPoint in September 2000.

Reorganization Charge. We previously discussed our fiscal 2002 reorganization charge of $16.4 million in
the years ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 section of this report.  Please refer back to the Reorganization Charge
caption for a full discussion of the charges.

Interest.  Interest income decreased from $15.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to $8.5 million for
the year ended June 30, 2002.  The decrease is a result of the combined effect of a decrease in our average annual
yield, offset by an increase in our average invested assets of $34.1 million.

Interest expense declined from $13.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to $12.8 million for the year
ended June 30, 2002.  The decrease is due to a modest drop in average interest rates combined with a reduction in
our average outstanding debt and other long-term obligations of approximately $0.3 million.  Note that the interest
rate on our $172.5 million convertible debt balance is fixed at 6.5% and this debt has remained in place throughout
fiscal 2001and fiscal 2002.

Loss on Investments.  Due to overall market conditions, certain of our investments incurred an “other than
temporary” decline in market value.  As a result, in the year ended June 30, 2001, we recorded charges of $16.1
million to appropriately reflect the decline in value of these investments.  No additional charge was required in the
year ended June 30, 2002.

Income Taxes.  We recorded an income tax benefit of $115.4 million, at an effective rate of 24.1%, for the
year ended June 30, 2001, and an income tax benefit of $98.9 million, at an effective rate of 18.3%, for the year
ended June 30, 2002.  The reported effective rates differ from the blended statutory rate of 40% in all periods due to
certain non-deductible goodwill amortization, impairment charges related to goodwill, non-deductible in-process
research and development expenses and other non-deductible expenses, offset somewhat by eligible tax credits.

Segment Information

The following table sets forth our operating revenue and operating income by industry segment for the
periods noted.  Items identified as purchase accounting amortization, impairment of intangible assets, a one time
marketing charge, reorganization charge, in-process research and development, and charge associated with warrants
issued to third parties, were separated from operating income for a better understanding of each segment.
Explanations for these charges can be found in the discussion above.
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Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)
Operating revenue:
       Electronic Commerce - underlying...................................... $ 404,729 $ 354,802 $ 301,532
       Impact of warrants issued to third party .............................. 644 (2,748) -
    Electronic Commerce .............................................................. 405,373 352,054 301,532
    Investment Services................................................................. 81,562 79,574 69,613
    Software ................................................................................... 64,711 58,849 62,175
        Total operating revenue....................................................... $ 551,646 $ 490,477 $ 433,320

Operating income (loss):
    Electronic Commerce .............................................................. $ 115,539 $ 39,010 $ (13,083)
    Investment Services................................................................. 21,062 24,376 20,347
    Software ................................................................................... 18,008 5,789 837
    Corporate.................................................................................. (33,798) (36,500) (35,746)
Specific items:
    Purchase accounting amortization .......................................... (183,342) (394,009) (393,436)
    Impairment of intangible assets .............................................. (10,228) (155,072) -
    Reorganization charge............................................................. (1,405) (16,365) -
    Impact of warrants issued to third party ................................. 644 (2,748) -
    One-time marketing charge..................................................... - - (25,000)
    In-process research and development ..................................... - - (18,600)
        Total operating loss ............................................................. $  (73,520) $(535,519) $ (464,681)

Years Ended June 30, 2003 and 2002

Electronic Commerce.  Revenue in our Electronic Commerce business increased by $53.3 million, or 15%,
from $352.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $405.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  In the
quarter ended June 30, 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2.7 million against Electronic Commerce revenue
associated with the probable vesting of warrants we issued to a third party.  The warrants vested in the quarter ended
September 30, 2002, and at that time, we recorded a true-up of $0.6 million which reduced the original charge.  Net
of this one-time charge and its subsequent true-up, underlying revenue in Electronic Commerce increased by $49.9
million, or 14%, from $354.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $404.7 million for the year ended June 30,
2003.  The increase in revenue is driven primarily by an increase in year over year transaction volume.

At the end of our 2002 fiscal year, we introduced transaction-based metrics designed to help investors
better understand trends in our business.  We offer two levels of electronic billing and payment services to our
customers.  Customers that utilize our Full Service offering generally outsource their electronic billing and payment
process to us.  For instance, a Full Service customer might not use a CheckFree hosted user interface, but still use
our full array of services, including payment processing, claims processing, e-bill, on-line proof of payment,
customer care, and other aspects of our service.  Also, while a Full Service customer might build its own payment
warehouse, we maintain a customer record and payment history within our payment warehouse to support the Full
Service customer’s servicing needs.  Customers in the Full Service category may contract to pay us either on a per-
subscriber basis, a per-transaction basis, or a combination of both.  Customers that utilize our Payment Services
offering receive a limited subset of our electronic billing and payment services.  An example of a Payment Services
customer may be a bank that uses CheckFree primarily to process its payments.  While we maintain payment records
necessary to answer payment inquiries, in this situation we would not maintain full subscriber or payment initiation
data in our payment warehouse.  Additionally, within Payment Services, we provide services to billers who
compensate us for electronic bill delivery and hosting services, as well as other payment services such as account
balance transfer.
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A third category of revenue we simply refer to as Other Electronic Commerce.  Other Electronic
Commerce includes our Health and Fitness business and other ancillary revenue sources, such as CSP and biller
implementation and consulting services.  The following tables provide a historical trend of revenue, underlying
transaction metrics, and subscriber metrics where appropriate, for the Electronic Commerce business:

Fiscal 2003: Quarter Ended
9/30/02 12/31/02 3/31/03 6/30/03

(In thousands)
Full service
   Revenue.................................................................. $    71,596 $     75,089 $    81,467 $    82,602
   Active subscribers..................................................         3,224          3,514         3,905         4,222
   Transactions processed..........................................       67,164        74,900       80,267       87,454

Payment services
   Revenue.................................................................. $    14,677 $     13,923 $    12,808 $    12,263
   Transactions processed..........................................       29,519        30,131       31,591       32,738

Other Electronic Commerce
   Revenue.................................................................. $      9,737 $       9,160 $    10,260 $    11,147
   Non-cash revenue impact of warrants................... $         644         -              -              -

Fiscal 2002: Quarter Ended
9/30/01 12/31/01 3/31/02 6/30/02

(In thousands)
Full service
   Revenue.................................................................. $    64,968 $     67,161 $    71,155 $   74,132
   Active subscribers..................................................         2,620          2,749         2,930        3,122
   Transactions processed..........................................       56,055        60,947       65,531      69,045

Payment services
   Revenue.................................................................. $      9,878 $     10,243 $    10,285 $   10,669
   Transactions processed..........................................       13,385        15,509       16,866      18,942

Other Electronic Commerce
   Revenue.................................................................. $      9,981 $       8,236 $      8,332 $     9,762
   Non-cash revenue impact of warrants...................             -               -             - $    (2,748)

We experienced generally steady growth in Full Service revenue, active subscribers, and transactions
processed until the September 30, 2002, quarter.  During the quarter ended September 30, 2002, one of our larger
customers, Wells Fargo, converted from Full Service to Payment Services, and, accordingly, approximately 300,000
active subscribers and their related transactions switched categories.  Although Payment Services transactions
generate less revenue per transaction, because we provide less service, our cost per transaction is less as well.  While
the shift of a customer to Payment Services from Full Service will reduce revenue, we do not expect such a shift to
have a significant impact on our operating margin over time.  Although Bank of America accounts for over one third
of our active Full Service subscribers, growth in active subscribers and transactions processed are the result of broad
growth throughout the channel.  CSP customer pricing in this category can be based on transactions processed, the
number of subscribers, or a combination of both, and additionally, in order to share the benefits associated with scale
efficiencies, pricing is tiered in nature, whereby a customer exceeding predetermined volumes is eligible for a lower
price on a going forward basis.  In addition, the mix of customers utilizing transaction-based versus subscriber-based
pricing will have an impact on revenue per transaction.  In the latter half of the quarter ended December 31, 2002,
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and again in the early part of the quarter ended June 30, 2003, Bank of America reached pricing tier discount levels,
and we expect it to reach a third pricing tier discount sometime late in the 2003 calendar year, or early in the quarter
ending March 31, 2004.  Because of the significance of our relationship with Bank of America, when it reaches a
pricing tier discount, the implied revenue per transaction in this category will decline accordingly.  Additionally, we
saw reductions in subscribers and/or transactions from Full Service customers Wachovia and Bank One throughout
the second half of fiscal 2003, and we expect Bank One to take a significant volume of its transactions in-house in
the quarter ended September 30, 2003.

We experienced moderate quarterly growth in revenue and transactions processed in the Payment Services
category throughout fiscal 2002, a significant increase in the quarter ended September 30, 2002, followed by a
declining revenue trend beginning in the quarter ended December 31, 2002.  As previously mentioned, Wells Fargo
converted from a Full Service relationship to a Payment Services relationship, which caused the significant increase
in revenue and transactions in this category.  We had anticipated that J.P. Morgan Chase, another large customer
already included in the Payment Services category, would begin moving transactions to a competitor in order to
meet contractually guaranteed minimum transaction levels with that competitor.  This shift did not take place as
quickly as expected, but by December 31, 2002, all of J.P. Morgan Chase’s non-PFM volume was moved off our
system.  We started to see signs of the anticipated drop in transactions processed from Wells Fargo in the quarters
ended March 31, 2003 and June 30, 2003, as they also are required to meet guaranteed minimum transaction levels
with a competitor.  We expect to experience a significant reduction in transactions from Wells Fargo in the quarter
ended September 30, 2003.  Wells Fargo, however, is e-bill enabled and their in-house system is integrated with our
processing system.  All electronic bills that we present to Wells Fargo customers, at a minimum, will be routed back
to us for payment purposes.  We delivered 31.9 million bills in the year ended June 30, 2003; almost three times the
10.8 million bills delivered in the year ended June 30, 2002.  We also report miscellaneous payment only
transactions from complementary products such as our account balance transfer business in this category.  Pricing in
our account balance transfer business is interest sensitive, whereby we share inherent float from the product with our
customers.  Fluctuations in prevailing interest rates will therefore have an impact on the average revenue per
transaction we will receive and, as a result, the drop in interest rates over the past year has had a dampening effect
on our revenue and revenue per transaction during fiscal 2003.

Our Other Electronic Commerce revenue includes our Health and Fitness product, which grew modestly,
and other non-transaction related services such implementation and consulting, which increased on a quarter over
quarter basis.  We expect one of our largest Health and Fitness customers to migrate to an internally developed
health club management system beginning in the quarter ending September 30, 2003.  We expect this to result in an
immediate decline in quarterly revenue in this category of about $1.0 million.  During the quarter ended June 30,
2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2.7 million against Electronic Commerce revenue associated with the
probable vesting of warrants we issued to a third party. In the quarter ended September 30, 2002, the warrants
actually vested.  On the date of vesting, however, the fair value of our stock was lower than when we calculated the
initial charge.  As a result, a true-up of the value of the warrants resulted in a credit to revenue of $0.6 million in the
quarter ended September 30, 2002.

Operating income in our Electronic Commerce business, net of purchase accounting amortization,
intangible asset impairment charges, reorganization charges, and the impact of warrants, has improved from $39.0
million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $115.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Our ratio of electronic
payments to total payments continues to improve, from approximately 71% as of June 30, 2002, to over 75% as of
June 30, 2003.  Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost per unit than paper payments and are
far less likely to result in a costly customer care inquiry or claim.  The full underlying impact of improved efficiency
and quality, however, is not fully explained by a change in electronic rate.  Throughout fiscal 2002, we supported
two additional payment-processing platforms over and above our Genesis platform.  We paid Bank of America to
run the legacy Bank of America platform through March 2002, as we migrated consumers onto our more efficient
Genesis platform, and cleared outstanding customer care claims initiated on the Bank of America platform.  By
March 31, 2002, we eliminated this redundant payment platform and were able to close our San Francisco customer
care facility in April 2002 and our Houston customer care facility by June 2002.  In addition, we had been operating
a legacy Austin payment processing platform.  When all but a few CSPs had migrated onto Genesis by June 2002,
we were able to close our Austin facility as well.  In March 2002, we announced a corporate wide reorganization
that resulted in a reduction in workforce, over and above the employees impacted by office closings and platform
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consolidation.  In total, we eliminated between $7.0 million and $8.0 million of quarterly costs starting in the quarter
ended June 30, 2002.  Finally, we continue to emphasize quality improvement, which we expect to result in further
reduction in cost per transaction as we leverage the fixed costs already invested in our Electronic Commerce
business.   Our focus in Electronic Commerce in fiscal 2003 and into 2004 has been toward improved profitability
through programs designed to:

� drive increased consumer adoption and activation among our partners;
� improve product design and usability;
� improve overall customer satisfaction; and
� reduce variable costs per transaction.

Investment Services.  Revenue in our Investment Services business increased by $2.0 million, or 2%, from
$79.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $81.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  The total number
of portfolios managed has remained relatively flat at approximately 1.2 million on a year over year basis.  Current
revenue growth has not matched historical performance as the depressed stock market has had a direct impact on our
ability to grow revenue in the business.  Our pricing is based primarily on portfolios managed and portfolio
additions continue to be offset by investors reducing stock holdings.  We have focused attention on leveraging our
economies of scale leadership position to secure multi-year contract extensions with certain customers.  As a result,
although we are starting to see signs of portfolio growth, we anticipate experiencing similar growth into fiscal 2004
until the stock market improves.

Operating income in Investment Services, net of purchase accounting amortization, has decreased by $3.3
million, or 14%, from $24.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $21.1 million for the year ended June 30,
2003.  The decline in operating income is due to investment spending on new product offerings and quality
improvement initiatives in anticipation of a positive turn in the economy.  Throughout fiscal 2003, key initiatives in
our Investment Services business have included:

� new product offerings (e.g., Multiple Strategy Portfolios / M-Pact) with a shortened time to market;
� additional web-based products with increased functionality and ease of use;
� build out of relationship-based service offerings in our operations; and
� investments to improve quality.

Software.   Revenue in our Software business increased by $5.9 million, or 10%, from $58.8 million for the
year ended June 30, 2002, to $64.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  The downturn in the economy
throughout fiscal 2002 and 2003 has caused many businesses to curtail discretionary expenditures, which has
resulted in an overall dampening of demand for licensed software solutions.  While our newer i-Solutions electronic
statement and billing software has been impacted most, short-term demand for our reconciliation and ACH
processing licenses has been impacted as well.  However, during the quarter ended December 31, 2002, we began
work on a consulting services agreement with a large bank customer in our ACH business unit that provided greater
than normal consulting revenue over the past two quarters.  Resulting services revenue was the driving factor behind
growth in the Software segment.  We believe software license sales in general will continue to be somewhat
challenging until economic conditions improve.

Operating income in our Software business, net of purchase accounting amortization, intangible asset
impairment charges and reorganization charges, has increased from $5.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to
$18.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  In March 2002, we announced a company wide reorganization that
resulted in a net reduction in staff.  As part of these actions, we announced the closing of our Ann Arbor, Michigan
office.  In addition to the recurring savings that resulted from these actions, improvements in operating income are
also the result of continued efforts to closely manage discretionary expenses in light of economic conditions.

Corporate.  Our Corporate segment represents expenses for legal, human resources, finance and other
various unallocated overhead expenses.  In Corporate, we incurred operating expenses of $36.5 million, or 7% of
total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002, and operating expenses of $33.8 million, or 6% of total revenue, for
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the year ended June 30, 2003.  We continue to closely manage our expenses, resulting in expected leverage in
overhead costs.

Purchase Accounting Amortization.  The purchase accounting amortization line represents amortization of
intangible assets resulting from all of our various acquisitions from 1996 forward.  The total amount of purchase
accounting amortization has decreased from $394.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, to $183.3 million for
the year ended June 30, 2003.  In July 2002, we adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”  Upon
adoption, goodwill is no longer subject to amortization over its estimated useful life.  Instead, goodwill is subject to
at least an annual assessment for possible impairment.  All other intangible assets, such as acquired technology,
strategic agreements, trade names, and the like, will continue to be amortized over their respective useful lives.  For
comparative purposes, the following table breaks out the intangible asset amortization by segment:

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)

Electronic Commerce............................................................ $       175,028 $      358,476 $       328,072
Investment Services...............................................................              2,300             5,665              5,369
Software.................................................................................              6,014           29,868            59,995
    Total ................................................................................... $       183,342 $      394,009 $       393,436

Impairment of Intangible Assets.  In the quarter ended June 30, 2003, we recorded charges totaling $10.2
million for the impairment of intangible assets.  Our annual review for possible impairment of goodwill as required
by SFAS 142 resulted in a charge of $4.2 million for the impairment of our customer base intangible asset and
another $6.0 million for the impairment of goodwill, both from intangible assets we established upon the acquisition
of BlueGill Technologies in April 2000 (currently referred to as CheckFree i-Solutions).  In the quarter ended
December 31, 2001, we recorded charges totaling $155.1 million for the impairment of intangible assets.  This was
the combined result of a charge of $107.4 million for the impairment of goodwill associated with our acquisition of
BlueGill Technologies and of $47.7 million for the retirement of certain technology assets we acquired from
TransPoint in September 2000.  Please refer to Impairment of Intangible Assets in the years ended 2003 and 2002
Results of Operations section of this report for a detailed explanation of these charges.

Reorganization Charge.  In January 2002, we announced our plans to close our customer care facility in
San Francisco, California, effective April 30, 2002, which resulted in the termination of employees at that facility.
At that time we also announced our intent to eliminate certain of our financial planning products within our
Investment Services division, which also resulted in a small reduction of employees in our Raleigh, North Carolina
office.  In March 2002, we further announced the closing of our Houston, Austin, Ann Arbor and Singapore offices,
along with a net reduction in force totaling approximately 450 employees.  As a result of these actions, we incurred
a charge of $15.9 million in the quarter ended March 31, 2002, a true-up charge of $0.5 million in the quarter ended
June 30, 2002, and a second true-up charge of $1.4 million in the quarter ended June 30, 2003. The first true-up
consisted primarily of severance and related employee benefits and lease termination fees.  The second true-up of
$1.4 million was due primarily to our inability to sub-lease vacated property as originally anticipated.  We accounted
for these actions in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) abstract number 94-3, “Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity.”  The following table
provides a breakdown of our reorganization charges by segment:

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002

(In thousands)

Electronic Commerce ........................................................................................ $        307 $   11,041
Investment Services...........................................................................................           (68)        2,309
Software .............................................................................................................        1,183        2,812
Corporate............................................................................................................           (17)           203
    Total ............................................................................................................... $     1,405 $   16,365
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Impact of Warrants.  During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2.7
million against revenue resulting from the probable vesting of warrants issued to a third party.  In the quarter ended
September 30, 2002, the warrants vested.  On the date of vesting, however, the fair value of our stock was lower
than at June 30, 2002, when we calculated the initial charge.  As a result, a true-up of the value of the warrants
resulted in a credit to revenue of $0.6 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2002.  The charge, and the true-up
credit, were based on a Black-Scholes valuation of the warrants and were accounted for as a net charge to revenue in
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to
a Customer.”

Years Ended June 30, 2002 and 2001

Electronic Commerce.  Revenue in our Electronic Commerce business increased by $50.5 million, or 17%,
from $301.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to $352.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  In the
quarter ended June 30, 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2.7 million against Electronic Commerce revenue
associated with the probable vesting of warrants we issued to a third party.  Net of this one-time non-cash charge,
underlying revenue was $354.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2002, for an increase of 18%.  Underlying
growth in this business is driven primarily by an increase in subscribers from just over 5.2 million at June 30, 2001,
to over 6.6 million as of June 30, 2002, an increase of 27%.  While significant, this growth rate was lower than we
had seen in recent years due to a difficult economic environment.

With our acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000, we became the preferred provider of electronic
billing and payment services to customers through Microsoft’s MSN and Money Central product offerings.  The
agreement with Microsoft provides guaranteed revenue of $120 million over a five-year period that commenced in
January 2001.  Additionally, as part of the TransPoint acquisition, we received $60 million of guaranteed revenue
and/or cost savings opportunities through First Data Corporation over a five-year period that began in September
2000.  Effective October 21, 2000, we completed a strategic agreement with Bank of America, the largest bank in
the United States, to offer electronic billing and payment services to its customer base.  This ten-year agreement
provides annual revenue guarantees of $50 million, or $12.5 million on a quarterly basis.  We had been processing
certain transactions for Bank of America prior to the strategic agreement and, therefore, the $50 million guarantee
was not entirely incremental to our underlying revenue.  However, we did add approximately 300,000 incremental
subscribers to our subscriber base upon completion of the strategic agreement.  Underlying revenue for each of these
agreements had been below our guaranteed minimum level, until the quarter ended December 30, 2001, when Bank
of America exceeded their minimums.

When combining subscriber growth with guaranteed minimums, an increasing number of businesses opting
for a transaction based pricing structure versus a traditional subscriber based pricing structure, other payment
transactions which we effect, a couple of large banks that have built their own in-house user interface and payment
warehouse, an emerging electronic billing revenue stream, and volatile interest based revenue sources that fluctuate
with interest rate changes, it became too difficult to correlate revenue solely to the number of subscribers, with
transactions processed becoming a more meaningful indicator.  For the year ended June 30, 2002, we processed in
excess of 316 million transactions, compared to 231 million processed for the year ended June 30, 2001.
Historically, we provided the total number of subscribers and total number of transactions processed on a quarterly
basis.

Underlying operating results in our Electronic Commerce business, excluding a non-cash charge to revenue
related to warrants, purchase accounting amortization, intangible asset impairment charges, in-process research and
development, a one-time marketing charge and reorganization charges, have improved from an operating loss of
$13.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to operating income of $39.0 million for the year ended June 30,
2002.  We continued to drive improved efficiency and processing quality within our Genesis processing platform.
Our ratio of electronic payments to total payments improved from 64% as of June 30, 2001, to over 71% as of June
30, 2002.  Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost per unit than paper payments and are far less
likely to result in a costly customer inquiry or claim.  We acquired TransPoint in September 2000 and the electronic
billing and payment assets of Bank of America in October 2000.  As a result of these transactions, we supported two
additional billing and payment processing platforms for much of the year ended June 30, 2001, and one additional
platform through March 2002.  The acquired platforms were less efficient than our Genesis processing platform and,
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therefore, much more expensive to operate.  During the year ended June 30, 2002, we incurred approximately $18.0
million of expense to Bank of America for their support of the Bank of America processing platform.  We
completed the conversion of the TransPoint subscribers and billers onto Genesis in the quarter ended June 30, 2001.
We completed the conversion of the Bank of America subscribers onto Genesis in the quarter ended December 31,
2001.  After processing the remaining pre-conversion customer inquiries and claims during the quarter ended March
31, 2002, we retired the Bank of America platform.  As a result of the successful conversion of Bank of America
subscribers to Genesis and our ability to retire the Bank of America platform, we announced the closing of our San
Francisco customer care facility effective April 30, 2002, and our Houston customer care facility effective June 30,
2002.   In March 2002, we also announced an overall company reorganization that resulted in a net reduction in
force of approximately 450 employees across the company, including the closing of offices mentioned.
Additionally, upon retirement of our legacy Austin processing platform, we closed our Austin, Texas office during
the quarter ended September 30, 2002.  The combined impact of these various actions reduced our quarterly costs by
approximately $7.0 million to $8.0 million starting in the quarter ended June 30, 2002.

Investment Services.  Revenue in our Investment Services business increased by $10.0 million, or 14%,
from $69.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to $79.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  Growth in
this business was due primarily to an increase in portfolios managed from more than 1.1 million at June 30, 2001, to
about 1.2 million at June 30, 2002.  Much of the revenue growth occurred in fee-based versus institutional accounts,
mirroring the movement of the investment industry towards fee-based products and away from the transactional
commission-based model.  The lower annual growth in both revenue and portfolios compared to prior periods is due
primarily to the decline in economic conditions, particularly in the financial services sector, as well as industry
consolidations, which have resulted in the loss of over 100,000 portfolios.  However, the majority of these portfolios
possessed a much lower price point than average, based on the services provided, resulting in a reduced negative
impact.  We completed a rationalization of our Raleigh, North Carolina office and discontinued our financial
planning products during the year ended June 30, 2002, which had a modestly negative impact on revenue going
forward.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2002, the division released two product offerings:  a new trading and
reporting tool for multiple strategy portfolios, which was released to complement CheckFree APL and the APL
Browser, which offers clients access via the Internet to the division’s portfolio accounting and reporting product,
creating a highly visible new distribution channel for money managers and brokers.

Operating income in our Investment Services segment, net of purchase accounting amortization and
reorganization charges, increased by $4.0 million, or 20%, from $20.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to
$24.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  As previously indicated, much of our revenue growth has occurred
in fee-based versus institutional accounts that may carry a lower unit price, which in turn places downward pressure
on margins as the cost to process this business is not proportionally lower.  We initiated a quality program that
focuses attention on improved system reliability, particularly trading availability, which is critical to the business
unit, and we enhanced our disaster recovery capabilities.

Software.  Revenue in our Software business declined by $3.4 million, or 5%, from $62.2 million for the
year ended June 30, 2001, to $58.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  The downturn in economic conditions
in calendar 2001 that continued throughout fiscal 2002 caused many businesses to curtail discretionary expenditures,
which resulted in an overall dampening of demand for software solutions.  To help address the economic concerns
within our i-Solutions business unit, we released two new product offerings in fiscal 2002:

� i-Solutions Select, which is a series of industry-tailored packaged software choices at lower price
points; and

� new options for billers to host economically priced electronic billing and payment services at
CheckFree, which streamlines implementation cycles and lowers costs to billers while delivering both
biller direct and e-bill distribution and payment across our network.

Operating results in our Software business, net of purchase accounting amortization, impairment of
intangible assets and reorganization charges, improved from operating income of $0.8 million for the year ended
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June 30, 2001, to operating income of $5.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.  Improvement in operating
results is primarily the result of continued efforts to manage discretionary costs in light of current economic
conditions.  In March 2002, we announced a company-wide reorganization that resulted in a net reduction in force
of approximately 450 employees.  As part of these actions, we announced the closing of our Ann Arbor, Michigan
office.  As a result of this reorganization, we experienced a recurring savings in underlying costs in the quarter
ended June 30, 2002.

Corporate.  Our Corporate segment incurred operating expenses of $35.7 million, or 8% of total revenue,
for the year ended June 30, 2001, and of $36.5 million, or over 7% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30,
2002.  Although our total overhead expenses increased slightly, as a percentage of revenue they continue to
improve, reflecting the leverage inherent in our business model.  In March 2002, we announced a company-wide
reorganization.  However, we had been reducing corporate costs through attrition and discretionary cost
management throughout the year and, therefore, we did not incur significant additional reductions in staff in this
segment.

Purchase Accounting Amortization.  The purchase accounting amortization line represents amortization of
intangible assets resulting from all of our various acquisitions from 1996 forward.  The total amount of purchase
accounting amortization has increased from $393.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to $394.0 million for
the year ended June 30, 2002.  The increase is the result of intangible assets established by the acquisitions of
TransPoint in September 2000 and the purchase of the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America in
October 2000, offset by shorter-term intangible assets that fully amortized in the quarter ended December 31, 2001,
and the decline in amortization expense resulting from the intangible asset impairment charge we recorded in the
quarter ended December 31, 2001.

One-Time Marketing Charge.  The one-time marketing charge took place in the three-month period ended
December 31, 2000.  Our strategic agreement with Bank of America called for us to provide $25.0 million of cash at
closing to help support an agreed upon two year $45.0 million marketing campaign by Bank of America.  Because
we had no direct influence or impact on the specific nature, timing or extent of the use of the funds, we expensed the
$25.0 million as a period cost in the quarter ended December 31, 2000.  Because we do not typically market directly
to subscribers, we segregated this charge from ongoing operations as a one-time event.

In-Process Research and Development.  In the three month period ended September 30, 2000, we incurred
$18.6 million of in-process research and development costs in relation to our acquisition of TransPoint.  For a
detailed discussion of this charge, please refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our
June 30, 2001, Annual Report.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following chart provides a summary of our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the appropriate
periods:

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)

Cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities ............ $ 157,793 $ 45,869 $ (234)
Cash flow used in investing activities .................................... (61,172) (58,189) (26,888)
Cash flow provided by (used in) financing activities ............ (2,272) 3,207 23,170
    Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents........ $ 94,349 $ (9,113) $ (3,952)

As of June 30, 2003, we had $282.0 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments on hand,
and an additional $121.6 million in long-term investments.  Our balance sheet reflects a current ratio of 3.8 and
working capital of $304.3 million.  Due to process efficiency improvement initiatives, the retirement of redundant
processing platforms and the restructuring actions we initiated during fiscal 2002, we have seen a significant
increase in operating cash flow.  Due to state and federal operating loss and credit carryforwards, we do not expect
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to incur other than alternative minimum taxes for up to two more years.  As a result, when combined with existing
balances, we believe we have sufficient cash to meet our presently anticipated requirements for the foreseeable
future.  Our board of directors has approved up to $40 million for the purpose of repurchasing shares of our common
stock or repurchases of our convertible debt between now and August 2004.  At this time, no such repurchases have
taken place.  As of June 30, 2003, we had a $30.0 million line of credit facility, which we later cancelled in
anticipation of obtaining a new line of credit facility.  There were no outstanding balances on the original line of
credit as of June 30, 2003 or 2002.

For the year ended June 30, 2003, we generated $157.8 million of cash from operating activities.  We
typically have a seasonally low September quarter due to the payout of annual incentive bonuses and commissions
related to seasonally high sales from the previous quarter, and as a result, we expect operating cash flow to be
relatively low in the quarter ended September 30, 2003, but as a result of efforts to improve efficiency, we have been
able to generate an increasing amount of cash from operating activities and we believe this trend will continue into
fiscal 2004.

From an investing perspective, we used $61.2 million of cash for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Of this
amount, $33.1 million was used for the net purchase of investments and another $24.3 million was used for the
purchase of property and equipment.  The remaining $3.8 million is the net of a $4.3 million use of cash for the
capitalization of software development costs, offset by $0.5 million in proceeds from the sale of fixed assets.  None
of these items are significantly different from what we incurred in fiscal 2002, when we used $58.2 million of cash
in investing activities.  We expect to spend approximately $30 million on purchases of property and equipment for
the coming fiscal year.

From a financing perspective, we used $2.3 million of cash for the year ended June 30, 2003.  We used
$12.2 million for principal payments under capital leases and other long-term obligations.  We received $9.9 million
in combined proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and the purchase of stock under our employee
stock purchase plan.

While the timing of cash payments and collections can cause fluctuations from quarter to quarter and the
level of expected capital expenditures could change, we expect to generate as much as $160 million of free cash
flow for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2004.  We define free cash flow as cash flow from operating activities less
capital expenditures.

The following table represents a summary of our contractual obligations and commercial commitments
over the next several years which provides added information in understanding expected cash commitments from
various obligations we have entered into over time:

Payments Due
Year Ended June 30,

Contractual Obligations Total 2004
2005 to

2006
2007 to

2008 Thereafter

(In thousands)

Long-term debt.................................... $  172,500 $            - $            - $  172,500 $            -
Capital lease obligations .....................         3,151         1,610         1,541                -               -
Operating leases ..................................     109,763       18,998       23,292       19,594       47,879
Other long-term obligations................         7,040         3,863         3,177                -               -

Total contractual cash obligations ...... $  292,454 $    24,471 $    28,010 $  192,094 $    47,879

R ecen t A ccou n ting  Pron ou n cement s 

O n Ju ly  20 , 2 00 1, th e FA S B is su ed  S FA S  1 41 , “Bu sin es s Com binatio ns ” and  S F AS  1 4 2, “Go o dw ill and 
O th er  I n tang ible As s ets.” S FA S 1 41  r equ ir es  all b us in es s  com b in atio n s in itiated  af ter  J un e 3 0, 2 0 01  to b e accou nted  fo r
u sing  th e pu r ch as e m etho d  o f accou nting .  I n  add ition , it req uires app licatio n o f th e p ro vis io ns  of  S FA S  1 42  fo r



-45-

g oo dw ill and  other intan g ib le as sets  related  to any  b us iness  co mb in ation s  com pleted after  J u ne 3 0 , 20 01 , b ut pr io r to
the ado p tion  date o f  S FA S  1 42 .  SF AS  14 2 ch ang es  th e accou nting  f or  go od w ill an d  o th er in tan gible ass ets . Up o n
ado ptio n , go o dw ill is no  lo ng er  su bject to amo rtization  ov er  its es tim ated us ef u l lif e. Rath er , g oo dw ill w ill b e su b ject to 
at leas t an ann ual ass es s ment f o r im p airm en t b y app ly in g  a f air -v alu e- bas ed  tes t. All o th er  acqu ired in tan gib les will be
s ep ar ately  r eco gn ized if  th e ben ef it of  the in tan gible ass et is  o btain ed  th ro ug h  con tractual o r o th er  legal r ig hts, or  if  the
intan gib le as set can  b e s old, tr an sf err ed , licen s ed , or  ex ch ang ed , r eg ar d less  o f  the ou r in ten t to do  s o . Oth er  intang ib les 
w ill be am or tized  o v er  th eir us efu l liv es .

S FA S 14 2  b ecame eff ectiv e f or  u s  o n J uly 1, 20 02  an d had  the fo llow ing  im pacts:

� We reclassified approximately $1,350,000 million of unamortized workforce in place intangible assets, net
of the associated deferred income taxes, into goodwill.

� After the reclassification above, goodwill was no longer amortized.

� We performed a transitional impairment test as of July 1, 2002.  This impairment test requires us to (1)
identify its reporting units, (2) determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by assigning assets and
liabilities, including existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units, and (3) determine the
fair value of each reporting unit.  If the carrying value of any reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then the
amount of any goodwill impairment will be determined through a fair value analysis of each of the assigned
assets (excluding goodwill) and liabilities.

W e reco r ded a charg e o f $ 2,89 4,0 00  f o r im pairm en t o f go o dw ill ass ociated  with  o u r i-S olution s r ep or tin g un it
u po n th e ado p tion  o f  S FA S  1 42 .  Th is  ch ar ge is  r eflected  as a cum ulative ef fect of  a ch an ge in  acco un tin g pr incip le in 
the acco mp an y in g Co n so lid ated  S tatem ent o f O peratio ns  f o r th e y ear end ed  Ju ne 3 0 , 20 0 3.  Fo llo win g th e trans ition al
imp airm ent test, ou r  g oo d will b alances ar e s ub ject to  an nu al im pair m en t tes ts  u s in g the s am e p ro ces s des cr ib ed ab ov e.
W e will perf o rm  o ur  an nu al ev alu atio n  u nd er  th e r eq uirem en ts  of  S FA S  1 42  as  o f A pr il 30  o f each y ear.  Ref er  to 
F oo tn ote 7  w h er e th e r es u lts of  ou r ann ual imp air ment test ar e discu ss ed .

I n Au gu s t 20 0 1, the Finan cial A cco un tin g Stand ar d s Bo ar d  ( “F A SB”)  is su ed  SF AS  1 4 3, “A ccou nting  f o r
A ss et Retirem en t Ob lig ation s.”  SF AS  14 3 ad d ress es finan cial acco un tin g and  r ep o rtin g  f or  o b ligatio ns  as so ciated with
the r etiremen t of  tang ib le lo ng - lived  ass ets  and  th e as s ociated  r etiremen t co sts .  W e ado pted SF A S 14 3 as of  Ju ly  1 ,
2 00 2.  The ad op tion  of  th is  s tatem en t h ad  n o  imp act o n o ur  r esu lts o f op eration s  o r f in an cial po s itio n f or  th e year  en ded 
J un e 30 , 2 00 3 .

O n Ju ly  1, 2 0 02 , we ad op ted  S FA S  1 44 , “Acco u ntin g  f or  th e Im p airm en t o r D is po sal o f Lon g- Liv ed  A s sets .”
S FA S 14 4  s up ers ed ed  SF AS  12 1, “A ccou n ting  f o r Im p airm en t o f Lon g- Liv ed  A s sets  an d fo r  Lon g- Liv ed  As sets  to  Be
D is po sed  O f” an d th e acco un ting  an d r ep or tin g pr o vision s  o f A ccou nting  P r in ciples Bo ard  ( “A P B”) O pinion  30 ,
“Repo rting  Resu lts o f Op eration s  -  Repo rtin g  the Ef fects  o f D is po sal o f a S eg men t of  a Bu sin es s and  Extr ao rd inary ,
U nu su al an d I nf requ ently  Occu rr ing  Ev en ts  an d Tr ans actio ns ” f or  the disp o sal of  a seg ment o f  a b u siness .  SF A S 14 4
add ress es fin an cial acco u ntin g and  r epo rtin g  f or  th e im p airm ent o r d is po s al o f lon g- liv ed  as sets .  Th e initial ad op tio n o f
S FA S 14 4  d id  no t res ult in an  im pair m en t of  an y k in d.  H ow ev er, in con ju n ctio n w ith o ur  ann u al test f or  im pairm en t o f
g oo dw ill as o f Ap ril 3 0, 20 03 , f ollo w -u p tes ting  un der S FA S 1 44  ind icated  a r eq u ir ed  im pair m en t charg e o f $4 .2
m illion  related  to o ur  cu stom er  base in tang ible ass et th at r esu lted  fr om  ou r acq uisitio n of  Blu eG ill Tech no lo gies, I n c. in
A pr il 2 0 00 .  We r eco rd ed  th is  im pair m en t ch arg e in th e q uarter en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 .

I n Ap ril 2 00 2 , th e F AS B iss ued S FA S 1 45 , “Rescis s io n of  FA SB Statem ents N o. 4 , 4 4, an d 64 , A mend m en t
o f FA SB Statement N o . 13 , and  Tech nical Cor r ectio ns .”  This s tatemen t eliminates  the cu rr en t r eq u ir em en t that g ains 
and  los s es  o n  extin g uish m en t of  debt mu st b e clas sified  as  ex tr ao rd inary  item s in th e incom e s tatem en t.  I ns tead, th e
s tatemen t req uires that g ains  an d lo s ses on  ex tin gu is hm ent o f  d eb t b e ev alu ated  ag ain st the cr iteria in  AP B O pinion  30 ,
“Repo rting  th e Resu lts  o f  O peratio ns — Rep or tin g the Eff ects o f Disp o sal o f a Seg ment of  a Bu sines s an d
Extraor d in ar y , Un us u al an d In fr equ en tly  O ccu rr in g  Events  and  Tr an saction s ” to  d eterm ine w hether o r no t it sh o uld be
class if ied  as  an ex traor d in ar y item.  I n ad d itio n , th e s tatem en t co n tain s  o th er  co rr ectio ns  to  au th or itative acco un tin g
liter atu re in  S FA S 4 , 44  an d 64 . The ch an ges  in S FA S 14 5  r elated to  debt ex ting u is hm ent are ef fective f o r ou r  2 00 3
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f is cal y ear and  the other  chang es wer e ef fective beginn ing  w ith  tran saction s af ter  May 15 , 2 00 2.  I n Au g us t 2 00 3, w e
ann ou nced th at ou r b oard  of  d ir ector s  r en ew ed its  2 00 2 autho r izatio n  o f a r ep ur chase pr og ram  u nd er wh ich  w e m ay 
p ur ch as e u p to $4 0 m illio n of  s h ar es  of  o ur  co mm o n stock  and  co nv er tib le no tes b ef or e A ug us t 2 00 4 .  S ho u ld  w e
p ur ch as e any  of  o ur  co nv ertib le no tes  and  r ealize a g ain  o r los s on  th e trans actio n, SF AS  1 4 5 will requ ire u s  to ev alu ate
the tran saction  agains t the criter ia in  A PB Op in ion  3 0 to deter mine if  th e gain  or  lo ss  s ho u ld  b e class ified  as  an
extraor d in ar y  item.  I f class if icatio n as  an  extr ao rd in ary  item  is n ot ap pr op riate, the g ain  o r los s wo u ld  b e inclu d ed  as 
p ar t of  in co m e befo r e in com e tax es .  We h av e n ot pu rchas ed  an y of  o u r co n vertib le no tes  and , ther ef or e, ad op tio n of 
this statemen t has h ad  n o  imp act o n o ur  r es u lts o f op er ation s  o r fin an cial po sitio n d ur in g o ur  2 0 03  f is cal y ear .

I n Ju ne 20 02 , the F A SB is su ed  S F AS  1 4 6, “Accou nting  f or  Co sts  A ss ociated  with  Ex it o r  D is po s al
A ctiv ities ,” wh ich add res ses accou nting  f or  reor g an ization  an d similar  co sts.  S FA S 1 46  s up ers ed es pr ev iou s
accou nting  g u id an ce, p rin cipally  Emer ging  I s su es  Task  F o rce ( “EITF”)  9 4- 0 3, “Liability Reco g nitio n fo r Cer tain
Emp lo yee Ter m in atio n  Ben efits  an d Oth er  Cos ts to  Ex it an  A ctivity  ( I nclu d in g Cer tain  Co sts I ncur r ed  in a
Res tr uctur in g ).”  S F AS  1 4 6 requ ires that th e liab ility f or  co sts as s ociated  w ith  an exit or  disp o sal activ ity  b e recog nized 
w hen th e liab ility is in cur red.  U nd er EI TF  94 -0 3 , a liability fo r an ex it co st was r ecog nized  at the d ate o f  a com p an y’ s 
com mitm ent to  an ex it plan.  SF A S 14 6  als o estab lis hes that the liab ility  s ho uld  initially b e measu red and  r eco rd ed  at
f air value.  Acco rd ing ly , S FA S 1 46  m ay af fect th e tim in g  o f r ecog nizin g any  f utu re r eor ganizatio n  cos ts  as  w ell as the
amo un t r ecog n ized .  Th e p ro visio ns  o f  S FA S 1 46  w ere eff ectiv e f or  r eor gan izatio n  activities  in itiated  af ter D ecem ber 
3 1, 2 00 2 , an d  w e hav e had  n o su ch mater ial activ ities  s ince that tim e.

I n No vem ber 2 00 2, th e EI TF reach ed  a co ns en s us  o n  I ss ue 00 -2 1 , “Multip le Deliver ab le Revenu e
A rr an gem en ts .”  EITF  0 0- 2 1 ad dr ess es  certain  asp ects of  th e accou nting  b y  a v en d or  f o r ar ran gemen ts  u nd er wh ich  it
w ill per fo rm  mu ltip le rev en ue-g eneratin g activ ities .  I t als o  add res ses w hen an d  h ow  an  arr ang em ent inv o lv in g  m ultip le
d eliv er ables  sh ou ld  be d ivided into s ep ar ate u nits of  acco un tin g.  The g u id an ce in  EI TF  0 0- 2 1 is  ef fective f o r reven ue
arr an gem en ts  en tered  into  in fis cal p er io ds  begin ning  af ter J un e 15 , 2 00 3 , with  early  app licatio n  p er mitted.  Com pan ies
m ay  elect to  repo rt th e chang e in accou ntin g  as a cum ulative ef fect of  a ch an ge in  acco un tin g pr incip le in  acco rd an ce
w ith AP B O pin io n 20 , “Accou ntin g  Chan ges” an d SF A S 3, “Rep or tin g Accou nting  Chan ges in In ter im  F inancial
S tatemen ts  ( an am en d ment of  A PB Op in ion  N o. 28 ).”  We b eliev e that o ur  cu rr en t p ractices ar e con s is tent with  th e
p ro visio ns  o f  EITF 0 0- 21  an d, th er ef o re, ex p ect n o im pact on  ou r res ults  of  o per atio n s or  f inancial p os ition .

I n No vem ber 2 00 2, th e FA S B is su ed FA S B In ter pr etation  N o . 45 , “Gu ar antor ’ s Acco u ntin g  and  D isclo s ur e
Req uirem en ts  fo r Gu arantees , In clu din g In dir ect G uarantees  o f  I nd eb ted nes s of  O thers ” ( “F IN  45 ”) .  Th is 
inter pr etatio n elab o rates  o n th e d is clo su res  to b e made by  a gu ar an tor  in  its  in terim  and  an nu al financial s tatem en ts
abo ut its ob lig atio n s un d er  cer tain g uarantees  th at it h as  is su ed .  It also  clar if ies  that a g uar an to r is req uired to
r ecog nize, at the in ception  o f a g uar an tee, a liability  fo r the f air  v alu e of  th e ob lig atio n  u nd ertak en  in  is su in g the
g uarantee.  The d is clo su r e requ iremen ts  o f F IN  4 5  are ef fective f or  finan cial s tatem ents of  in ter im  o r ann ual p er io d s
end in g after  Decemb er 15 , 2 00 2.  The in itial r eco gn itio n  and  in itial m eas ur em en t p ro v is io ns  of  F I N 45  ar e ap p licable
o n a pr o sp ectiv e bas is  to  g uaran tees  is su ed  or  m o dified  af ter  D ecem b er  3 1 , 20 02 .

I n Decem ber 2 00 2, th e FA S B is su ed SF A S 14 8, “A cco un ting  fo r S to ck -Based Com pens ation  - Tr an s itio n  and 
D is clos u re -  an  A men dm en t o f FA S B Statement No . 1 23 ,” w h ich p ro vides  altern ativ e m eth od s of  tr an s itio n f or  an 
entity that v olun tar ily chang es  to  th e fair  valu e b as ed  meth o d of  acco un tin g fo r  s to ck- based  emp loy ee co mp en s atio n.
S FA S 14 8  r eq u ir es  p r om in ent d is clo su r e ab ou t the ef fects  o n r ep or ted  n et in co me of  an  entity ’s  acco un tin g po licy
d ecis io n s with resp ect to  s to ck - based  emp lo y ee co mp en satio n and  amen ds  A P B Op in ion  2 8 , “I nterim F in an cial
Rep or tin g,” to requ ire d isclo su r e ab o ut tho s e ef f ects  in  interim fin an cial in fo r matio n.  We in clu ded th e r eq u ir ed 
d is clos u re, inclu din g co m pariso n s to  th e sam e per io ds  in  the pr io r y ear, in  the No tes  to In ter im  Co nd en s ed 
Con so lid ated  U naud ited Fin an cial Statements b eg in n in g with ou r  q uarter en d ed  Mar ch 31 , 2 00 3.

F IN  4 6 “Co ns o lidatio n of  Variab le In ter es t Entities ” (“V IE”)  was is s ued in Janu ar y 20 0 3 to  ad dr es s  the
con so lid atio n  iss ues  aro u nd  cer tain typ es  o f  entities , inclu d in g sp ecial pu rp os e entities  ( “SP E”) . FI N 4 6 req uires a
v ar iable interest en tity  to  b e con so lid ated  if  th e co mp any ’s  variab le in ter es t ( i.e., inv es tment in  the en tity)  w ill abs o rb  a
m ajor ity  o f the entity ’s  ex pected lo s ses an d /o r r es id ual r etu rn s if  th ey  occu r. FI N 4 6 is  ap plicable im m ed iately to  an y
V IE f or m ed  af ter Jan uary  31 , 20 0 3 an d  m us t b e ap p lied  b eginn ing  J uly  1 , 2 00 3 to  an y s uch en tity created  befo r e
F eb ru ar y  1 , 2 00 3.  W e do  no t ex p ect the imp lem en tatio n o f FI N  4 6 to  have a mater ial eff ect o n ou r  f in an cial p os itio n  o r
r es ults  of  o p er atio n s.
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In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities,” which amends and clarifies accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under Statement 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”  SFAS 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after
June 30, 2003. We are in the process of evaluating any effects of this new statement.

I n May 2 00 3, th e FA S B is s ued SF A S 15 0 , “A cco un tin g fo r Cer tain Finan cial In stru m en ts  with 
Characteristics  o f Both Liabilities and  Equ ity ,” wh ich estab lis hes s tand ard s fo r  h ow  an  iss u er  clas sifies an d  m easu r es 
cer tain  finan cial in stru m en ts  w ith  ch ar acter is tics of  b o th  liab ilities  an d eq uity.  S FA S 15 0  is eff ectiv e fo r  f in an cial
ins tr um ents enter ed  in to  or  m od ified  af ter May  3 1 , 20 03 , and  otherw ise is  eff ectiv e at th e b eg in n in g of  th e f ir st in terim 
p er io d b eg in n in g af ter  J u ne 1 5, 20 03 .  It is  to b e im plemented by  r epo rting  the cu mu lativ e eff ect o f a chang e in an 
accou nting  p r in ciple f or  financial in stru men ts  cr eated b ef or e the is su an ce date of  th e Statement an d still ex is ting  at th e
b eg in nin g of  th e in ter im  period  of  ad op tion .  We do  n ot ex pect th at th e ado ptio n  o f this statemen t will have an  imp act
o n ou r r es ults of  o p er ation s an d  f in ancial p os ition .

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The p rep ar ation  o f f in an cial statemen ts  in con fo r mity  w ith  acco un tin g pr incip les  g en erally accep ted  in the
U nited S tates  r eq uir es  u s  to mak e es tim ates  an d ass um ption s that af f ect the r ep o rted  am ou nts  o f ass ets and  liab ilities 
and  d is clo su r e of  co ntin g en t as s ets and  liab ilities  at the d ate o f the f inancial s tatem en ts  an d the r ep o rted  am ou nts  o f
r ev en ues  and  ex pens es du r in g th e r ep o rtin g p er io d .  Critical acco un tin g p olicies  are th os e p olicies  that are bo th 
imp or tan t to  th e po r tr ay al of  o u r fin an cial co nd ition  an d res ults  o f  o per atio ns , and  th ey  r equ ir e o ur  m o st d iff icult,
s ub jective o r  com plex ju d gm en ts , o ften as  a resu lt of  th e need to  m ake es timates  abo u t th e eff ect o f matters  th at ar e
inh er en tly  u n certain .  W e b eliev e th e p olicies  an d es tim ates  describ ed  b elo w relatin g  to in tan gib le ass ets , equ ity
ins tr um ents iss ued to cu s to mers , and  deferr ed in com e tax es  ar e ou r critical acco un tin g po licies.

Discussion with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.  In determining which of our accounting
policies warranted disclosure as critical in nature, our senior financial management team prepared an analysis of our
accounting policies and reviewed the policies in detail with our Audit Committee.  After discussing the level of
management judgment required to comply with our accounting policies, we agreed with the Audit Committee that
the following accounting policies are deemed to be critical in nature and should be disclosed as such.

Accounting for Goodwill.  Over the past several years, we have acquired a number of businesses and the
electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America, which resulted in significant goodwill balances.  As of
June 30, 2003, the balance of goodwill on our balance sheet totaled $523.2 million and is spread across our three
business segments as follows:

� Electronic Commerce of $503.7 million;
� Software of $8.1 million; and
� Investment Services of $11.4 million.

Upon adoption of SFAS 142, we were required to perform a transitional impairment test related to our
goodwill balances.  We performed the test as of July 1, 2002.  The impairment test requires us to (1) identify our
various reporting units, (2) determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by assigning assets and liabilities,
including existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units, and (3) determine the fair value of each
reporting unit.  If we determine that the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, additional testing is
required to see if the goodwill carried on the balance sheet is impaired.  Depending on the nature of the non-
goodwill intangible asset in question, we will prepare a SFAS 86 analysis to test the recoverability of capitalized
software, or a SFAS 144 analysis to test the recoverability of other non-goodwill intangible assets.  Any resulting
impairments from the non-goodwill intangible tests would be applied to the fair value balance sheet.  Then, the
amount of any goodwill impairment is determined through an analysis similar to that of a purchase price allocation,
where the fair value of each of the tangible and intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and liabilities is compared to
the fair value of the reporting unit.  The fair value of goodwill is estimated using the residual method and compared
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to the carrying value of goodwill.  The amount of the goodwill impairment was equal to the carrying amount less the
fair value of goodwill.

We determined two of our reporting units to correlate directly with our Electronic Commerce and our
Investment Services business segments.  Although our i-Solutions Software reporting unit has the same operating
characteristics of our other Software reporting unit, because it is a fairly new product and therefore not as mature as
our other Software units, we split our software segment into two reporting units, i-Solutions Software and
CFACS/ACH Software.

We applied significant judgment in determining the fair value of each of our reporting units as such an
analysis includes projections of expected future cash flow related specifically to the reporting unit.  Our projections
included, but were not limited to, expectations of product sales and related revenues, cost of sales, and other
operating expenses supporting the reporting unit five years into the future.  Additionally, we estimated terminal
values for the reporting units, which represented the present value of future cash flow beyond the five-year period.
Finally, we assumed a discount rate that we believed fairly represented the risk-free rate and a risk premium
appropriate for the reporting unit.  Upon completion of this analysis, only one reporting unit, i-Solutions Software,
had a carrying value exceeding its fair value.  This indicated the possibility of goodwill impairment within the i-
Solutions Software reporting unit.  For our Electronic Commerce, Investment Services, and ACH/CFACS Software
reporting units, we determined that a 10% fluctuation in our underlying value drivers, either positive or negative,
would not have indicated a possible impairment in goodwill within the respective reporting unit that would have
resulted in additional transition testing.

As a result of the possible impairment of the i-Solutions reporting unit goodwill, we took the next step in
the transitional impairment test and assigned fair value to each of the individual assets and liabilities of the reporting
unit.  We applied significant judgment in determining the fair value of each identified intangible asset as such an
analysis includes projections of expected future cash flows related specifically to the intangible asset.  The fair value
of the i-Solutions reporting unit was estimated using a combination of the cost, market, and income approaches.
Specifically, the discounted cash flow and market multiples methodologies were utilized to determine the fair value
of the reporting unit by estimating the present value of future cash flows of the reporting unit along with reviewing
revenue and earnings multiples for comparable publicly traded companies and applying these to the reporting unit’s
projected cash flows.  Fair value of each of the assigned assets and liabilities was determined using either a cost,
market or income approach, as appropriate, for each individual asset or liability.  Upon completion of the analysis,
we determined the goodwill associated with the i-Solutions Software reporting unit to be impaired by $2.9 million
and we recorded this charge as a cumulative effect of an accounting change in the three-month period ended
September 30, 2002.  We performed a sensitivity analysis and determined that a 10% decrease in the underlying
estimates driving the fair value of intangible assets would have increased the impairment charge to approximately
$4.2 million.  An increase of 10% in the underlying estimates driving the fair value of intangible assets would have
decreased the impairment charge to approximately $2.1 million.

We completed our annual test for impairment of goodwill effective April 30, 2003.  We used the same
methodology in the annual test as we did in the prior transition review.  Our initial testing again resulted in our
Electronic Commerce, Investment Services, ACH/CFACS reporting units passing the original tests, but we noted
another indicator of possible impairment with our remaining i-Solutions goodwill balance.  Upon completion of our
analysis, we determined our i-Solutions goodwill balance to be impaired by $6.0 million, which we recorded in the
quarter ended June 30, 2003.  A 10% positive or negative change in our estimated revenues would have had a
$750,000 impact on the amount of the ultimate impairment charge.

Intangible Assets Exclusive of Goodwill.  Over the past several years, we have acquired a number of
businesses and the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America, which resulted in significant non-
goodwill related intangible assets.  As of June 30, 2003, the balance of such intangible assets on our balance sheet
totaled $411.6 million and is spread across our three business segments as follows:
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� Electronic Commerce of $404.1 million;
� Software of $4.6 million; and
� Investment Services of $2.9 million.

We adopted SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” on July 1,
2002, which replaced SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets
to Be Disposed Of” among other authoritative standards.

During the year ended June 30, 2003, there were no events that provided a reason to believe any of our
non-goodwill related intangible assets were impaired.  However, our annual test for the impairment of goodwill
caused us to perform additional procedures to test the recoverability of intangible assets within our i-Solutions
reporting unit.  We first tested for the recoverability of our capitalized software.  Per the terms of SFAS 86,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed,” we compared the
undiscounted net realizable value for projected i-Solutions sales for the period representing the remaining useful life
of the capitalized software intangible asset.  Because the undiscounted net realizable value exceeded the carrying
value of the asset, no impairment was indicated.  We then tested for impairment of all intangible assets other than
goodwill and capitalized software under the terms of SFAS 144.  The undiscounted cash flows from our i-Solutions
projections was lower than the carrying value of our intangible assets and, as a result, we recorded a charge of $4.2
million to write down to fair value our customer base asset, which was the only remaining intangible asset.  A 10%
swing in our cash flow projections, either up or down, would not have materially impacted the amount of the charge
that we recorded.

Through June 30, 2002, we evaluated our intangible assets for impairment whenever indicators of
impairment existed.  SFAS 121 required that if the sum of the future cash flows expected to result from a company’s
asset, undiscounted and without interest charges, is less than the reported value of the asset, impairment must be
recognized in the financial statements.  The amount of impairment to recognize is calculated by subtracting the fair
value of the asset from the reported value of the asset.

In our Software segment, we reviewed our i-Solutions intangible assets for impairment during the quarter
ended December 31, 2001, due to a trend in lower than expected license sales during the extended recessionary
economy.  We determined that the book value of intangible assets within i-Solutions exceeded the undiscounted sum
of the expected future cash flows from the assets related to the i-Solutions business unit, which indicated that the
intangible assets were impaired.  The actual amount of impairment was then determined by subtracting the fair value
of the expected cash flows from the i-Solutions business unit from the related long-lived assets.  As a result, in
accordance with GAAP, we recorded an impairment charge of $107.4 million against the balance of i-Solutions
goodwill in the quarter ended December 31, 2001.  We applied judgment in developing projections of future cash
flows from our i-Solutions business.  Our projections included, but were not limited to, expectations of product sales
and related future product maintenance revenues, cost of sales, and other operating expenses supporting this
business five years into the future.  Additionally, we estimated a terminal value, which represented the present value
of future cash flow beyond the five-year period.  Finally, we assumed a discount rate that we believed fairly
represented the risk-free rate and a risk premium appropriate for this business.  Variances from our projected cash
flows, and the related terminal value, could have had a significant impact on the amount of the impairment charge
we recorded.  If we had assumed a 10% increase in our estimated annual cash flows from the i-Solutions business
unit, we would have passed the SFAS 121 undiscounted cash flow test and not recorded an impairment charge at all.
If, however, we reduced our estimated annual cash flows for the i-Solutions business unit by 10%, our impairment
charge would have increased by approximately $3.6 million.

In our Electronic Commerce segment, we reviewed our TransPoint related technology assets for
impairment during the quarter ended December 31, 2001, due to the termination of a maintenance agreement for this
technology from the last of our international partners and an evaluation of the service potential of the related
technology assets against our current and future initiatives.  We determined that there was no alternative future use
for two of the technology assets, and in accordance with GAAP, we recorded a charge of $47.7 million to retire
these assets.  The retirement of the TransPoint technology assets was an indicator of potential impairment for other
intangible assets associated with this acquisition.  SFAS 121 required us to test for impairment at the lowest level of
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separately identifiable cash flows, which we determined in this case, was our Electronic Commerce Division.  We
performed the initial impairment test by comparing the sum of expected future cash flows from the assets related to
our Electronic Commerce Division, on an undiscounted basis, to the book value of the Electronic Commerce
Division long-lived assets.  Because the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows exceeded the long-lived assets’
book value, there was no impairment.  There were several areas of management judgment used in performing this
analysis.  Initially, our projections of future cash flow from the Electronic Commerce Division required
management’s judgment regarding our expectations of future revenues, costs, and other operating expenses
supporting this business five years into the future.  Additionally, we estimated a terminal value, which represented
the present value of future cash flow beyond the five-year period.  Finally, we assumed a discount rate that we
believed fairly represented the risk-free rate and a risk premium appropriate for this business.  Variances, both
positive and negative, from our projected cash flows, and the related terminal value, would not have had a
significant impact on our analysis.   If we had assumed a 10% increase in our estimated annual cash flows from the
Electronic Commerce Division, we would have simply passed the SFAS 121 undiscounted cash flow test by a
greater margin.  If we had assumed a 10% reduction in our estimated annual cash flows we still would have passed
the undiscounted cash flow test, and therefore, still not incurred an impairment charge.

In January 2002, we announced the intent to eliminate certain of our financial planning products within our
Investment Services Division.  The elimination of those products was an indicator of potential impairment for our
long-lived assets associated with that M-Solutions business unit within our Investment Services segment.  We
determined that the lowest level of separately identifiable cash flows at which to test for impairment was our M-
Solutions business unit.  We performed the initial impairment test by comparing the sum of expected future cash
flows from the assets related to M-Solutions, on an undiscounted basis, to the book value of the M-Solutions
division’s long-lived assets.  Because the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows exceeded the long-lived assets
book value, there was no impairment.  As with our other analyses, there were several areas of management judgment
used in performing this analysis such as our projections of future cash flows from this business, the estimated
terminal value and the discount rate we used.  Variances from our projected cash flows, and the related terminal
value, would not have had a significant impact on our analysis.  If we had assumed a 10% increase on our estimated
annual cash flows from the M-Solutions business, we would have simply passed the SFAS 121 undiscounted cash
flow test by a greater margin.  Had we had assumed a 10% reduction in our estimated annual cash flows, we still
would have passed the undiscounted cash flow test and, therefore, still not incurred an impairment charge.

Equity Instruments Issued to Customers.  Within our Electronic Commerce segment, from time to time, we
have determined it appropriate to issue warrants to certain of our customers to provide an incentive for them to
achieve mutually beneficial long-term objectives.   These objectives can take the form of performance against long-
term growth targets, such as the number of the third-party’s customers that become active bill paying subscribers of
our service or the number of bills distributed electronically to the third party’s customers, or more relationship
oriented, such as simply remaining a customer at a specified future date.  Accounting standards for these types of
warrants require us to record a charge when it becomes probable that the warrants will vest.  For milestone based
warrants the amount of the charge would be the fair value of the portion of the warrants earned by the customer
based on their progress towards achieving the milestone(s) required to vest in the warrants.  At each reporting date,
we would determine the current fair value of the portion of the warrants previously earned and true-up the charges
previously recorded.  In addition, we would record a charge for the fair value of the additional portion of the
warrants earned during that period, again based on the customer’s progress towards the vesting milestones.  This
would continue until the warrants vest, at which time a final fair value is determined and the charge is adjusted
accordingly.  At the time we issued these warrants, accounting standards in place indicated that the charge for these
type warrants be recorded as an expense.  Since then, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued EITF 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration by a Vendor to a
Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).”  This guidance became effective for financial statements
issued after December 15, 2001, and is retroactively applied to existing equity instruments previously issued.  It
requires that the charge for the fair value of these types of warrants be recorded against revenue up to the cumulative
amount of revenue recognized for a customer instead of to expense as was previously the case.  Management must
use judgment in determining when the vesting of a warrant becomes probable.  As of June 30, 2003, we had 12
million unvested warrants outstanding that could potentially result in significant charges against our revenue, two
million of which expire in June 2009 and ten million of which expire in October 2010.
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Deferred Income Taxes.  As of June 30, 2003, we have $91.1 million of deferred income tax assets
recorded on our balance sheet, $41.2 million of which are recorded in the current asset section of our balance sheet,
and $49.9 million of which are netted against long-term deferred tax liabilities, in accordance with GAAP.  Deferred
income tax assets represent future tax benefits we expect to be able to apply against future taxable income, and
consist primarily of net operating loss benefits carried forward to future periods.  Our ability to utilize the deferred
tax benefits is dependent upon our ability to generate future taxable income.   SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes” requires us to record a valuation allowance against any deferred income tax benefits that we believe may
expire before we generate sufficient taxable income to use them.  If we were to record a deferred tax benefit
valuation allowance, it would have the effect of increasing our tax expense thereby decreasing our net income and
decreasing our deferred tax asset balance on our balance sheet.  We use current estimates of future taxable income to
determine whether a valuation allowance is needed.  Projecting our future taxable income requires us to use
significant judgment regarding the expected future revenues and expenses in each of our business segments.  In
addition, we must assume that tax laws will not change sufficiently enough to materially impact the expected tax
liability associated with our expected taxable income.   While our current projections indicate we will be able to
fully utilize our deferred income tax benefits, should the economic recession continue for an extended period of
time, or competitive pressures or other business risks result in a significant variance to our projected taxable income,
we could be required to record a valuation allowance up to the full value of our deferred tax asset balances.

I nf la tio n

We believe the effects of inflation have not had a significant impact on our results of operations.

Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters discussed in our Annual Report on Form
10-K include certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 which are intended to be covered by the safe harbors
created thereby.  Those statements include, but may not be limited to, all statements regarding our and
management’s intent, belief and expectations, such as statements concerning our future profitability and our
operating and growth strategy.  Investors are cautioned that all forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties including, without limitation, the factors set forth under the caption “Business — Business Risks”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other factors detailed from time to time in our filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  One or more of these factors have affected, and in the future could
affect, our businesses and financial results in the future and could cause actual results to differ materially from plans
and projections.  Although we believe that the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements contained
herein are reasonable, any of the assumptions could be inaccurate.  Therefore, there can be no assurance that the
forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K will prove to be accurate.  In light of the
significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking statements included herein, the inclusion of such
information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that our objectives and plans will
be achieved.  All forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based on information
presently available to our management.  We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

W ith th e acq u is itio n  o f Blu eG ill in A pr il 2 0 00 , w e ob tained o peratio ns  in  Can ad a and  have o p en ed  an  o ff ice
in th e U nited  K in gd o m.  A s a res ult, we h av e ass ets  and  liab ilities  ou ts ide the Un ited States th at ar e s ub ject to 
f lu ctuatio ns  in  f or eig n cur rency  exch an ge r ates.  D ue to  the early s tage of  each  o f these o p er ation s, h o wever , we
cur rently utilize th e U.S . do llar as  th e fu n ctio n al cur r en cy  fo r all intern atio n al o p er atio n s.  A s th es e o per atio ns  begin  to
g en er ate s uf f icient cash  flow  to  s atisf y fo r  their ow n cas h f lo w req uirem en ts , w e will co nv ert to  local cu rr ency as  th e
f un ctio n al cu rr en cy  in  each  r elated o peratin g un it as  ap pr op r iate.  Becau se w e u tilize th e U .S . d ollar as th e f un ction al
cur rency  and  du e to  th e imm ater ial n atu re o f  the am ou nts  inv o lv ed , o ur  econ om ic ex po s ur e fr o m flu ctuatio ns  in  f or eig n
exchang e r ates is  n o t sig nifican t en o ug h at th is  time to  eng age in f or war d fo reign  ex ch an ge an d o th er  s imilar 
ins tr um ents.
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While our international sales represented less than 2% of our revenue for the year ended June 30, 2003, we
now market, sell and license our products throughout the world.  As a result, our future revenue could be somewhat
affected by weak economic conditions in foreign markets that could reduce demand for our products.

Our exposure to interest rate risk is limited to the yield we earn on invested cash, cash equivalents and
investments and interest based revenue earned on products such as our account balance transfer business.  Our
convertible debt carries a fixed rate, as do any outstanding capital lease obligations.  Although our Investment Policy
currently prohibits the use of derivatives for trading or hedging purposes, we believe that our limited interest rate
risk currently does not warrant the use of such instruments.

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The Independent Auditors’ Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP and the Consolidated Financial Statements of
the Company as of June 30, 2003 and 2002, and for each of the years in the three year period ended June 30, 2003,
follow:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To th e Board  of  D ir ector s  and  S tockh o ld er s o f
Check Fr ee Co r po ratio n an d  S ub sid iaries:

W e have au dited  the acco m pany in g  con s olid ated balan ce s h eets  of  CheckF ree Cor po r atio n  and  s u bs id iar ies ( th e
“Co mp an y ”)  as  o f Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3 and  2 0 02 , an d  the related  con s olid ated statements  o f o peratio ns , s to ck ho lders ’  equ ity 
and  cas h  f lo w s fo r each o f th e thr ee year s in th e p er io d  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3.  O ur  au dits  also  in clud ed  th e con so lid ated 
f in an cial sch ed ule lis ted  in th e I nd ex at I tem  8 .  Th es e f in ancial s tatem en ts  an d fin an cial statement s chedu le ar e the
r es po ns ibility of  th e Co m pany ’s  manag em en t.  O ur  resp on s ib ility  is to ex p ress  an  o pin io n on  th es e f in an cial s tatemen ts 
and  f in ancial s tatem en t s ch ed ule b as ed on  o u r au d its.

W e co nd u cted  ou r au d its in acco r dance w ith aud iting  s tan dard s  g en er ally accep ted  in the U nited  S tates  o f  A mer ica.
Tho se s tan dar ds  r eq u ir e that we plan  an d per fo rm  th e au d it to  o btain  r eas on ab le as su r an ce ab ou t w heth er  th e f in an cial
s tatemen ts  ar e fr ee of  m aterial miss tatem en t.  A n  aud it in clu des ex aminin g, o n a tes t b as is , evid en ce s u pp or tin g th e
amo un ts  an d d is clos u res in th e f in an cial statemen ts .  A n  aud it also  in clu des as s es sin g th e accou n ting  p r in cip les us ed
and  s ig n if icant estimates  m ad e b y man ag em en t, as  well as  evaluating  th e o verall finan cial s tatem ent p res en tatio n.  W e
b elieve th at ou r au d its p ro vide a reaso nable b as is fo r o ur  o p in io n.

I n ou r o pinio n, s uch  con s olid ated fin an cial statements p resen t fair ly, in  all m aterial resp ects, th e fin an cial po sitio n o f
the Com p an y and  s ub s id iar ies at Ju ne 30 , 20 0 3 an d  2 00 2, an d the r es u lts o f th eir  o per atio ns  an d their  cash  f low s fo r 
each of  th e thr ee y ear s in th e p er io d  end ed  Ju ne 30 , 20 0 3, in  con fo r mity  with  acco un tin g pr incip les  g en erally  accep ted 
in th e U nited  S tates  o f A merica.  Als o, in o ur  o p in io n, su ch  co ns olidated  f in an cial s tatemen t sch ed ule, wh en  co ns id ered
in relatio n to th e b as ic co ns olidated  f in an cial s tatemen ts  taken as  a wh o le, pr esents  f airly  in all m aterial resp ects th e
inf or matio n s et f or th th erein .

A s descr ib ed  in  N ote 1  to  the co ns olidated f in an cial statemen ts , th e Com p an y ad o pted  Statem ent o f  F in an cial
A ccou nting  S tan dard s  N o. 14 2, “G oo dw ill and  Other  I ntan g ib le As sets ,” ef f ective Ju ly  1, 2 00 2 .

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
August 5, 2003
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30,
2003 2002

                                      (In thousands, except share data)

                                                           ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
     Cash and cash equivalents......................................................................................... $      209,358 $      115,009
     Investments ................................................................................................................           69,674           90,958

     Restricted investments...............................................................................................             3,000                    -
     Accounts receivable, net............................................................................................           81,626           88,030
     Prepaid expenses and other assets.............................................................................             9,708             8,355

     Deferred income taxes...............................................................................................           41,202           11,816

               Total current assets..........................................................................................         414,568         314,168

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, Net .........................................................................           94,853           95,625
OTHER ASSETS:

     Capitalized software, net ...........................................................................................           23,612           71,845
     Goodwill, net .............................................................................................................         523,231         530,758

     Strategic agreements, net...........................................................................................         395,332         519,275
     Other intangible assets, net........................................................................................             4,801           24,609

     Investments ................................................................................................................         121,615           69,788
     Restricted investments...............................................................................................                    -             3,000

     Other noncurrent assets .............................................................................................             9,258             8,409

               Total other assets .............................................................................................      1,077,849      1,227,684

                         Total assets ............................................................................................ $   1,587,270 $   1,637,477

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
     Accounts payable....................................................................................................... $          9,705 $        10,049
     Accrued liabilities......................................................................................................           59,140           54,914
     Current portion of long-term obligations..................................................................             4,894             5,054
     Deferred revenue .......................................................................................................           36,543           42,410
               Total current liabilities ....................................................................................          110,282         112,427
ACCRUED RENT AND OTHER .................................................................................              3,419             3,019
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES ....................................................................................           28,728           39,993
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS- Less current portion.................................................             4,192             3,877
CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES .............................................................         172,500         172,500
COMMITMENTS (Note 12)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
     Preferred stock- 50,000,000 authorized shares, $0.01 par value;
        no amounts issued or outstanding..........................................................................                    -                    -
     Common stock- 500,000,000 authorized shares, $0.01 par value;
        issued and outstanding 89,266,370 and 88,085,894 shares, respectively ............                893                881
     Additional paid-in-capital .........................................................................................      2,449,374      2,435,310
     Accumulated other comprehensive income..............................................................                471                    -
     Accumulated deficit...................................................................................................     (1,182,589)     (1,130,405)
     Unearned compensation ............................................................................................                    -               (125)
               Total stockholders’ equity...............................................................................      1,268,149      1,305,661
                         Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............................................. $   1,587,270 $   1,637,477
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

                     (In thousands, except  share data)
REVENUES:
     Processing and servicing ...................................................... $      476,416 $      422,237 $      362,051

     License fees...........................................................................           24,163           25,020           30,180
     Maintenance fees ..................................................................           25,733           24,298           21,332
     Other......................................................................................           25,334           18,922           19,757

                    Total revenues .......................................................         551,646         490,477         433,320

EXPENSES:
     Cost of processing, servicing and support ...........................         237,978         262,105         255,528

     Research and development...................................................           52,717           55,172           55,621
     Sales and marketing..............................................................           57,170           58,030           90,283

     General and administrative...................................................           39,030           43,687           50,474
     Depreciation and amortization .............................................         226,638         435,565         427,495

     In-process research and development ..................................                    -                    -           18,600
     Impairment of intangible assets ...........................................           10,228         155,072                    -

     Reorganization charge..........................................................             1,405           16,365                    -

                    Total expenses .......................................................         625,166      1,025,996         898,001

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS...................................................          (73,520)        (535,519)        (464,681)
OTHER:

     Interest income......................................................................             7,327             8,486           15,415
     Interest expense ....................................................................          (12,975)          (12,788)          (13,154)

     Loss on investments .............................................................            (3,228)                    -          (16,077)

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND CUMULATIVE
EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE ...........................          (82,396)        (539,821)        (478,497)

INCOME TAX BENEFIT.........................................................          (33,106)          (98,871)        (115,362)

LOSS BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF
ACCOUNTING CHANGE .................................................          (49,290)        (440,950)        (363,135)

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE.....            (2,894)                    -                    -

NET LOSS................................................................................. $       (52,184) $     (440,950) $     (363,135)

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE:
     Loss per share before cumulative effect of accounting

change ............................................................................. $           (0.56) $           (5.04) $           (4.49)
     Cumulative effect of accounting change .............................              (0.03)                    -                    -

     Net loss per common share .................................................. $           (0.59) $           (5.04) $           (4.49)

     Equivalent number of shares................................................    88,807,069    87,452,339    80,863,100
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Number of
Shares of
Common

Stock

Common
Stock at

Par

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

(In thousands, except share data)

BALANCE- JUNE 30, 2000 .....................     58,414,035 $        584 $       771,892 $                     -
 Net loss......................................................                     -               -                     -                        -
 Stock options and warrants exercised ......       1,369,885             14            22,609                        -
 Tax benefit associated with exercise
       of stock options and warrants.............                     -               -            18,623                        -
 Employee stock purchases........................            92,721               1              3,623                        -
 401(k) match .............................................            51,834               -              2,487                        -
  Issuance of common stock pursuant
       to acquisition.......................................     27,000,000           270       1,601,723                        -
 Amortization of unearned
       compensation ......................................                     -               -                     -                        -
BALANCE- JUNE 30, 2001 .....................     86,928,475           869       2,420,957                        -
 Net loss......................................................                     -               -                     -                        -
 Stock options and warrants exercised ......          808,163               9              2,964                        -
 Tax benefit associated with exercise
       of stock options and warrants.............                     -               -                 568                        -
 Employee stock purchases........................          216,369               2              4,453                        -
 401(k) match .............................................          132,887               1              3,620                        -
 Impact of warrants ....................................                     -               -              2,748                        -
 Amortization of unearned
       compensation ......................................                     -               -                     -                        -
BALANCE- JUNE 30, 2002 .....................     88,085,894           881       2,435,310                        -
 Net loss......................................................                     -               -                     -                        -
 Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
       securities, net of tax............................                     -               -                     -                    471
           Total comprehensive loss ...............
 Stock options and warrants exercised ......          532,841               5              6,942                        -
 Tax benefit associated with exercise
      of stock options and warrants..............                     -               -              1,550                        -
 Employee stock purchases........................          257,533               3              3,291                        -
 401(k) match .............................................          402,102               4              3,225                        -
 Return of restricted stock..........................           (12,000)               -                (300)                        -
 Impact of warrants ....................................                     -               -                (644)                        -
BALANCE- JUNE 30, 2003 .....................     89,266,370 $        893 $    2,449,374 $                 471
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Unearned
Compensation

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
(In thousands, except share data)

BALANCE- JUNE 30, 2000...................... $                (262)   $    (326,320) $       445,894
 Net loss ......................................................                        -         (363,135)         (363,135)
 Stock options and warrants exercised.......                        -                     -            22,623
 Tax benefit associated with exercise
       of stock options and warrants .............                        -                     -            18,623
 Employee stock purchases ........................                        -                     -              3,624
 401(k) match..............................................                        -                     -              2,487
  Issuance of common stock pursuant
       to acquisition .......................................                        -                     -       1,601,993
 Amortization of unearned
       compensation.......................................                      77                     -                   77
BALANCE- JUNE 30, 2001......................                   (185)         (689,455)       1,732,186
 Net loss ......................................................                        -         (440,950)         (440,950)
 Stock options and warrants exercised.......                        -                     -              2,973
 Tax benefit associated with exercise
       of stock options and warrants .............                        -                     -                 568
 Employee stock purchases ........................                        -                     -              4,455
 401(k) match..............................................                        -                     -              3,621
 Impact of warrants.....................................                        -                     -              2,748
 Amortization of unearned
       compensation.......................................                      60                     -                   60
BALANCE- JUNE 30, 2002......................                   (125)      (1,130,405)       1,305,661
 Net loss ......................................................                        -           (52,184)           (52,184)
 Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
       securities, net of tax.............................                        -                     -                 471
           Total comprehensive loss................           (51,713)
 Stock options and warrants exercised.......                        -                     -              6,947
 Tax benefit associated with exercise
      of stock options and warrants ..............                        -                     -              1,550
 Employee stock purchases ........................                        -                     -              3,294
 401(k) match..............................................                        -                     -              3,229
 Return of restricted stock ..........................                    125                     -                (175)
 Impact of warrants.....................................                        -                     -                (644)
BALANCE- JUNE 30, 2003...................... $                     - $   (1,182,589) $    1,268,149



CHECKFREE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

See notes to consolidated financial statements
- 58 -

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended June 30,

2003 2002 2001
                                           (In thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
     Net loss..................................................................................................... $ (52,184) $ (440,950) $ (363,135)
     Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by  (used in)
         operating activities:
     Depreciation and amortization ................................................................ 226,638 435,565 427,495
     Deferred income tax benefit.................................................................... (35,147) (99,152) (115,362)
     Impairment of intangible assets .............................................................. 10,228 155,072 -
     Impact of warrants ................................................................................... (644) 2,748 -
     Loss on investments ................................................................................ 3,228 - 16,077
     Cumulative effect of accounting change ................................................ 2,894 - -
     Net loss on disposition of property and equipment................................ 471 55 56
     Non-cash portion of reorganization charge ............................................ - 1,640 -
     Write off of in-process research and development................................. - - 18,600
     Purchases of investments - Trading ........................................................ - - (12,369)
     Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments, net - Trading ........ - - 19,029
     Change in certain assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions and
          dispositions):
          Accounts receivable ........................................................................... 6,404 788 (30,510)
          Prepaid expenses and other ................................................................ (2,604) 2,676 1,688
          Accounts payable................................................................................ (344) (9,035) 8,926
          Accrued liabilities and other .............................................................. 4,720 (1,035) 18,573
          Deferred revenue ................................................................................ (5,867) (2,503) 10,698
                    Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities................ 157,793 45,869 (234)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
    Purchase of property and software........................................................... (24,324) (21,980) (41,701)
    Proceeds from sale of assets..................................................................... 580 - 2,257
    Capitalization of software development costs ......................................... (4,296) (4,435) (4,927)
    Purchases of investments - Held-to-maturity .......................................... (38,522) (100,715) (145,997)
    Proceeds from maturities of investments - Held-to-maturity ................. 118,527 72,329 79,041
    Purchases of investments - Available-for-sale ........................................ (137,921) - -
    Proceeds from maturities of investments - Available-for-sale ............... 24,936 - -
    Purchase of other investments.................................................................. (152) (388) (1,881)
    Increase in restricted investments ............................................................ - (3,000) -
    Purchase of business, net of cash acquired.............................................. - - 96,599
    Capitalization of strategic agreement costs ............................................. - - (10,279)
                    Net cash used in investing activities........................................ (61,172) (58,189) (26,888)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
    Principal payments under capital lease and other
         long-term obligations .......................................................................... (12,212) (3,553) (3,847)
     Proceeds from stock options exercised................................................... 6,947 2,285 6,940
     Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan........................................ 2,993 3,787 4,374
     Proceeds from sale of stock and exercise of warrants............................ - 688 15,703
                    Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities................ (2,272) 3,207 23,170
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
     CASH EQUIVALENTS ......................................................................... 94,349 (9,113) (3,952)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
     Beginning of period................................................................................. 115,009 124,122 128,074
     End of period ........................................................................................... $ 209,358 $ 115,009 $ 124,122
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NOTE 1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

O rg an iza tion  -  Check F ree Cor po ratio n ( th e “Co mp an y ”)  is the p arent co mp an y  o f Ch eck Fr ee Serv ices Cor po ratio n
( “Check F ree S er vices ”) , the p rin cipal o peratin g com pany  of  th e bu sin es s.  I n Ap r il 2 0 00 , Ch eck Fr ee Serv ices chang ed 
its  n am e f ro m  Check F ree Cor po ratio n to Ch eck Fr ee Serv ices Co r po ratio n.  F ollo win g th at ch an g e, in  A ug us t 2 00 0 ,
Check Fr ee Ho lding s Cor po r atio n chang ed its n am e to Ch eck Fr ee Co rp or ation .  Ch eck Fr ee Serv ices was  o rg an ized in
1 98 1 an d  is a leadin g pr o vider o f fin an cial electro nic com mer ce p ro d ucts  an d ser vices .  S ee No te 20  f or  a des cr ip tio n of 
the Com p an y’ s  b us in ess  s egm en ts .

Princip les  o f  C on so lid at ion  -  The acco mp any in g con so lid ated  finan cial s tatem ents in clu de th e res ults  of  o per atio n s of 
the Com p an y, its wh o lly o wn ed  s u bs id iar ies, an d Check Fr ee Man ag em en t Cor p or atio n , of  wh ich the Co mp an y is th e
m ajor ity  o wn er.  All s ig n if ican t inter co m pany  tr an saction s  h av e b een eliminated .

U se o f Est ima tes -  The acco mp any in g con so lid ated  finan cial s tatem ents hav e been pr ep ared in acco r dance w ith
accou nting  p r in ciples gen er ally  accep ted in  th e U nited S tates  o f Am erica (“GA AP ”).  The p rep ar ation  o f f in an cial
s tatemen ts  in  con fo r mity  with  G A AP  r equ ir es  manag em en t to mak e es tim ates  an d as s um ption s th at af f ect th e r ep o rted 
amo un ts  of  as sets  an d liabilities an d  d is clo su re of  con tin gen t as sets an d  liabilities  at th e d ate o f th e f in ancial s tatem en ts 
and  the repo r ted am o un ts  of  r ev enu es  an d ex p en ses  d ur in g  the repo rting  p eriod .  Actu al resu lts  co uld dif fer f ro m th o se
estim ates.

Bus in es s  C omb in at io n s - F or  b us iness  co mb in ation s  that h av e b een accou nted fo r u nd er  th e pu r ch as e m etho d  o f
accou nting , the Com p an y inclu des  the resu lts  o f o peratio ns  o f  the acqu ir ed bu sin es s f ro m th e d ate o f acq uisitio n. N et
ass ets o f th e com pan ies acq uired  are reco rd ed at th eir f air v alue at the date o f  acq u is itio n . Th e exces s  o f the p ur chase
p rice o v er  th e fair  valu e o f tan gible and  id en tif iable intan g ib le n et as s ets acq uired  is in clu ded  in go o dw ill.
 
S tatemen t of  Financial A cco un tin g Stand ar ds  (“SF A S”) 14 1 , “Bu siness  Co mb ination s ,” elim in ated th e p oo lin g- of - 
inter es t m eth od  o f accou n ting  f o r bu s in es s com bin atio ns  an d r eq uires  all bu sines s co m binatio ns  in itiated  after Ju ne 30 ,
2 00 1, to  b e accou nted fo r  u sing  th e p ur ch as e m eth od .  Th er e h av e been no  acqu is ition s  com pleted s in ce J u ne 3 0 , 20 01 .
A ll p rev io us  acqu is ition s  h av e b een accou nted fo r  u sing  th e p ur ch as e m eth od .

C as h an d  C as h  Equ iv a lent s  -  The Co mp an y  con sid er s all h ig h ly  liqu id  d ebt in stru men ts  p u rchased  w ith  m atur ities  of 
thr ee m o nths  or  les s  to b e cash  eq uiv alen ts .

I nv es tment s -  The Co mp an y  h as  certain  inv es tments  in mar ketab le d eb t s ecu rities  th at ar e class if ied  as either 
availab le-f or -s ale, tr ad in g  o r held-to-m atur ity  in accor dan ce w ith  S FA S  1 15 , “Acco u ntin g  f or  Certain  I nv es tments  in
D eb t an d  Equ ity  S ecu rities.”  Th e Co m pany  b egan inv es tin g in  av ailab le-f o r- sale secu r ities d ur in g  the q u ar ter  end ed 
S ep temb er 30 , 2 00 2.  A ll new no n -collater al secu r ities p ur ch ased af ter  S eptem ber  1 , 2 00 2, h ave b een  clas sified as 
availab le- fo r -s ale.  A t J un e 30 , 2 00 2 , all inv es tments w er e class if ied  as  h eld- to- matur ity.  H eld -to- matur ity  s ecur ities 
are car r ied at am or tized  co st an d ar e adjus ted  o n ly  f or  other  than tem po r ar y declines  in fair value.  A v ailab le-f or - sale
inv es tm ents are r eco rd ed  at f air  v alu e an d chang es in  f air  v alu e ar e r eco rd ed  as  u nr ealized  gain s  and  lo ss es  in 
accum ulated o th er  co mp reh en sive in co m e, a co mp on ent o f s to ck h olders ’  equ ity .  Restricted in v es tm ents rep resen t
amo un ts  th at ar e res tr icted  as to th eir  u se in  acco rd an ce with leas ing  ar rang em ents.

The Com p an y h as  cer tain o th er  in vestm en ts  in  equ ity  and  debt secu rities that ar e acco un ted f or  u n der th e cos t m etho d .
U nd er  th e co s t meth o d of  acco un tin g, in vestm en ts  ar e car ried  at cos t and  ar e ad jus ted  o nly f or  o ther- th an- tem po rary 
d eclines  in f air value, d is tr ib u tion s  o f ear ning s  and  ad ditio nal in v es tm ents.  The Co mp an y p er io d ically  ev alu ates 
w heth er  an y d eclines  in f air value o f  its  in vestm en ts  ar e oth er  than  tem p or ar y.  I n p er fo rm ing  th is  evaluatio n, the
Com pany  co ns iders  v ariou s  f acto r s in clu ding  an y d ecline in  m ark et p r ice, wh er e available, th e inv es tee's  f inancial
con ditio n, r esu lts o f op eration s , op erating  tr en d s an d o th er  financial r atios .

The Com p an y h as  r eceiv ed  eq uity  in str um en ts  in  co nn ectio n with ag reements  w ith cer tain partn er s.  I n su ch cas es , th e
Com pany ’ s in itial co st is  d eter m in ed  based o n th e estim ated f air value o f  the eq uity  in stru m en ts  receiv ed.  S ub sequ ent
chang es  in  th e fair  valu e o f th ese eq uity  in stru m en ts  ar e accou nted  fo r in acco r dance w ith the in vestmen t po licies
d es cr ib ed ab o ve.
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C on cent rat io n s of  C red it  Risk  - Finan cial in stru m en ts  th at p o tentially  s u bject the Co mp an y  to co n centr atio ns  of 
credit r is ks  con sist of  cash , in v es tm ents an d  trad e acco u nts r eceivab le.  Ex cess  cash  is  inv ested  th ro ug h  b an k s, m utu al
f un ds  an d br o kerage ho us es pr im arily  in  h ig h ly  liqu id  s ecu rities.  The Co mp an y h as  in vestmen t po licies and  p r oced ur es
that lim it an y co ncentratio n of  cr ed it risk  with  sing le is su ers .   W ith r es pect to  acco un ts  receivable, th e Com pany  do es 
n ot g en erally  r eq uir e co llateral and  believ es th at an y credit r is k is su b stan tially m itig ated by  th e natur e o f ou r cus to m er s
and  r eas on ab ly sh or t collection  term s .  The Co mp any  m ain tain s  r es er v es  f o r po ten tial cr ed it lo ss es on  cu stom er
accou nts  w hen  d eemed  n ecess ar y.

D eriv at ive Fina ncia l I ns t ru ment s  -  On  J uly  1 , 2 00 0, th e Co m pany  ad op ted  S FA S 1 33 , “Acco un tin g f or  D er ivativ e
I ns tr um ents and  H ed g in g A ctiv ities ,” as  amen ded b y SF AS  13 8, “A ccou n ting  fo r Cer tain  Derivativ e I ns tr um ents and 
Cer tain  Hedg ing  A ctivities,” wh ich  r equ ir es  th at all der iv ative f in ancial ins tr u ments  b e recog nized  as either  ass ets  o r
liabilities in th e b alan ce sh eet.  S F AS  1 33 , as amend ed , r eq u ir es  th e Co m pany  to  r eco gn ize all d erivativ es  o n  the
b alan ce sh eet at fair value. Der iv atives th at ar e n ot h edg es  mu st b e adju sted  to  f air  v alue th ro u gh  inco me.  If  the
d er iv ative is  a h ed g e, d epend in g  o n the n atu re o f  the h edg e, ch an ges  in the f air  v alu e of  d erivativ es  ar e either of f set
again st th e chang e in fair valu e o f ass ets, liab ilities , o r f ir m co m mitm ents th r ou gh  earn in g s or  reco gn ized in other 
com pr eh ens iv e incom e u ntil th e h ed ged  item is recog nized  in ear ning s . Th e ineff ectiv e p or tio n of  a deriv ativ e’s  chan ge
in fair  valu e is im m ed iately recog nized  in ear nin gs .

The Com p an y’ s  I nv es tment Po licy  cu rr ently  p r oh ib its  the us e o f deriv ativ es fo r tradin g or  h edg in g  p ur po s es .
A dd itio n ally , the Co mp an y  p er fo r ms  r eview s o f its  con tr acts and  h as  deter mined that they co n tain  no  “em b ed ded 
d er iv atives” th at r equ ir e s ep ar ate r epo rtin g  and  disclo s ur e u nd er  S F AS  1 3 3, as amend ed.  As  su ch , the ad op tio n of 
S FA S 13 3 , as  am en ded , did  n ot h ave a material im p act on  th e Com pany ’ s fin an cial po sitio n or  resu lts  o f o peratio ns .

Pro pert y  a nd  Eq uipment  -  P ro per ty  an d eq uip ment ar e stated at co st.  Pr o perty and  eq uipm en t are depr eciated  us in g
the s tr aig ht-lin e metho d o ver th e estimated u sefu l liv es  as  f o llow s:  lan d  imp ro v em en ts, b uilding  and  b uilding 
imp ro vem en ts , 1 5 to  30  y ear s; co mp uter eq uip ment, s of tw are an d fu rn itu re, 1 8 mo n th s to 7 years .  Eq uipm ent u n der
cap ital leas es is  am or tized  u sin g th e s tr aig ht-lin e metho d o ver th e les s er  o f their  es timated  u s ef ul lives o r th e ter ms  of 
the leas es .  Leas eh o ld  im pr ov em ents are amo r tized  o ver the less er  o f  the es timated  u s ef ul lives o r remaining  leas e
p er io ds .

C ap it alized S of tw are -  Capitalized  so ftwar e in clu des p ur ch ased techn olo gy  intang ib le as sets as s ociated  w ith 
acq uisitio ns  an d cap italized in ter nal d ev elo pm en t cos ts .  Pu r ch as ed  tech n olog y intan g ib les are in itially  r eco rd ed  b ased
o n th e f air v alue as cr ib ed at th e tim e of  acqu is ition .   I ntern al d evelo p ment co sts are cap italized  in accor d an ce w ith  th e
p ro visio ns  o f  either  S FA S  8 6, “A ccou n ting  f o r th e Cos ts  of  Co mp uter  So ftw ar e to  Be S o ld , Leased, or  O th erw is e
Mar keted ,” o r  S tatem en t o f Po sitio n ( “S OP ”)  98 -1 , “Acco u ntin g  f or  th e Co s ts  o f Com pu ter  S of tware Develo p ed  o r 
O btained  f or  In tern al Us e.”  Th e Com p an y deter min es  w hether s of tw ar e cos ts fall un der  the p r ov is ion s of  SF AS  86  o r
S OP  9 8- 1  and  acco un ts fo r  them as fo llo ws :

� S FAS 86  - S of tw ar e d ev elo pm en t cos ts in cu r red p rior  to  the es tablish men t of  tech no log ical feas ibility  ar e exp en sed 
as in cu r red.  S of tw are d evelo pm ent co sts in cur red  after  th e techn olo gical f easib ility  o f th e s ub ject so f tw ar e p ro du ct
h as  b een  establis hed  are capitalized  in  acco rd an ce with  SF AS  86 .  Capitalized  s o ftwar e co sts  are am or tized  o n  a
p ro du ct- by -p r od uct b as is  us in g either  the es timated  eco n om ic life o f  the pr od uct o n a s tr aig ht-line b as is ov er th ree
to five year s , or  th e cu r rent y ear  g r os s pr o du ct revenu e to the cur r en t and  anticipated  f utu re g r os s pr o du ct revenu e,
w hich ev er is  gr eater .  U n am or tized  s o ftware develop ment co sts  in ex ces s o f es tim ated  fu tu re net r ealizab le v alu e
f ro m a p ar ticular  p r od uct are w r itten  d ow n to es tim ated  net r ealizab le v alu e.

� S OP 9 8- 1  -  S of tware co sts incur r ed  in the p r elim in ary  p r oject s tage ar e ex p en sed  as in cur red .  S of tware co sts
incur red  after th e p relim in ar y p ro ject stag e is com plete, man ag em en t h as  co mm itted  to  the p r oject, an d it is 
p ro bable the so ftwar e will be u s ed  to  p er fo r m th e f un ction  in tend ed  ar e cap italized in acco r dance w ith S OP  9 8 -1 .
Cap italized s of tw ar e cos ts ar e amo rtized on  a pr o du ct-b y -p ro d uct bas is  u s in g th e estimated eco no m ic lif e o f the
p ro du ct on  a straig h t- lin e basis , gen er ally  th ree to fiv e years .  Capitalized  s o ftwar e co sts  n ot ex pected to  be
com pleted an d  p laced  in s er vice ar e w ritten  do wn  to  estim ated net r ealizab le valu e.
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G oo dw ill a nd  Ot her I nt an g ib le A s sets  -  G oo dw ill r epr es en ts th e exces s  o f the p ur chase pr ice o ver the f air  v alu e of 
n et ass ets  acqu ir ed  in  b u siness  co mb ination s  acco un ted f or  u n der th e p ur chase m eth od .   G oo d will was am o rtized on  a
s tr aigh t-lin e b as is  ov er  5 to  1 0  y ear s pr io r  to J uly 1, 20 02 .  Ef fective Ju ly  1 , 2 00 2 , go od w ill w as  n o lon ger  amo rtized.

O th er  in tang ibles  r epr es ent iden tifiable in tan gib le ass ets  p u rchased  b y the Com p an y in co nn ectio n  w ith b us in ess 
com binatio ns .  Th e cos ts  of  iden tified in tan gible ass ets  are generally  am or tized  o n a s tr aig ht-line b as is ov er perio ds 
f ro m 8 m on th s  to 10  year s .

I mp airment  o f  Lon g- Liv ed  As sets  - I n acco r dance w ith S FA S 1 44 , “A cco un tin g fo r  the Im pair m en t o r Disp o sal o f
Lon g- Liv ed  A s sets ,” (“SF A S 14 4”) , ef f ective Ju ly  1, 2 00 2 , an d  its  p r ed ecess or  S F AS  1 2 1, “Accou nting  f or  th e
I mp airm ent o f  Lon g- Liv ed  As sets  an d f or  Lon g -Liv ed As sets to  be D is p os ed  Of ,” ( “SF AS  12 1”) p rior  th er eto , lo n g- 
liv ed  as sets  ar e rev iewed  f or  im pair m en t wh enever  events  ind icate th at th eir car ry in g  amo un t m ay  no t be reco v er ab le.
I n su ch  reviews , es tim ated un dis co un ted  f utu re cash  f lo w s as s ociated  w ith  these as sets or  o p er ation s ar e com p ar ed  w ith 
their  carr yin g valu e to d eter min e if  a wr ite-d ow n  to fair value ( no r mally  m easu r ed  b y  the ex pected pr es ent v alu e
techn iq u e)  is  r eq uir ed .  Du ring  th e y ear en d ed  J u ne 3 0, 20 03 , the Co mp an y  p er fo r med a r ev iew  o f cer tain  of  its lo ng - 
liv ed  as sets , d eter m in ed  th at certain  ass ets  w er e imp air ed  an d reco r ded a charg e o f $ 4,24 5,0 00  r elated to th e
imp airm ent o f  o th er  in tan gible ass ets .  The ch ar g e is  in clud ed in  th e accom pany ing  Co ns olid ated S tatemen t of 
O peratio ns .  See No te 7 f or  a d escrip tion  o f  this  r ev iew .

Tra ns act io n Pro cess ing  -  I n co n nection  w ith  the timing  of  th e Co mp any ’s  financial tr an saction  p r oces sin g, th e
Com pany  is  ex po sed to cr edit ris k in  th e ev ent o f  n on per fo rm ance by  other  p ar ties, s u ch  as r etur n s an d charg e b acks .
The Com p an y u tilizes  cred it analys is  an d oth er  co ntro ls  to  m anage its cr edit ris k ex p os ur e.  The Co mp an y  als o 
m aintain s a r es er ve fo r f utur e r etur n s an d charg e b acks .  Th is reser ve is  inclu d ed  in  accru ed liabilities in  th e
accom pan ying  Co ns olidated  Balan ce Sh eets.

C ompreh ens iv e I ncome -  The Co mp an y  r ep or ts co m pr eh en s iv e incom e in accor dance w ith  S FA S 1 30 , “Repo rting 
Com pr eh ens iv e I ncom e.”  The S tatem en t r eq uir es  d isclo su r e of  to tal n on -s h ar eo wn er ch ang es  in  equ ity  and  its
com po nen ts .  To tal n on -s h ar eo wn er ch ang es  in  equ ity  includ e all chan ges in eq uity du r in g a p er io d  excep t tho s e
r es ultin g fr o m in ves tm en ts by  an d dis tr ib ution s to sh ar eow ner s. The co mp o nents o f oth er  com p rehen sive in co me
app licab le to  the Co mp an y  are u n realized ho lding  gain s o r lo s ses on  th e Com pany 's av ailab le- fo r- s ale secur ities . Th ere
w er e no  av ailab le-f o r- sale secu r ities  h eld d ur in g  the y ear s end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 02  an d 2 00 1.  A s a r es ult, th er e w er e n o
com po nen ts  o f  o th er  co mp r eh en siv e in com e ap p licab le to the Co mp an y d ur in g  the y ear s end in g J un e 3 0, 2 00 2  and 
2 00 1.  The Co mp an y b eg an  in vesting  in  available- f or -s ale s ecu rities  du rin g th e q uarter en ded  S ep tem ber 3 0, 2 0 02 .  Th e
g ro ss  u n realized gains  o f  $ 76 7,0 00  an d gr os s  u nr ealized  lo ss es of  $ 1 29 ,0 0 0 have been  reco rd ed net o f def er red  tax es  of 
$ 16 7,00 0 , in  th e accom pan ying  Co ns olidated S tatem en t of  Stock ho ld er s ’ Eq u ity as  a co m po nent of  accu mu lated  o ther
com pr eh ens iv e incom e.

S to ck -Ba sed C ompens a tion  -  The Co mp an y  accou n ts  f o r stock -b as ed co mp ens ation  in accor d an ce w ith  th e pr ov ision s 
o f Acco u ntin g  P rinciples  Bo ar d ( “A PB”) Op in ion  N o . 25 , “Acco u ntin g f or  S tock Is s ued to Em plo yees ,” an d r elated
inter pr etatio ns .  A cco rd ing ly , com pen sation  ex pen se is n ot r equ ir ed  to  b e r ecor d ed  w h en  s to ck op tio ns  ar e gr anted  to 
emp lo yees as  lo ng  as  the ex er cis e pr ice is n ot less  than  the fair  m ark et valu e o f th e s to ck  wh en  th e op tio n is gr an ted ,
and  in con nection  w ith  o u r As so ciate Stock P ur ch ase P lan  as lon g as  th e p ur ch as e p rice is  n o t les s th an  85 % o f th e
low er  o f  the fair  m ark et valu e at th e b eg in n in g o r en d o f each of fer  p er iod .  I n  O cto ber 19 9 5, th e Finan cial Acco un tin g
S tand ar d s Bo ard  ( “F A SB”)  is su ed  SF AS  12 3, “A ccou n ting  f o r Sto ck -Bas ed Co m pens ation .”   SF AS  12 3 allow s the
Com pany  to  co ntin ue to  f o llow  th e pr esent A P B Op inion  2 5  g uid elin es , b ut requ ir es pr o -f or ma disclos ur es  of  n et
incom e and  earn in gs  per s hare as  if the Com p an y h ad  ado p ted the p ro v is io n s of  th e Statement.   I n  D ecem b er  2 0 02 , th e
F AS B is s ued S FA S 14 8 , “A cco un tin g fo r  S to ck - Based  Com pen satio n - Tr ans ition  and  Disclos ur e -  an A mend men t of 
F AS B Statemen t No . 1 23 ,” wh ich p ro vid es  altern ative m eth od s o f tr an s itio n  f or  an  entity  that v olu ntar ily  chan ges to 
the f air  v alu e based  m eth od  o f accou n ting  f o r sto ck -b as ed em p lo yee com pen sation .  SF A S 14 8 r eq uir es  p ro m in en t
d is clos u re ab ou t th e eff ects on  repo r ted net inco me o f an en tity’ s accou n ting  p o licy  decisio ns  w ith  r es p ect to stock -
b as ed  em ploy ee co mp ens ation  and  am en d s AP B O pinio n 28 , “In ter im  F in ancial Rep or tin g,” to req uire disclo s ur e abo ut
tho se ef fects  in in ter im  financial in fo rm ation .  Th es e d is clo su re r equ ir ements b ecam e eff ectiv e f or  the Co mp any ’s  th ir d
q uarter  of  f iscal 2 0 03 .  Th e Co m pany  has co n tinu ed to  acco un t f or  s tock- b as ed  co mp en s atio n u nd er  th e pr o visio ns  o f
A PB O pin io n 2 5 us in g  the in tr in s ic v alu e metho d.
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H ad  com p en satio n co s t fo r  the Co mp an y ’s  s to ck- bas ed  com p en satio n plans  b een  d eterm in ed based  o n the f air  v alu e at
the g ran t dates  f or  aw ar d s un der  tho s e plan s  in accor dan ce w ith  the pr ov ision s o f SF A S 12 3, th e Com pany ’ s net los s
and  n et lo ss  per sh are w o uld hav e been as  f o llow s  ( in  th ou san ds , ex cep t p er  s har e data) :

Year  Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

Net loss, as reported .......................................................... $   (52,184) $  (440,950) $ (363,135)
Stock-based compensation included in net loss ...............           (175)               60              77
Stock-based compensation under SFAS 123....................      (27,764)       (35,182)      (30,826)
     Pro forma net loss......................................................... $   (80,123) $  (476,072) $ (393,884)
Pro forma net loss per share:
     Basic and diluted .......................................................... $       (0.90) $        (5.44) $       (4.87)

S to ck -R ela ted  Tra ns a ct io n s With  Th ird  Parties -  The Co mp an y  accou n ts  f o r stock  w ar r an ts  is su ed  to  thir d par ties ,
inclu din g cu s to mers , in accor dan ce w ith  the pr ov ision s o f th e Emerg ing  I s su es  Task  F o rce (“EITF”)  I ss ue  9 6- 18 ,
“Acco un tin g f or  Equ ity  I n stru men ts  Th at A re Is su ed to  O ther Than Em p lo yees fo r A cq uir in g, o r  in Con ju nctio n w ith
S elling , G oo d s or  S erv ices,” an d  EITF   01 -9 , “Accou ntin g  f or  Co ns id eratio n Given  b y a V en do r  to a Cus to m er 
( In clud ing  a Reseller of  th e Ven do r's  P ro du cts ).”  Un der  the pr ov is ion s o f EI TF  96 -1 8 , becau se n o ne o f the Co mp an y’ s 
agr eemen ts  h ave a d isincentiv e f or  n o n- perf o rm an ce, the Co mp any  r eco rd s a charg e f or  th e fair value o f the p o rtio n o f
the w ar r an ts  earn ed  fr om  th e po int in  tim e w hen v es ting  of  th e warr ants b ecom e p ro bab le.  F inal d eter min atio n  o f fair
v alue o f  the warr an ts occur s up o n actual ves ting .  EI TF  01 -9 , w hich  becam e ef fective du ring  th e q uarter  en ded  Mar ch 
3 1, 2 00 2 , req uires that the f air  v alu e ch ar g e fo r  cer tain ty p es  o f w ar ran ts  iss u ed  to  cus to m er s b e reco r ded as a red uctio n
o f reven ue to  the ex tent of  cum u lativ e reven ue r eco rd ed  fr om  th at cu stom er.

Bas ic a n d Dilut ed  Ea rn in g s (Los s ) Per S ha re -  The Co mp an y  r ep or ts Bas ic and  Dilu ted  Ear n in gs  (Los s)  Per S hare in 
accor dan ce w ith  the pr ov ision s o f SF A S 12 8 “Earn ing s Per  S har e.”  Basic ear ning s  ( lo s s)  p er  co mm o n sh ar e is
d eter min ed  b y  d iv id ing  in co me ( los s)  av ailab le to  com mo n  s har eh older s by  th e weigh ted  averag e nu m ber of  co mm o n
s hares o utstand in g.  D ilu ted per -com m on -s har e am o un ts  as su me th e is s uance o f co m mo n s to ck  f o r all p oten tially 
d ilutiv e equ ivalent sh ar es ou ts tan din g.

Foreign  Cu rrency Tra ns la t io n -  Eff ectiv e w ith th e acq u is itio n  o f Blu eG ill Tech no lo gies, I n c. o n A pr il 28 , 20 0 0,
cer tain  wh olly ow ned  s ub s id iaries of  th e Co m pany  have f o reig n  o peratio ns .  Th e f in an cial statemen ts  o f these fo reig n 
s ub sidiaries  ar e measu red  u sing  th e U .S . do llar as th e f un ction al cu rr en cy.  As s ets, liab ilities , r ev en u es  an d ex pen ses
are r em easu r ed  u s in g cu r rent an d his to rical exch an ge rates in accor dance w ith  S FA S N o. 5 2 , “F or eig n Cur rency 
Trans latio n.”  Tr an s latio n gain s  and  lo ss es  resu lting  f r om  th e r em easu r em en t p ro ces s ar e inclu d ed  in  the d eterm ination 
o f net incom e.  The net trans latio n los ses f or  th e year s  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3, 2 0 02  an d 20 01 , w er e n ot s ign if icant.

R ev en ue Reco g nition  -  I n 19 9 9, th e Secu r ities  and  Ex ch an g e Co mm iss io n  ( “S EC”) is s ued Staff  A cco un tin g Bu lletin
( “S AB”)  No . 1 01 , “Revenu e Recog n itio n  in Fin an cial Statements .” The SA B p ro vides  g uid an ce o n  the reco gn ition ,
p resentation  an d dis clos u re o f r ev en u e in  f inancial s tatem en ts filed  w ith  the S EC.  A ltho ug h  S AB No . 10 1  d oes  n ot
chang e any  o f  the ex is tin g acco u ntin g  s tand ard s o n reven ue r eco gn ition , it dr aw s  u po n  existing  r u les an d  exp lains  h o w
the S EC staf f  app lies th ese r ules, b y  analo g y, to  o th er  tr an s action s  that existing  r u les do  no t s pecifically  ad dr es s .  S A B
N o. 1 01 , as amend ed  by  S A B No . 1 01 B, became ef fective f o r th e f ou rth  q uar ter of  th e Com pany ’ s 20 0 1 fiscal year.
The ado p tion  of  S AB No . 1 01  d id  no t h av e an  im pact on  th e Co m pany ’s  resu lts  o f o peratio ns  o r  f in ancial p os ition .

� Processing and servicing - Processing and servicing revenues include revenues from transaction processing,
electronic funds transfer and monthly service fees on consumer funds transfer services.  The Company
recognizes revenue when the services are performed.

As part of processing certain types of transactions, the Company earns interest from the time money is collected
from its customers until the time payment is made to the applicable merchants.  These revenues, which are
generated from trust account balances not included on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, are included
in processing and servicing revenue and totaled $20,258,000, $25,090,000 and $30,186,000 for the years ended
June 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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� License fees - The Company recognizes revenue on software transactions in accordance with SOP 97-2,
“Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue
Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions.”  In accordance with the provisions of SOP 97-2, the
Company recognizes revenue from software license agreements when there is persuasive evidence that an
arrangement exists, the fee is fixed and determinable, collectibility is probable and the software has been
shipped, provided that no significant obligation remains under the contract.

� Maintenance fees - Upon receipt of payment, maintenance fee revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the
related contractual support period, generally 12 months.

� Other - Other revenue consists primarily of consulting and training services.  Consulting revenue is recognized
as services are performed and training revenue is recognized upon delivery of the related service.

Cus to mer s ar e b illed  in accor dan ce w ith  con tract term s.  Main tenance r ev enu e is  gener ally  b illed  on  an ann ual b as is .
The Com p an y r ecor ds  an y u nr ecog n izab le po rtion  o f  b illed  f ees  as def er red  r ev en u e un til s uch  tim e as rev en ue
r ecog nitio n is ap pr o pr iate.

Estim ated lo s ses, if  any , o n co n tr acts ar e p ro vid ed  f or  wh en  pr ob ab le. Es timated  los s  p ro vis io ns  ar e bas ed  o n  exces s 
cos ts  o v er  th e reven ues ear ned f ro m the con tract. Credit los s es , if  an y, ar e co n temp lated  in  the es tablish men t of  th e
allow an ce fo r  d ou btf ul acco un ts .

Expense Classification

� Processing, servicing and support - Processing, servicing and support costs consist primarily of data processing
costs, customer care and technical support and third party transaction fees, which consist primarily of ACH
transaction fees.

� Research and development - Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and consulting
fees paid to software engineers and product development personnel, and are reported net of applicable
capitalized development costs.

� Sales and marketing - Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and commissions of sales
employees, public relations and advertising costs, customer acquisition fees and royalties paid to distribution
partners.

� General and administrative - General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries for
administrative, executive, finance and human resource employees.

� Depreciation and amortization - Depreciation and amortization on capitalized assets is recorded on a
straight-line basis over the appropriate useful lives.

� In-process research and development - In-process research and development consists of charges resulting from
acquisitions whereby the purchase price allocated to in-process software development was based on the
determination that in-process research and development had no alternative future use after taking into
consideration the potential for usage of the software in different products, resale of the software or other internal
use.

� Impairment of intangible assets - Impairment of intangible assets consists of charges resulting from the review
of certain of the Company’s long-lived assets as described in Note 7.

� Reorganization charge -  Reorganization charge resulted from the Company’s decision in 2002 to streamline
certain of its operations as more fully described in Note 17.   Employee and other related exit costs were
accounted for in accordance with EITF 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits
and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).”  EITF 94-3 requires
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recognition of a liability for employee termination benefits and other costs directly associated with exiting an
activity at the point in time management has committed to the exit plan, informed employees of termination
benefits to be received and where the plan can be carried out without the likelihood of significant change.

A dv ertis in g C os ts  - Th e Com pan y ex pen ses adv er tis in g cos ts  as  incu rr ed  in  acco rd an ce with  SO P 93 - 7, “Rep or tin g on 
A dv er tis in g Cos ts .”  A dv ertis in g  exp ens e fo r  the year s end ed  Ju ne 3 0 , 20 0 3, 2 00 2  and  20 01  w ere $ 3 ,2 27 ,0 0 0,
$ 2,74 4,0 00  an d $2 9,9 25 ,0 0 0, r es p ectiv ely, in clud ing  $ 25 ,00 0,0 00  p ro v id ed  to  Ban k  o f A merica du rin g th e y ear end ed 
J un e 30 , 2 00 1  in co n nection  w ith  the Strateg ic A g reem en t d es cribed in No te 3.   Ad ver tising  ex pen ses ar e includ ed  in 
s ales  an d mar keting  co sts  in th e acco mp an yin g Co n so lidated  S tatem en ts of  Op er ation s.

I ncome Tax es  - Th e Com pan y acco u nts f or  inco me taxes in  acco r dance w ith S FA S 10 9 , “A cco un tin g fo r  I ncom e
Tax es ,” wh ich  r eq uir es  an  ass et an d liability ap p ro ach to fin an cial acco u ntin g and  r epo rtin g  f or  in co me taxes .  I n
accor dan ce w ith  S FA S  1 09 , d ef er r ed  in co me tax as s ets an d  liab ilities  are co mp uted an n ually f or  d iff er en ces  b etw een
the f in ancial s tatem en t and  tax  bases  o f as s ets and  liab ilities  that w ill r es ult in tax ab le or  d edu ctib le am o un ts  in  the
f utur e b as ed  on  enacted tax  law s  and  rates app licab le to  the period s  in w hich  th e dif ferences ar e exp ected  to  aff ect
tax ab le in co m e.  In com e tax  exp ens e ( benefit) is  th e tax  p ay able or  refu n dable f or  th e perio d plu s or  m inu s the chan ge
d ur in g the p eriod  in  d ef err ed  tax as s ets an d  liab ilities .

Bus in es s  S eg men ts  - Th e Com pan y repo r ts  in fo rm ation  ab ou t its  b us iness  s egm en ts in  acco rd ance with SF A S 13 1,
“Disclo s ur es  ab ou t S eg men ts  o f an En ter pr is e and  Related  I nf o rm atio n .”  The S tatem en t d ef in es ho w  o peratin g
s eg ments  are determ ined and  r eq u ir es  disclo s ur e o f certain  f inancial and  descrip tive in fo rm ation  ab ou t a com p an y’ s
o peratin g seg ments.  S ee No te 2 0  f or  th e Co m pany ’ s segm ent in fo rm ation .

R ecen t A ccou n ting  Pron ou n cement s  - O n Ju ly  20 , 2 00 1, th e FA S B is su ed SF A S 14 1, “Bus iness  Co mb in ation s” an d
S FA S 14 2 , “G o od will an d O th er  I n tang ible As s ets.” S FA S 1 41  r equ ir es  all b us in es s  com b in atio n s in itiated  af ter 
J un e 30 , 2 00 1  to be acco u nted  f o r us ing  the pu rch as e metho d o f acco u ntin g .  I n add ition , it requ ires ap p licatio n of  th e
p ro visio ns  o f  S FA S 1 42  f o r go od w ill and  o th er in tan gible ass ets  r elated to an y b us in ess  com b in ation s co m pleted af ter 
J un e 30 , 2 00 1 , bu t p rior  to  the ad op tio n date of  SF AS  1 4 2.  S FA S 14 2  chan ges th e acco un ting  fo r g oo dw ill and  other
intan gib le as sets . U po n ado ptio n , go o dw ill is no  lo ng er  su bject to amo rtization  ov er  its es tim ated us ef u l lif e. Rath er ,
g oo dw ill w ill b e su b ject to  at least an  ann u al as sess men t fo r  imp air ment by  app lying  a fair - valu e-b as ed  test. A ll o ther
acq uired  intang ib les  w ill b e sep ar ately  r eco gn ized if  th e ben ef it o f  the in tang ible ass et is  o btain ed  th ro ug h  con tr actual
o r other  leg al righ ts, o r  if th e intang ib le as set can  b e s old , tr an s ferr ed, licens ed , o r ex chang ed, r eg ard les s of  th e
Com pany ’ s in ten t to  do  s o . Other  intang ib les  w ill b e am o rtized ov er  th eir  u sefu l liv es.

S FA S 14 2  b ecame eff ectiv e f or  th e Co m pany  o n  J uly  1 , 20 0 2 an d  h ad  th e fo llo wing  im pacts :

� The Company reclassified approximately $1,350,000 million of unamortized workforce in place intangible
assets, net of the associated deferred income taxes, into goodwill.

� After the reclassification above, goodwill was no longer amortized.

� The Company performed a transitional impairment test as of July 1, 2002.  This impairment test requires
the Company to (1) identify its reporting units, (2) determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by
assigning assets and liabilities, including existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units,
and (3) determine the fair value of each reporting unit.  If the carrying value of any reporting unit exceeds
its fair value, then the amount of any goodwill impairment will be determined through a fair value analysis
of each of the assigned assets (excluding goodwill) and liabilities.

The Com p an y r ecor ded  a ch ar ge o f  $ 2,8 94 ,0 00  fo r imp airm ent o f  g oo dw ill as so ciated with its i-S olution s r ep or tin g
u nit up o n th e ado ption  o f  S FA S 1 42 .  Th is  ch ar ge is  r ef lected  as a cum ulative ef fect of  a ch an ge in  acco un tin g pr in cip le
in th e accom p an ying  Co ns o lidated  S tatem en t o f Op eration s  f or  th e year en d ed  J un e 3 0, 20 03 .  Fo llo wing  th e
trans ition al im pair m en t tes t, th e Co m pany ’s  go od w ill balan ces  are s u bject to an n ual imp airm ent tests us ing  th e same
p ro cess  descr ib ed  ab ov e.  The Co mp an y  w ill p er fo r m its ann ual evalu ation  un der the r equ ir em ents o f SF AS  14 2 as of 
A pr il 3 0 th  o f  each y ear.  Ref er  to  F o otno te 7 wh ere the resu lts  o f the Co mp an y’ s  ann u al imp air men t test ar e d is cu ss ed.
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I n Au gu s t 20 0 1, the FA SB is su ed  SF AS  14 3, “A ccou n ting  f o r As s et Retiremen t Ob lig atio n s.”  S F AS  1 4 3 ad dr ess es 
f in an cial accou ntin g  and  repo rting  f o r ob lig atio n s as so ciated  w ith the r etiremen t of  tang ib le lo n g- lived  ass ets  and  th e
ass ociated  r etiremen t co s ts .  Th e Co m pany  ad op ted  S FA S 1 43  as  o f Ju ly 1, 20 02 .  Th e ado ptio n  o f this statemen t had
n o im pact on  th e Co m pany ’ s resu lts  o f  o peratio ns  or  f in ancial p os ition  f o r th e y ear end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 .

O n Ju ly  1, 2 0 02 , th e Com p an y ad o pted  SF AS  1 4 4, “A ccou nting  f o r th e I mp air ment o r  D is p os al o f  Lon g -Liv ed 
A ss ets.”  SF A S 14 4 s up er s ed ed  S F AS  1 2 1, “Accou nting  f or  Im pairm en t o f Lo n g- Lived  A ss ets  and  fo r Lon g- Liv ed 
A ss ets to Be Disp os ed Of ” and  th e accou ntin g  and  repo rting  p r ov is io n s of  Acco un tin g P rincip les  Bo ar d (“A PB”) 
O pinion  30 , “Repo rting  Resu lts o f Op eration s  -  Repo rtin g  the Ef fects  o f D is po sal o f a S eg men t of  a Bu sin es s, an d
Extraor d in ar y , Un us u al an d In fr equ en tly  O ccu rr in g  Events  and  Tr an saction s ” fo r the d isp os al of  a segm en t o f a
b us in es s .  S F AS  1 44  ad dr ess es  f inancial acco un tin g an d r ep or tin g fo r  the im pair m en t o r disp o sal o f lo ng - lived  ass ets .
The ado p tion  of  this  s tatem en t h ad  n o  imp act o n the Com p an y’ s  r es ults of  op er ation s o r finan cial po sitio n fo r  the y ear 
end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 .

I n Ap ril 2 00 2 , th e F AS B iss ued S FA S 1 45 , “Rescis s io n of  FA SB Statem ents N o. 4 , 4 4, an d 64 , A mend m en t of  FA SB
S tatemen t No . 1 3, an d Techn ical Co rr ectio ns .” Th is statement elim in ates the cur r en t r eq uirem en t that gains  an d lo ss es
o n ex tin gu is h ment o f  d eb t m us t b e class if ied  as extraor d in ar y  items  in  th e in co m e statement.  In s tead , the s tatem en t
r eq uires  that g ains  an d los ses o n ex tin gu is h ment of  d eb t b e evalu ated ag ain st th e cr iteria in AP B O pinio n 30 ,
“Repo rting  th e Resu lts  o f  O peratio ns - Repo rting  th e Ef fects  o f  D is po s al o f  a S eg m en t o f a Bu s in es s , an d Extrao rd in ar y ,
U nu su al an d I nf requ ently  Occu rr ing  Ev en ts  an d Tr ans actio ns ” to deter mine wh ether  o r n ot it s ho uld  b e class if ied  as an
extraor d in ar y  item.  I n add itio n , th e s tatem en t con tain s  o th er co rr ectio n s to  au th or itative acco u ntin g liter atu re in  S FA S 
4 , 44  an d 64 . The ch an ges  in SF A S 14 5  r elated to  debt ex ting u is hm en t are ef fective f o r th e Com pan y’ s 20 0 3 fis cal year
and  the other  chang es wer e ef fective beginn ing  w ith  tran saction s af ter  May 15 , 2 00 2.  I n Au g us t 2 00 2, th e Co m pany 
ann ou nced th at its b oard  of  d ir ector s  h ad  au th or ized a r ep ur chase p r og ram  u nd er  wh ich  the Co mp an y  m ay  p u rchas e up 
to $4 0 m illio n of  s h ar es  of  its  co mm o n stock  and  co nv er tib le no tes.  S ho u ld  the Co mp any  p ur chase an y of  its
con vertible n otes  an d realize a gain  or  los s  o n the tran saction , SF A S 14 5  w ill r eq uir e th e Com pan y to  ev aluate th e
trans actio n again st th e criteria in A PB O pin io n 3 0 to  d eterm ine if the g ain  o r los s s ho uld b e class if ied  as an
extraor d in ar y  item.  I f class if icatio n as  an  extr ao rd in ary  item  is n ot ap pr op riate, the g ain  o r los s wo u ld  b e inclu d ed  as 
p ar t of  in co m e befo r e in com e tax es .

I n Ju ne 20 02 , the F A SB is su ed  S F AS  1 4 6, “Accou nting  f or  Co sts  A ss ociated  with  Ex it o r  D is po s al A ctivities,” w hich 
add ress es accou ntin g  f or  reor gan ization  and  similar  cos ts. S F AS  1 46  su per sedes p revio us  acco un tin g gu id ance,
p rincip ally Emerg in g  I ss u es  Tas k  F or ce (“EI TF”) 9 4- 03 , “Liab ility  Reco gn ition  f o r Cer tain  Em ploy ee Term inatio n
Ben ef its  and  Other Cos ts  to  Exit an A ctiv ity  ( In clu ding  Certain  Cos ts In cur red in a Res tr uctur in g ).” SF A S 14 6  r eq uir es 
that th e liab ility f or  co sts as s ociated  w ith  an exit or  disp o sal activ ity  b e recog nized  w hen  the liab ility  is  incur r ed . U nd er 
EITF 94 - 03 , a liability f or  an exit cos t was  r eco gn ized  at th e date of  a co mp an y 's  co mm itmen t to  an  exit p lan . SF AS 
1 46  als o  establis hes  that the liab ility  s ho u ld  in itially  b e m easu red  and  reco rd ed at fair  v alu e. Acco rd ing ly , S FA S 1 46 
m ay  aff ect th e timin g of  reco gn izing  an y fu tur e r eo rg an izatio n co sts  as w ell as  th e amo un t r ecog n ized . The p r ov is io n s
o f SF AS  14 6 are eff ectiv e f or  r eor gan izatio n  activities  in itiated  af ter D ecem ber  3 1, 20 02 .  Th e Com pany  has n ot
initiated an y  r eo rg anizatio n activ ities  s in ce th e J an uar y 1, 20 03 , ado ption  o f S FA S 1 46 .

I n No vem ber 2 00 2, th e EI TF reach ed  a co ns en s us  o n  I ss ue 00 -2 1 , “Multip le Deliver ab le Revenu e A rr ang em en ts.”
EITF 00 - 21  ad dr es ses  cer tain as p ects  of  the acco u ntin g b y a v en do r f or  ar rang em ents u nd er  w h ich it will perf o rm 
m ultiple r ev enu e- gen er ating  activities.  It also  ad dr es s es  w h en  and  ho w an ar ran gemen t in vo lving  mu ltip le deliv er ab les 
s ho uld b e div id ed  in to  s eparate un its  o f accou nting .  Th e gu idance in EI TF 00 -2 1  is eff ectiv e fo r  r ev en u e ar r an gemen ts 
enter ed  in to  in  f is cal p eriod s b eg in n in g af ter  J u ne 1 5, 20 03 , w ith ear ly  ap plication  perm itted .  Co mp an ies  m ay elect to
r ep or t the ch an ge in  acco un ting  as  a cu mu lativ e eff ect o f a chang e in accou ntin g  p rin ciple in accor dance w ith  A PB
O pinion  20 , “Acco un tin g Chang es ” and  SF AS  3 , “Rep or ting  Acco u ntin g Chang es in  I n terim  F in an cial S tatemen ts  ( an
amend men t of  AP B Op inion  No . 28 ) .”  The Com p an y b elieves  that its  cu rr en t accou n ting  is  con s is ten t with  th e
p ro visio ns  o f  EITF 0 0- 21  an d, th er ef o re, ex p ects  no  imp act o n  its  r esu lts  o f op eratio ns  o r f in an cial po s itio n .

I n No vem ber 2 00 2, F A SB I n terp retatio n  N o. 4 5 , “G u ar an to r ’s  A cco un tin g an d  D is clo su re Requ ir ements  f or 
G uarantees , I nclu din g In d ir ect G uaran tees  o f  I nd ebted nes s of  Others ,” (“F IN  4 5”)  w as  is su ed .   Th is  interp retatio n
elabo rates  o n  the d isclo s ur es  to  b e m ad e by  a gu arantor  in  its in ter im  an d an nu al fin an cial statements abo ut its
o blig ation s u nd er  certain  g uaran tees  th at it h as  is su ed .  It also  clar if ies  that a g u ar an to r  is r eq uired  to r ecog nize, at the
incep tio n of  a gu ar antee, a liab ility  f or  th e fair valu e o f the o bligatio n un der taken  in is s uing  th e gu arantee.  Th e
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d is clos u re r equ ir em ents o f FI N 4 5 ar e eff ectiv e f or  f in ancial s tatem en ts  of  interim o r an nu al per io ds  en ding  af ter
D ecem ber  1 5, 20 02 .  Th e initial reco g nition  an d initial meas u rement pr ov ision s o f FI N  4 5 ar e app licab le on  a
p ro sp ectiv e b as is  to  g uar an tees  is su ed or  m o dified af ter  D ecemb er  3 1 , 20 0 2.

I n Decem ber 2 00 2, th e FA S B is su ed SF A S 14 8, “A cco un ting  fo r S to ck -Based Com pens ation  - Tr an s itio n  and 
D is clos u re -  an  A men dm en t o f FA S B Statement No . 1 23 ,” w h ich p ro vides  altern ativ e m eth od s of  tr an s itio n f or  an 
entity that v olun tar ily chang es  to  th e fair  valu e b as ed  meth o d of  acco un tin g fo r  s to ck- based  emp loy ee co mp en s atio n.
S FA S 14 8  r eq u ir es  p r om in ent d is clo su r e ab ou t the ef fects  o n r ep or ted  n et in co me of  an  entity ’s  acco un tin g po licy
d ecis io n s with resp ect to  s to ck - based  emp lo y ee co mp en satio n and  amen ds  A P B Op in ion  2 8 , “I nterim F in an cial
Rep or tin g,” to requ ire d isclo su r e ab o ut tho s e ef f ects  in  interim fin an cial in fo r matio n.  Th ese d isclo su r e req uiremen ts 
b ecam e eff ectiv e fo r  the Co mp an y ’s  th ir d qu arter  of  f is cal 2 0 03 .  Th e Co m pany  h as co n tinu ed  to  acco un t f or  s tock- 
b as ed  co mp en s atio n u nd er  th e pr o visio ns  o f A PB O p in io n 2 5, “A ccou nting  f o r Stock  I ss u ed  to Emp lo y ees,” u sing  th e
intrins ic value m eth od .  Acco rd ing ly , the ad op tio n of  S F AS  1 4 8 had n o im p act on  th e Com pany ’ s res ults  o f  o per atio ns 
o r finan cial po sitio n fo r  the y ear  en ded Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3.

F IN  4 6 “Co ns o lidatio n of  Variab le In ter es t Entities ” (“V IE”)  was is s ued in Janu ary  2 0 03  to add res s th e con so lid atio n 
iss ues aro un d  cer tain ty p es  o f entities , in clu din g sp ecial p u rp os e entities  ( “S P E”). FI N 46  requ ires a v ar iab le interest
entity to be co ns olidated  if th e Com p an y’ s v ar iab le interest (i.e., in ves tm en t in th e entity ) will ab so r b a m ajor ity  o f the
entity’ s  exp ected  lo ss es  an d/or  resid ual retur ns  if  they  o ccu r. F IN  46  is  app licab le im mediately  to  any  VI E f or med after 
J an uary  31 , 2 00 3 an d  m us t b e ap p lied  beginn ing  J u ly  1 , 2 00 3 to an y s uch entity created befo r e Feb ru ar y 1 , 20 0 3. The
Com pany  do es  no t ex p ect the imp lem en tatio n o f FI N  4 6 to  have a mater ial eff ect o n th e Com pan y’ s f in an cial po s itio n
o r resu lts  o f  o peratio ns .

I n Ap ril 2 00 3 , th e F AS B iss ued S FA S 1 49 , “A m en dm ent o f S tatem en t 13 3  o n D er iv ative I n stru men ts  an d Hedg ing 
A ctiv ities ,” wh ich amend s  and  clar if ies  acco un tin g fo r d er iv ative in stru m en ts , inclu d in g cer tain  derivativ e ins tr um ents
emb ed ded  in o th er  co ntracts , an d  f or  hedg in g  activities  un der  S tatem en t 1 33 , “A cco un tin g fo r  D er ivative In str um en ts 
and  H ed g in g A ctiv ities .”  S FA S 1 49  is  eff ectiv e f or  con tracts  enter ed in to or  m o dified af ter  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 .  Th e
Com pany  is  in  the p r oces s  o f ev alu ating  any  ef fects  o f this n ew  s tatem en t.

I n May 2 00 3, th e FA S B is s ued SF A S 15 0 , “A cco un tin g fo r Cer tain Finan cial In stru m en ts  with  Ch ar acter is tics of  Bo th 
Liabilities and  Equ ity ,” wh ich estab lis hes s tand ard s fo r  h ow  an  iss u er  clas sifies an d  m easu r es  certain f in an cial
ins tr um ents w ith ch aracteristics  o f b oth liabilities an d  equ ity .  S F AS  1 5 0 is  ef fective f or  finan cial in stru m en ts  en tered 
into or  mo dif ied af ter  May 31 , 2 00 3, an d oth er wis e is  ef fective at the b eginn in g  o f the f ir s t in ter im  p eriod  beginn ing 
after  J u ne 1 5 , 20 03 .  It is  to b e im p lemented by  repo rting  th e cu mu lativ e eff ect o f a chang e in an acco u ntin g  p rinciple
f or  f in ancial ins tr u ments  created bef or e th e iss u an ce d ate o f  the S tatem ent and  still existing  at the b eginn ing  o f the
inter im  perio d of  ad op tio n.  Th e Com p an y do es no t exp ect that the ad op tio n of  th is  s tatem en t w ill h av e an im p act on  its
r es ults  of  o p er atio n s an d  f in an cial p os itio n .

R ecla ss ifica t io ns  -  Cer tain am o un ts  in  the pr io r y ears ’  f in an cial s tatemen ts  h ave b een  r eclas sified to  co nf or m  to the
2 00 3 pr esentation .

NOTE 2.  ACQUISITIONS

Tra ns Po int  - On  S eptem b er  1 , 2 00 0, th e Co m pany  acqu ir ed MS F DC, L.L.C. ( “Trans Po int”)  fo r a total of  $ 1.4  b illio n,
con sisting  o f  1 7,00 0 ,0 00  sh ar es  of  co mm on  s tock v alued at $1 .4 billion  an d $2  m illio n  o f acq uisitio n co s ts .   The
acq uisitio n w as  treated as a pu r ch as e f or  acco un tin g pu r po ses , an d, acco r ding ly , the as sets  an d liabilities w er e recor ded 
b as ed  o n  their fair  valu es at th e date of  th e acq uisitio n.  The v alu es  as cr ib ed  to  acqu ir ed  in tan gible ass ets  and  th eir
r es pective f u tu re lives are as f ollo w s (in tho us and s) :
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Intangible Useful
Asset Life

Goodwill ......................................................................................... $     780,545 5.0 yrs
Strategic agreements ......................................................................        495,000 5.0 yrs
Existing product technology..........................................................        209,300 3.0 yrs
Customer list ..................................................................................          29,000 3.0 yrs
Tradename......................................................................................          28,300      1.0 yr

A mo rtization  of  intang ib le as sets is  on  a s traig h t- line basis  o ver the as sets ’ r es pective u s ef ul life.  Trans Po int’s 
o peratio ns  ar e in clu ded in th e Con so lid ated  Statements o f Op eration s  f ro m  the d ate o f  acq uis itio n .

I n co nn ectio n  w ith the acqu is ition  o f  Trans Po int, the Com p an y r ecor ded  a ch ar ge o f  $ 18 .6 million  f o r pu rch as ed  in -
p ro cess  research an d  d ev elo pm en t ( “I P R& D”).  This  charg e r elated to  fo ur  tech no log ies  u nd er  develop ment th at had
n ot d em o ns tr ated techn olo gical f easib ility as of  th e tr ans actio n date.  These tech no log ies w er e Biller I nteg r atio n S ys tem 
and  Com m un ication s, Serv ice Cen ter , D eliv er y  A pp licatio n s an d  P ay men t Sy s tems  I n terf ace.   A s of  th e acq uisitio n
d ate, th e Co m pany  es timated  that thes e pr ojects w er e 80 % com p lete, that an ag gr egate of  $ 71 7 ,0 00  wo uld b e req uired
to co mp lete these f o ur  p r ojects , and  th at r evenu es wo uld  b eg in in  late 2 0 00 .  A n  after- tax r ate o f 24 % w as  u s ed  in this
analy sis .  A s  o f Ju n e 30 , 2 00 2, th es e p ro jects  w ere com p lete.

Blu eG ill - On  A p ril 2 8, 2 00 0 , th e Com pan y acq uired Blu eG ill Tech no lo gies, I n c. ( “Blu eG ill”)  f o r a to tal o f  $ 23 9.9 
m illion , con s is ting  of  4 ,71 3,73 6  s har es  o f com mo n  s to ck  valu ed at $ 2 21 .5  millio n , th e iss uan ce o f  6 37 ,7 4 6 em p lo yee
s to ck  o p tion s  v alued  at $ 18 .5  m illio n  and  $ 0 .6  m illio n o f acq uisitio n co s ts  les s  $ 0.7  m illio n of  cash  r eceiv ed fo r the
r elease of  s h ar es  p laced  in  escr ow  p er th e m er ger  agr eem en t.  The acqu is ition  w as tr eated  as  a p u rchase fo r accou nting 
p ur po ses , an d , acco r ding ly, the as sets an d liabilities w er e r ecor ded  b as ed on  th eir f air mar ket v alues at th e d ate o f th e
acq uisitio n.  The v alu es  as cr ib ed to  acqu ir ed in tan gible ass ets  and  th eir  r es pective us ef ul lives  are as  f ollow s (in 
tho us an d s) :

Intangible Useful
Asset Life

Goodwill ......................................................................................... $     191,072 5.0 yrs
Tradename......................................................................................          15,100      1.0 yr
Existing product technology..........................................................          13,700 3.7 yrs
Customer list ..................................................................................          10,600 5.0 yrs
Workforce in place.........................................................................            2,600 3.0 yrs
Covenants not to compete..............................................................            1,200      1.0 yr

A mo rtization  of  intang ib le as sets is  on  a s traig h t- line basis  o ver the as sets ' r es pective u s ef ul life. Blu eG ill’s  o p er atio n s
are includ ed  in  the Co ns o lidated  S tatem en ts  of  O p er atio n s fr o m th e d ate o f acqu isitio n.

I n co nn ectio n  w ith the acqu is ition  o f  Blu eG ill, th e Com pan y recor ded a char ge o f $ 6.9 m illion  fo r p ur ch as ed IP R&D .
This ch arg e r elated  to  f ive tech no lo g ies, w h ich h ad  n ot demo n strated  tech no lo gical o r  com mer cial feas ib ility  as  o f the
trans actio n d ate.  They w er e pr int an d ex tr actio n  techn o lo gy , d ata m an ag ement en gine tech no log y, AP I techn olo gy ,
w eb  app lication  tech no lo g ies an d  p ay m en t/OF X  tech no lo gy .  As  of  the acqu isition  date, the Co mp an y  estim ated that
these p r ojects rang ed fr o m 10 % to 50 % com plete, that an  ag gr egate o f  $ 2.1  m illio n wo u ld  b e r eq uir ed  to com plete
these f ive p r ojects , and  th at, d ep en d in g up o n th e p ro ject, p r od uct r ev en u es  w ou ld beg in  in m id -to -late 2 00 0.  A n af ter -
tax  d is cou nt rate o f  2 5% was us ed in  th is  an alys is.  As  of  J u ne 3 0, 20 02 , these pr ojects wer e co m plete.
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Pro  Forma In f orma tio n -  The u naud ited pr o  f or ma resu lts  o f o peratio ns  o f  the Co mp an y  f or  th e year en d ed  J un e 3 0,
2 00 1, as su min g th e acq uis itio ns  occu r red at th e b eg in nin g of  th e per io d are as f ollo w s (in tho us and s) :

Year Ended
June 30, 2001

Total revenues ................................................................... $      433,329
Net income (loss) .............................................................. $     (402,193)
Basic and diluted earnings per share:
     Net income (loss) per common share.......................... $           (4.80)
     Equivalent number of shares .......................................           83,797

This in f or matio n is  pr es ented  to  f acilitate mean ing fu l com par is on s to on - go in g o peratio ns  an d to  other com pan ies.  The
u naud ited pr o  f or ma am ou n ts  abo v e do  no t in clu de a ch ar g e fo r  in-p ro cess  research an d  d ev elo pm en t o f $ 18 .6  m illio n 
arising  fr om  th e Trans Po int acqu is ition  in  2 00 1.  The u naud ited pr o  f or ma in fo r mation  is  n o t neces sarily in dicativ e o f
the actu al r esu lts o f op eration s  h ad  th e tr ans actio ns  o ccu rr ed at th e beg in ning  of  th e perio ds  p r es en ted , no r  s ho uld  it b e
u sed to  pr oject the Co mp any ’s  r esu lts  o f op eratio ns  f or  an y f utur e p er io d s.

NOTE 3.  STRATEGIC AGREEMENT

Eff ectiv e Octob er  1 , 2 00 0 , th e Com pan y co mp leted  a ten- y ear s tr ateg ic ag r eement with  Bank  o f  A mer ica, w h er eb y  the
Com pany  acqu ired th e electr on ic billing  and  paym ent ass ets  o f  Ban k o f Am erica an d will pr ov ide electr on ic billing  an d
p ay ment serv ices to  Bank  of  A mer ica’ s  cus to m er  b ase in exchan ge f or  ten m illion  sh ar es of  th e Co m pany ’s  co mm o n
s to ck , v alued  at ap p ro xim ately $ 25 3 m illion , and  $3 5 million  of  cas h .  O f  the cash  p o rtio n o f th e p ur ch ase p r ice, $ 2 5
m illion  was p ro vided  to h elp su p po rt an  agr eed  u p on  two  year  $4 5 million  mark eting  camp aign  by  Bank  o f A merica.
Becau se th e Com pany  co uld  n ot d irectly im pact th e s pecif ic n atu re, tim in g  o r ex ten t o f th e u se o f  the m ark eting  f un d s,
the entire $ 2 5 million  w as ex pen sed u po n co m pletion  o f the ag reem en t.  Th is  amo u nt is  inclu d ed  in  s ales  an d
m ar ketin g ex p en se in  the acco mp any in g  Con so lid ated Statement of  O per atio n s fo r the y ear  end ed Ju n e 30 , 2 00 1.

The v alu es  as cr ib ed  to  in tang ib le as s ets acq uired  as a r es ult o f th e agr eem en t and  th eir res pective u sef ul lives ar e as
f ollo ws  (in tho us an d s) :

Intangible
Asset

Useful
Life

Strategic agreement...........................................................................     $     249,424   10.0 yrs
Existing product technology.............................................................           7,659     1.5 yrs
Workforce..........................................................................................           3,173     3.0 yrs

The agr eem en t p ro vid es  f o r a rev en ue gu ar an tee o f  $ 50 0 m illio n to  th e Co m pany  o v er  th e next 10  y ear s.  Ban k o f
A merica also  has th e ability to  earn  warr an ts on  up  to 1 0 million  ad ditio nal sh ares u po n ach ievem en t of  certain 
m iles to n es  m o re f ully des cr ib ed  in  N o te 1 4.

A s a res ult o f th e agr eem en t, as  o f J un e 30 , 2 00 3  and  2 0 02 , Ban k of  Am er ica o wn ed 8.4 % an d 1 1.4% of  the Co mp any ,
r es pectively .  Th e f ollo w in g am o un ts  related  to Ban k of  Am er ica are in clu ded in  th e Com pany ’ s co n so lidated  f inancial
s tatemen ts  f o r th e p er io d s in dicated  (in th o us an d s) :

June 30,
2003 2002

Current assets:
        Accounts receivable, net.............................................................................. $     19,341 $     22,632
               Total current assets ............................................................................... $     19,341 $     22,632
Current liabilities:
        Accrued liabilities ........................................................................................ $       3,595 $          808
        Deferred revenues ........................................................................................             499             824
               Total current liabilities.......................................................................... $       4,094 $       1,632
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Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

Revenues from Bank of America:
     Processing and servicing............................................ $    86,842 $     59,313 $     42,503
     License fees ................................................................ 904               40          1,187
     Maintenance fees........................................................ 641             521             460
     Other ........................................................................... 5,878             148             337
               Total revenues.................................................. $    94,265 $     60,022 $     44,487

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

Expenses paid to Bank of America:
      Cost of processing, servicing and support................ $             4 $     20,020 $     23,154
      Sales and marketing ..................................................                -                  -        25,000
               Total expenses.................................................. $             4 $     20,020 $     48,154

Rev en ues  and  acco un ts receivable r elate to all s egm en ts  of  th e Co mp any  b u t pr im arily  to  electr on ic billing  an d
p ay ment serv ices pr o vided  to Ban k of  Am er ica.  A ccr ued liabilities f or  th e year  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 , relate to
p ay ments  to b e made to  Bank  o f A merica un der  con tractual o bligation s .  A ccr ued liabilities and  co st o f p ro ces sing 
exp en ses  f or  th e year en d ed  J un e 3 0, 20 02 , r elate to reimb ur s em en ts  to  Bank  o f A merica in  co nn ectio n with a trans ition 
s er vices  agr eem en t in place w hile th e Com pan y co m pleted  th e con vers ion  o f  Ban k o f Am erica cu stom ers  to its 
p ro cess ing  p latfo rm .  Th at co nv ers io n  w as  co mp leted  d ur ing  th e year  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 02 .  Th e Co m pany  s u bleas ed 
o ff ice s pace fr om  Bank  o f  A merica fo r  two  cu stom er care facilities.  A mo u nts paid un d er  the su bleas e ag r eemen ts  are
inclu ded  in cos t of  pr ocess in g, serv icing  an d su p po rt in  the table abo ve.

NOTE 4.  INVESTMENTS

Investments consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,

2003 2002

Available-for-sale............................................................................................. $   113,624 $              -

Held-to-maturity...............................................................................................      251,851    254,074

Other investments.............................................................................................         660          3,683
Less:  amounts classified as cash equivalents.................................................     171,846        94,011
        Total investments ..................................................................................... $  194,289 $   163,746
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A va ilab le- fo r-S ale - Th e f ollo w in g is  a su m mary  o f  available- f or -s ale inv estmen t secu r ities  ( in  th ou san ds ):

Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

June 30, 2003:
   Corporate bonds......................................... $     29,718 $       228 $      (6) $    29,940
   Asset-backed securities .............................        25,480          183         (6)      25,657
   Collateralized mortgage obligations .........          1,447            18           -        1,465
   Commercial paper......................................          5,350               -           -        5,350
   U.S. Government and federal agency
      obligations...............................................        50,115          338      (116)      50,337
   Mortgage pass-through securities .............             876               -         (1)           875
   Available-for-sale investments..................      112,986          767     (129)    113,624
   Less:  amounts classified as cash
      equivalents ..............................................                 -               -            -               -
        Total available-for-sale investments.... $   112,986 $       767 $  (129) $  113,624

There w ere n o  available- f or -s ale inv estment secu r ities h eld as of  J u ne 3 0 , 20 02 .  No  sales o f av ailab le- fo r- s ale
s ecur ities  o ccu rr ed  du rin g 20 03 .

The f air  v alu e of  av ailab le-f or - sale secu rities is based  o n q uo ted m ar ket v alues .

The amo r tized  cos t and  f air  v alu e of  av ailab le-f o r- sale secu r ities at Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3, by  con tractu al m atu rity  or  r ep ricin g
d ate ar e as f ollo ws  (in tho us an d s) :

Amortized
 Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less ........................................................... $        41,069 $      41,216
Due after one year through five years....................................           71,917         72,408
       Total ................................................................................. $      112,986 $    113,624

Exp ected  m atu rities  may d if fer f ro m con tr actual m atur ities  b ecaus e d eb t iss uers  may h av e th e r ig h t to  call o r  p repay 
o blig ation s w ith or  with o ut call o r p repaym ent p enalties .

H eld- to - Ma tu rit y -  The f ollow in g  is a s um mar y of  H eld -to -Matur ity  in vestmen t secur ities  ( in  th ou san ds ):

Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

June 30, 2003:
   Corporate bonds............................................ $     28,466 $      606 $   (425) $   28,647
   Asset-backed securities ................................        21,648         238      (414)      21,472
   Commercial paper.........................................          3,550            -             -        3,550
   Certificates of deposit...................................          3,000            -             -        3,000
   U.S. Government and federal agency
      obligations..................................................        22,079         287             -      22,366
   Mortgage pass-through securities ................          8,082           73             -        8,155
   Money market funds.....................................      165,026            -             -    165,026
   Held-to-maturity investments.......................      251,851      1,204      (839)    252,216
   Less:  amounts classified as cash
      equivalents .................................................      171,846            -             -    171,846
        Total held-to-maturity investments......... $     80,005 $   1,204 $   (839) $   80,370
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Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

June 30, 2002:
   Corporate bonds............................................ $     96,951 $      490 $   (523) $   96,918
   Asset-backed securities ................................        39,142         428        (10)      39,560
   Commercial paper.........................................       15,939              -              -      15,939
   Certificates of deposit...................................          3,000              -              -        3,000
   U.S. Government and federal agency
      obligations..................................................       23,460         148              -      23,608
   Money market funds.....................................        75,582              -              -      75,582
   Held-to-maturity investments.......................     254,074      1,066      (533)    254,607
   Less:  amounts classified as cash
      equivalents .................................................        94,011 -              -      94,011
        Total held-to-maturity investments......... $   160,063 $   1,066 $   (533) $ 160,596

The f air  v alu e of  H eld -to -Matur ity  s ecu rities is  based o n qu o ted mar ket v alues.

The amo r tized  cos t and  f air  v alu e of  held -to -m atu rity  in vestm en t secur ities  at J un e 3 0, 2 00 3  b y con tr actual m atur ity  o r
r ep ricin g date ar e as fo llo ws  ( in th o us an ds ) :

Amortized
 Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less.......................................................... $        31,458 $      31,744
Due after one year through five years ..................................           48,547         48,626
        Total............................................................................... $        80,005 $      80,370

Exp ected  m atu rities  may d if fer f ro m con tr actual m atur ities  b ecaus e d eb t iss uers  may h av e th e r ig h t to  call o r  p repay 
o blig ation s w ith or  with o ut call o r p repaym ent p enalties .

O th er in vest men ts  -  O th er  in ves tm en ts  ar e accou nted fo r  u nd er  th e cos t metho d and  includ e the f ollow in g  ( in 
tho us an d s) :

June 30,
2003 2002

Common stock and warrants ......................................................... $         111 $      2,239
Convertible debenture....................................................................     -       1,000
Preferred stock................................................................................            -            98
Venture capital partnership............................................................ 549          346
        Total other investments.......................................................... $         660 $      3,683

Com mo n s to ck  an d war rants  at Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3, co ns ists of  pr ef err ed  s tock w ar rants  in a n on -p u blicly tr ad ed e- b illing 
r elated  co mp any .  Co mm on  stock and  w arr an ts  at J u ne 3 0, 20 02 , con sis ts  p r im ar ily  o f the Com p an y's  s tr ategic
inv es tm ent in  P ay men t Data Sy stems , I nc. (f o rm er ly Bills er v , In c.)  com m on  s tock, w h ich w as  w ritten o ff  in 2 00 3 d ue
to an  o ther than tem po rar y decline in  f air m ar ket v alue.  Th e r em ain der o f co mm o n sto ck  and  warr ants, co nv er tib le
d eb en tu r e an d  p refer red s to ck  in vestm en ts  ar e in  no n- pu b licly  traded  e-b illin g r elated co mp anies .   The co nv ertib le
d eb en tu r e was  con ver ted into sh ares o f co mm o n sto ck  o f a n on - pu blicly tr aded co m pany  du ring  th e y ear en d ed  J u ne
3 0, 2 00 3 , du e to th at co m pany ’s  in ab ility  to  p ay  in  acco rd an ce with  term s .  Bas ed on  th e av ailab le in fo r matio n, the
inv es tm ent in  com mo n  s to ck was d eter m in ed  to  h av e n o value, and  the Co mp any  r ed u ced its  car r ying  valu e
accor din gly.  The v entur e cap ital par tn er sh ip in v es ts  in  ear ly to  m id- stage f in ancial s olution s and  tech no lo g y
com panies.  The Com p an y h as  m ad e a co mm itmen t to  in vest $1  m illio n in th e p ar tn ers hip .  A ctu al co ntribu tio ns  ar e
m ad e at th e p oint in  tim e the p artner sh ip  id en tif ies a s pecif ic com p an y in wh ich  to inv es t.  The fair  v alu e o f other 
inv es tm ents w as  app r ox im ately  $ 6 60 ,0 0 0 an d $ 3,06 4 ,0 00  as  o f J un e 30 , 2 00 3  and  2 0 02 , r es pectively .

D ur in g the y ear s en d ed  J u ne 3 0, 20 03  an d 20 0 1, th e Co mp any  r eco rd ed  lo ss es on  certain  o f its  o th er in ves tm en ts.   N o 
los ses w er e r ecor ded  d ur ing  the year  en ded J un e 3 0, 2 00 2 .  Th e lo ss es wer e th e r es ult o f th e Com p an y's evalu ation  o f 
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any  o th er- th an- temp o rary  declin e in the v alu e of  th es e inv es tments.   In  perf or m in g this ev alu ation , th e Com p an y
con sider ed  v ariou s f acto r s in clu ding  an y decline in  m ar k et p r ice, w h er e availab le, th e inv es tee's  f inancial con d itio n,
r es ults  of  o p er atio n s, o p er atin g  tren ds  and  other  f in an cial r atio s.   Bas ed  o n these factor s , th e Com pan y recor ded a los s 
o f $3 ,2 2 8,00 0  and  $ 1 6,07 7 ,0 00  f o r th e y ears  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03  and  20 01 , r es pectively.

Pledg ed  in ves tmen ts  -  The Com p an y h as  p led ged cer tain  held - to -m atu rity  in vestm en ts  as  collater al fo r p ay men ts  d ue
u nd er  o p er ating  leas es  an d fo r a s tan db y letter o f cr ed it related  to  an o peratin g lease.  Th e to tal amo u nt o f  s ecur ities 
p ledg ed  as  co llater al at Ju ne 3 0 , 20 0 3 an d 2 00 2 w as  app r ox im ately  $ 5 ,4 38 ,00 0 an d  $ 5,8 28 ,0 00 , r es p ectively, o f  w hich 
$ 3,00 0,0 00  is  class ified  as  a r estricted in v es tm ent.  Th e op erating  leas es ex pir e at variou s  d ates th ro u gh  D ecemb er  31 ,
2 00 4.  The s tan db y letter  o f cr edit exp ir es  on  S eptem ber  3 0, 20 03 , b ut is  autom atically  r en ewable thr ou g h th e
u nd er ly ing  leas e ex p ir ation  d ate o f S ep temb er 30 , 2 00 4.

NOTE 5.  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

A ccou nts  r eceiv ab le co ns ist o f the f o llow in g  ( in  th ou san ds ):

June 30,

2003 2002

Trade accounts receivable.................................................................................... $  71,352 $  80,292

Unbilled trade accounts receivable......................................................................       7,246       4,746
Other receivables..................................................................................................       4,698       4,992

                   Total ..................................................................................................     83,296     90,030
Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts...........................................       1,670       2,000

                   Accounts receivable, net................................................................... $  81,626 $  88,030

Trade acco un ts receivable r ep res en ts  am ou nts  b illed  to cus to m er s. Revenu e is recog nized  and  cu sto mers  ar e billed
u nd er  s erv ice agr eem en ts  as  the serv ices ar e p er f or med.  U nb illed  tr ad e accou nts  r eceiv ab le resu lt pr im arily  fr om 
exten ded  p ay m en t ter ms  n o t in  ex cess  of  o ne year  on  s of tware licens e agr eem en ts . F or  so ftwar e co n tr acts , r ev enu e is 
r ecog nized  u n der th e p ro v is io ns  of  S O P 97 -2  as des cr ib ed in No te 1, an d un billed amo un ts  un der  tho se so ftw ar e
con tr acts ar e b illed  o n s pecific d ates acco r ding  to  con tractu al ter m s. O ther receivab les ar e com p rised p rimar ily of 
inter es t r eceiv ab le. The allo wan ce f o r do ub tfu l accou nts  r ep r es en ts  manag em en t's  estimate o f  u nco llectib le acco un ts 
r eceivab le.

NOTE 6.  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The com p on en ts of  p r op er ty an d equ ip m en t ar e as f ollo ws  (in tho us an d s) :

June 30,

2003 2002

Land and land improvements........................................................................... $     4,944  $     4,944

Building and building improvements ..............................................................      50,736    51,162
Computer equipment and software licenses....................................................    181,872  148,962

Furniture and equipment..................................................................................      19,838    19,830

               Total ..................................................................................................    257,390  224,898

               Less:  accumulated depreciation and amortization..........................    162,537  129,273

               Property and equipment, net............................................................. $   94,853 $   95,625

D ep reciation  ex pens e totaled $3 6 ,6 31 ,00 0, $ 3 6,43 0 ,0 00  an d $3 0 ,4 42 ,0 0 0 fo r  the y ear s end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 , 2 00 2  and 
2 00 1, r esp ectiv ely.
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NOTE 7.  GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Impairment of Intangible Assets

Check Fr ee i-S olution s
D ur in g the y ear  end ed Ju n e 30 , 2 00 2, th e Co m pany  id en tif ied cer tain  in dicator s o f po s sible imp air ment o f  its  lo ng -lived
ass ets, pr im arily  g o od will an d o th er  acqu ir ed in tan gible ass ets , related  to  its  acqu isition  of  Blu eG ill Tech no lo gies, I n c.
( cu rr en tly  r eferr ed  to  as  Check F ree i-S olution s) .  Th e m ain ind icato rs  o f  imp air ment were r ecent econ om ic co n dition s ,
accom pan ied b y in ter net- b as ed  s o ftwar e in du s tr y trend s that n eg ativ ely  im pacted  bo th  i-S olution s cur rent op er ation s, as 
w ell as  its exp ected  f utu re g ro w th  r ates.  The Co mp an y f ir st ev aluated  r eco verab ility  u nd er  th e p ro visio ns  o f  S FA S 1 21 
b y co mp aring  th e pr o jected un dis co un ted  cas h  f lo w s of  th e i-S olution s b us in es s , in clu ding  an  es timated  ter m in al v alu e,
to th e r elated carr y in g v alue o f  its  lo ng -lived ass ets.  A s a r es ult o f this co m paris on , th e Com p an y deter min ed  that the i-
S olutio n s as s ets wer e im p aired.  The am ou nt of  th e im pairm en t w as  th en  d eterm in ed by  co mp ar ing  th e es tim ated  fair 
v alue o f  the i-S olution s ass ets to th e r elated car ry in g v alue.  Th e f air v alue w as deter mined  u sin g a dis co un ted  cas h 
f lo w ap p ro ach  f or  th e net cas h f lo ws  of  the i-S olution s b us in es s  and  an  estimated  ter min al v alu e.  The as su mp tio ns 
s up po rting  th e es tim ated  cash  f low s, in clud ing  th e disco un t r ate an d  estimated ter min al v alu e, r eflect m an ag ement’s 
b es t es tim ates at th e tim e.   A s  a r esu lt o f  the fair  v alu e tes t, th e Co m pany  r eco rd ed a ch arg e r ed ucin g  the carr yin g value
o f Ch eck Fr ee i-S olution s g oo dw ill b y $ 10 7,40 5 ,0 00 . This amo un t is in clu ded  in im p airm ent o f intan g ib le as sets  in  the
Com pany ’ s Co n so lidated  S tatem en t o f O peratio ns .  Ch eckF r ee i-S olution s is in clu ded in th e Com pan y’ s So f tw ar e
b us in es s  s eg m en t.

U po n ad o ptio n  o f SF A S 14 2 , th e Com pan y perf o rm ed  a tr an s itio n al imp air men t test an d r ecor ded  a ch ar ge o f 
$ 2,89 4,0 00  f o r im pairm en t o f go o dw ill ass ociated  with  i-S olution s.  The tr an sitio nal imp air ment ch ar ge is  r ef lected  as a
cum ulative ef fect o f  a ch an ge in  acco un ting  pr in cip les in th e accom p an yin g Co ns o lidated  S tatem en t o f Op eratio ns  f or 
the y ear  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3.

D ur in g the f o ur th  q u ar ter  o f th e f is cal y ear  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3, th e Co m pany  p erf or m ed  its  an nu al im pairm en t r ev iew 
f or  g oo d will an d oth er  in tang ib le as s ets.  The con ditio ns  w h ich gav e ris e to  in dicatio ns  o f  imp air ment du rin g th e y ear
end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 02 , con tin ued to be pr es en t d ur ing  the year  en ded J un e 3 0, 2 00 3 .  A s  a r es u lt o f  its  as sess m en t, th e
Com pany  reco r ded an  ad ditio nal charg e o f $1 0 ,2 28 ,00 0, w h ich r ep resen ts  a SF AS  1 4 2 go o dw ill imp air ment o f 
$ 5,98 3,0 00  an d a SF A S 14 4  imp air ment of  o th er in tan gible ass ets  o f $ 4,24 5 ,0 00  b o th  r elated to th e Com pan y’ s i-
S olutio n s rep or ting  un it.  Th is  am ou n t is  in clud ed in  im pair m en t of  in tan gible ass ets  in th e Com p an y’ s Con so lid ated 
S tatemen t of  Op er ation s.

Tra ns Po int
D ur in g the y ear  end ed Ju n e 30 , 2 00 2, th e Co m pany  perf or m ed  a review  of  th e carr y in g v alue o f  tech no lo gy  as sets it
acq uired  as p ar t of  th e Trans Po int acqu is ition  in  S ep tem ber 2 00 0.  The r eview  w as pr o mp ted b y th e ter min atio n  o f th e
m ainten ance agr eemen t fo r  this techn o lo gy  f r om  th e last of  o u r in ter natio nal par tn er s , an d the co nclu sio ns  r eached b y
the Com p an y in ev alu atin g  the s erv ice p oten tial o f th e techn o lo gy  ag ains t o ur  p r es en t and  f u tu re in itiativ es .   A s a r es u lt
o f th e r ev iew , th e Com pan y id en tif ied  two  tech no log ies f or  w h ich th ere is  n o fu tur e u se and  reco r ded a S FA S 1 21 
charg e o f $4 7 ,6 67 ,0 0 0 to  retire th es e ass ets .  Th e ch ar g e is  in clud ed in  im pair m en t o f in tan gible ass ets  in the
Com pany ’ s Co n so lidated  S tatem en t o f O peratio ns .

The r etiremen t of  th e Trans Po int tech no lo g y as s ets no ted  ab ov e was  an ind icato r to  th e Co m pany  of  p os s ib le
imp airm ent o f  its  lo ng -lived as s ets, pr im ar ily  g o od will an d o th er  acqu ir ed in tan gible ass ets , related  to  its  acqu is ition  of 
Trans Po int.  Th e Co m pany  ev aluated  th e reco v er ab ility  o f  all its Electro n ic Com m er ce Divisio n lo n g- lived  ass ets  b y
com parin g th e p ro jected u nd is co u nted  cash  f low s o f th e d iv is ion , in clu din g an  es timated  ter m in al valu e, to  th e carr y in g
v alue o f  its  lo ng -lived ass ets.  The as su mp tio ns  su pp or tin g the estimated  cas h f lo ws , inclu d in g the estimated  ter min al
v alue, r ef lect manag em en t’s  b es t estimates at th e tim e.  The resu lt of  th is  tes t ind icated that there w as no  im pair m en t o f
the Com p an y’ s  Electr on ic Co mm er ce Div is io n lon g- liv ed  as sets .
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A s of  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 , the Co mp an y ’s  o n ly  n on - am or tizin g intan g ib le as set is go od w ill.  The ch an ges  in th e car r ying 
v alue o f  g oo d will b y  s eg m en t fo r  the year  en ded J un e 30 , 2 00 3 , were as  f o llow s ( in  th ou sand s ):

Electronic
Commerce Software

Investment
Services Total

Balance as of June 30, 2001 .............................. $ 661,308 $ 45,307 $ 13,554 $ 820,169
Amortization ...................................................... (158,053) (21,786) (2,167) (182,006)
SFAS 121 impairment loss................................ - (107,405) - (107,405)
Balance as of June 30, 2002 .............................. 503,255 16,116 11,387 530,758
Reclassification of workforce, net of tax .......... 483 867 - 1,350
Impairment loss from adoption of SFAS 142... - (2,894) - (2,894)
Fourth quarter impairment loss ......................... - (5,983) - (5,983)
Balance as of June 30, 2003 .............................. $ 503,738 $ 8,106 $ 11,387 $ 523,231

The com p on en ts of  th e Co m pany ’s  vario us  amo r tized  intan g ib le as sets  ar e as fo llo ws  ( in th ou s an ds ) :

June 30,
2003 2002

Capitalized software:
       Product technology from acquisitions and strategic agreement .......... $    166,578 $   166,578
       Internal development costs....................................................................         29,170        24,946
                Total ..............................................................................................       195,748      191,524
                Less:  accumulated amortization..................................................       172,136      119,679
                Capitalized software, net.............................................................. $      23,612 $     71,845

Strategic agreements:
       Strategic agreements.............................................................................. $    744,424 $   744,424
       Less:  accumulated amortization...........................................................       349,092      225,149
                  Strategic agreements, net ........................................................... $    395,332 $   519,275

Other intangible assets:
       Workforce(1) .......................................................................................... $               - $     11,944
       Tradenames............................................................................................         47,968        47,968
       Customer base........................................................................................         34,758        45,358
       Covenants not to compete .....................................................................           1,200          1,200
                Total ..............................................................................................         83,926      106,470
       Less:  accumulated amortization...........................................................         79,125        81,861
                Other intangible assets, net .......................................................... $        4,801 $     24,609

         (1) As of July 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS 142, the Company reclassified its workforce intangibles, net of accumulated
amortization, into goodwill.

A mo rtization  of  intang ib le as sets to taled  $ 1 90 ,0 0 7,00 0, $3 99 ,13 5,00 0  and  $3 97 ,0 5 3,00 0  f or  th e years  end ed Ju n e 30 ,
2 00 3, 2 0 02  an d 20 01 , r es p ectively.  A mo rtization  ex pens e f or  th e nex t fiv e fiscal years  is estim ated to  be as  f ollo w s (in 
tho us an d s) :

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
     2004 .................................................. $  136,112
     2005 ..................................................     125,850
     2006 ..................................................       42,526
     2007 ..................................................       25,435
     2008 ..................................................       25,309
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The Com p an y’ s  r es ults of  op er ation s f or  the year s  end ed  Ju ne 30 , 20 0 2 an d  2 00 1 d o no t r ef lect th e p ro vis io ns  of  S FA S 
1 42 .  Th e fo llo wing  table adjus ts net los s and  n et lo ss  per s hare f o r th e imp act o f the imp lem en tatio n o f SF A S 14 2 as
f ollo ws  (in tho us an d s, ex cept p er sh are d ata):

Year Ended June 30,

2003 2002 2001

Loss before cumulative effect of accounting change..... $   (49,290) $ (440,950) $ (363,135)

Cumulative effect of accounting change........................        (2,894)                 -                 -

Net loss ............................................................................      (52,184)    (440,950)    (363,135)

Add back:  goodwill amortization ..................................                 -     184,464     174,027

Adjusted net loss .............................................................  $  (52,184) $ (256,486) $ (189,108)

Basic and diluted net loss per share:
   Basic and diluted net loss per common share before

        cumulative effect of accounting change................. $       (0.56) $       (5.04) $       (4.49)
   Cumulative effect of accounting change.....................          (0.03)                 -                -

   Net loss per common share..........................................          (0.59)          (5.04)          (4.49)

   Goodwill amortization .................................................                -           2.11           2.15

   Adjusted basic and diluted net loss per share ............. $       (0.59) $       (2.93) $       (2.34)

NOTE 8.  ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The com p on en ts of  accr ued  liabilities  are as  f ollow s (in  tho u sand s) :

June 30,

2003 2002

Compensation and benefits.................................................................................. $  34,933 $  28,147
Reorganization reserve......................................................................................... 1,537       7,800

Other .....................................................................................................................     22,670     18,967

                Total ..................................................................................................... $  59,140 $  54,914

NOTE 9.  FINANCING AGREEMENTS

The Com p an y h ad  a line-o f  credit agr eem en t, wh ich  w as  term in ated by  th e Com pany  in  A u gu st 2 0 03  in  anticipatio n of 
o btainin g a n ew  lin e o f credit f acility .  Th e ag r eement, w hich carr ied  an  inter est r ate o f LIBOR plus  2 0 0 bas is  p oin ts  o r 
P rime, enabled th e Com pan y to  b o rr ow  up  to $ 30  m illio n and  co ntained  cer tain fin an cial an d o peratin g co v en an ts.  No 
amo un ts  were ou ts tan ding  un der the line at J un e 3 0, 2 00 3  and  20 02 .

I n Au gu s t 20 0 3, CheckF ree Cor po r atio n ’s  w ho lly  o w ned su b sidiaries , Check F ree Ser vices  and  Bas to gn e, In c., a
b an kr up tcy -r emo te, s pecial pu rp o se en tity  ( “Bas to gn e”) , enter ed  in to  a Master Ag r eement with  Su nTru s t Ban k,
A tlan ta, G eo r gia with res pect to  the activities o f Ch eck Fr ee Serv ices’  Electr on ic Co m merce D iv is ion .  U n der this
Mas ter A gr eem en t, S u nTru s t pr ov ides A CH  and  other  electr on ics  f un ds  tr an s fer ser vices , on  b ehalf  of  Bas to gn e in
con nection  w ith  the receipt, in v es tm ent, cu s to dy  an d tr ans mis sion  o f  s ub s cr ib er  fu nd s .  I n add ition , Su n Tr us t Ban k and 
its  aff iliates pr ov ide v ariou s d ep os it acco u nts and  inv estmen t acco u nts and  s er v ices  to  Bas to gn e.  Ch eckF ree S er v ices 
p ro vides  p ro ces sing  an d adm in is trativ e serv ices to Bas to gn e to f acilitate tr an saction s u nd er  th e Mas ter Ag r eemen t.
S un Tr us t h as  ag reed  to  p r ov id e a f acility  to  Bas to gn e to cov er  o v er dr afts occur rin g fr om  time to  tim e d ue to  tim ing 
d if feren ces b etween  tr an s miss io n  o f s ub scrib er  f u nd s an d  m ov ement o f  f un d s fr om  Bas to gn e’s  in vestmen t accou nts to
the zer o  b alance dem an d d ep os it acco u nt m ain tain ed by  Bas to gn e w ith  S un Tr u st.  In  add ition , S un Tr u st p r ov id es 
autom ated clear in gh o us e s er vices , an d  m aintain s and  p er m its Bas to gn e to u se S un Tru st’ s MasterCar d  I CA  tr an sit
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n um ber and  V I SA  b an k  iden tificatio n n um bers  to  f acilitate tr ans actio ns  in  the Master Car d an d  V IS A  s ys tem s.  The
o blig ation s o f Bas to gn e u nd er th e Mas ter  A gr eem en t to Su nTr us t are g uar an teed by  Ch eckF r ee S er v ices , w hich  has
p ledg ed  su bs tan tially all the as sets  of  its  Electro nic Com mer ce D iv ision  to  s ecu re s u ch  g uar an tee.

NOTE 10.  CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES

O n No vem ber 2 9, 1 99 9 , th e Com pan y is s ued $1 7 2,50 0 ,0 00  o f  6 .5 % con ver tible s ub or d in ated no tes  that are d u e on 
D ecem ber  1 , 2 00 6.    I nterest o n  the no tes is pay ab le o n  J un e 1  and  Decem ber 1 o f each year , com m en cing  on  J u ne 1 ,
2 00 0.   Th e n otes  m ay be co nv er ted , at th e h older ’s  o ption , into 13 .66 12  sh ar es  of  co mm on  s tock p er  $ 1,0 00  o f  n ote
v alue, and  th e Co mp any  m ay redeem th e n otes  at an y time on  o r  after  Decem ber 1, 20 02 .   A t J un e 3 0, 2 00 3 , no n e of 
the n otes had  b een con ver ted to  co mm o n stock .   I nter es t exp ens e on  th e n otes  f o r th e y ears  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 , 20 0 2
and  2 00 1 , was  $ 12 ,0 2 3,00 0 , $1 2,0 23 ,0 0 0, and  $1 2,1 19 ,0 00 , r es p ectively.  The f air  v alu e of  th e no tes  w as 
app ro xim ately  $ 17 5,4 00 ,0 0 0 an d $ 14 8,5 00 ,0 00  as  o f  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03  and  20 02 , r es pectively.

NOTE 11.  CAPITAL LEASE AND OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

The Com p an y leases cer tain eq uip ment un der cap ital leas es an d  p ur ch ases cer tain  so ftw ar e licen ses  u nd er  lo ng - term 
agr eemen ts .  Th e Co m pany  is  r eq u ir ed  to  p ay  certain  tax es, in su rance and  other exp en s es  r elated to th e leased  p ro per ty .

The f ollow in g  is a s um mar y of  p r op er ty un der  cap ital leases inclu ded  in the acco mp an y in g co n so lid ated  b alance s heets 
( in  tho u sand s ):

June 30,

2003 2002

Equipment and software licenses ......................................................................... $  17,599 $   8,122
Less:  accumulated depreciation and amortization ..............................................       7,425      5,059

                Property under capital leases, net.........................................................  $ 10,174  $  3,063

F utur e m in im u m leas e p ay m en ts  r equ ir ed by  th e cap ital leas es  an d th e n et fu tu re minim um  leas e pay ments are as 
f ollo ws  (in tho us an d s) :

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
  2004 ................................................................................................................... $    1,610
  2005 ...................................................................................................................       1,364
  2006 ...................................................................................................................          177
               Total future minimum lease payments................................................       3,151
               Less:  amount representing interest.....................................................          335
               Net future minimum lease payments .................................................. $    2,816

A dd itio n ally , the Co mp an y  h as  p u rchas ed  s of tware licens es un d er  agr eem en ts with  ex ten ded pay ment term s.  Total
amo un ts  du e u nd er  th es e agr eemen ts  ar e as  f o llow s  ( in  th ou san ds ):

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
  2004 ................................................................................................................... $    3,863
  2005 ...................................................................................................................       3,177
               Total future minimum lease payments................................................       7,040
               Less:  amount representing interest.....................................................          770
               Net future minimum payments............................................................ $    6,270
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NOTE 12.  COMMITMENTS

O pera tin g Lea ses -  The Com p an y leases o ff ice s pace an d equ ip men t un d er  o per atin g  leases .  Certain leases  con tain
r en ew al op tio ns  and  gener ally  p r ov id e that the Co mp an y s hall pay fo r  ins u rance, taxes  and  m ain ten an ce.  In  ad dition ,
cer tain  leas es in clu de r ent escalatio ns  thr o ug ho u t th e ter ms  of  the leas e.  Total ex p en se u n der all o per atin g  lease
agr eemen ts  f o r th e y ears  en ded J un e 3 0, 2 00 3 , 20 0 2 an d 2 00 1 w as  $ 23 ,91 7,0 00 , $2 7 ,9 97 ,00 0 an d  $ 26 ,51 9,00 0 ,
r es pectively .

F utur e m in im u m rental pay ments u nd er  th es e leases  are as  f ollow s (in  tho u sand s) :

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
  2004 ................................................................................................................... $     18,998
  2005 ...................................................................................................................        12,749
  2006 ...................................................................................................................        10,543
  2007 ...................................................................................................................          9,770
  2008 ...................................................................................................................          9,824
  Thereafter ..........................................................................................................        47,879
               Net future minimum lease payments .................................................. $   109,763

The Com p an y h as  p led ged cer tain  held - to -m atu rity  in vestm en ts  as  collater al fo r p ay men ts  d ue un der  o peratin g leases
and  f or  a stand by  letter  of  cred it r elated to an  op er ating  leas e.  The to tal am o un t o f secu r ities  p ledg ed at Ju ne 3 0 , 20 0 3
and  2 00 2  w as  ap pr ox imately $5 ,4 3 8,00 0  and  $ 5 ,8 28 ,00 0, r esp ectiv ely, of  w h ich $3 ,00 0,0 00  is class ified  as  a r estricted
inv es tm ent.  Th e op eratin g leas es ex p ir e at vario us  d ates th r ou gh  D ecemb er 31 , 2 00 4.  The s tan db y  letter  o f credit
exp ir es  on  S eptem ber  3 0, 20 03 , b ut is  autom atically  r en ewable thr ou g h th e u nd er lying  leas e exp ir ation  d ate o f 
S ep temb er 30 , 2 00 4.

NOTE 13.  CAPITAL STOCK

O n No vem ber 1 , 20 00 , the Co mp an y 's  s tockh old er s app ro ved  an increas e in the n um b er  o f  autho r ized  sh ar es  of  th e
Com pany  fr om  16 5,00 0 ,0 00  to  5 50 ,00 0,0 00 , co n sisting  o f 5 00 ,0 0 0,00 0 s hares  o f co m mo n s to ck , $ .0 1 p ar  v alu e,
4 8,50 0,0 00  s h ar es  o f  p ref er red s to ck , $ .0 1 p ar  v alu e, an d 1,5 00 ,0 00  sh ar es of  S eries  A Ju nio r Par ticipatin g Cum ulative
P referr ed Sto ck , $.0 1 par  v alue.  Th e p refer red s to ck  m ay be is su ed  in  o n e or  m o re s eries  an d may  b e es tab lis hed with
s uch relativ e v otin g , div id en d, redem ptio n, liqu idation , con v er sion  an d o th er  p o wers , p refer en ces , righ ts, q u alif ication s ,
lim itation s and  r es triction s as  th e Board  o f  D ir ector s m ay  d eterm in e w ith ou t fu r th er  stockh o ld er  ap pr ov al.  N o
p referr ed sh ares hav e been is su ed th r ou gh  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 .

I n Janu ary  1 9 97 , th e Com p an y’ s Board  of  D ir ector s  d eclar ed  a dividen d dis tr ib ution  o f  P refer red S hare P u rchas e
Rig hts to pr o tect its sto ck ho ld ers  in  the ev en t o f an  u n so licited  attemp t to acq uire th e Co m pany .  On  F ebr uar y 14 , 1 99 7,
the Rig h ts  w ere iss u ed  to  the Co mp an y ’s  s to ckh old er s of  reco r d, w ith  an exp ir ation  d ate o f 1 0 years .  U n til a p er so n  o r
g ro up  acqu ir es 15 % o r mo r e of  th e Co m pany ’s  Co mm o n Stock , th e Rig hts  w ill autom atically  trad e with th e s hares  o f
Com mo n S to ck .  On ly  wh en  a pers o n or  gr ou p h as  acqu ir ed  15 % o r mo re of  th e Co mp any ’s  Co mm on  Stock , will th e
Rig hts b ecom e exercisable and  s eparate certificates  iss u ed .  Pr io r to th e acq uis itio n  b y a p er so n  o r gr o up  o f  b en ef icial
o wn er sh ip of  15 % or  mo re of  the Co mp any ’s  Co mm on  Stock, th e Rig hts are r edeem ab le fo r  $ .0 01  per Rig ht at the
o ptio n o f th e Board  of  D irector s .

NOTE 14.  TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Emp lo yee Pla n s

D ur in g 1 99 5, th e Co m pany  ad op ted  the 19 95  S tock O ptio n P lan ( th e “1 9 95  P lan ”) . The o p tion s g ranted un der  the 19 95 
P lan may  b e eith er in cen tive stock  o ptio n s or  no n- statu to r y stock  o ption s.  The term s of  th e o ptio ns  gr an ted  u nd er th e
1 99 5 Plan ar e at th e s ole d is cr etion  of  a co mm ittee o f m em ber s of  th e Co m pany ’s  Bo ar d  o f Dir ecto r s, n ot to  ex ceed  ten
y ears .  Gener ally , o ptio n s vest at eith er  3 3 % or  20 % per  y ear  f ro m the d ate o f g rant.  Th e 1 99 5 P lan or iginally  p ro v id ed 
that th e Com p an y may  g ran t op tio ns  f o r no t m or e than 5,0 00 ,0 0 0 sh ar es of  co mm on  stock  to cer tain  key em p lo yees,
o ff icer s  and  directo rs .  In  N ov emb er  of  1 99 8  and  ag ain in No v em ber o f 20 0 0, the 19 95  Plan  w as am end ed  b y  a v o te o f
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the Com p an y’ s  s hareh older s to  ex tend  th e max im um  op tion  gr an ts to  n o t mo r e th an  8,00 0 ,0 00  s h ar es  an d no t m or e than
1 2,00 0,0 00  s h ar es , r es pectively .  Op tio ns  g r an ted  u nd er  th e 1 99 5 Plan ar e exercisable accor d in g to th e ter ms  of  each 
o ptio n, ho wev er , in  th e event o f  a ch an ge in  con tro l or  merg er as  d efined , th e o ptio n s sh all b eco me imm ediately 
exercis able.

I n No vem ber 2 00 2, th e Co m pany ’s  stock ho ld er s  app r ov ed  th e 20 0 2 Stock  I ncentiv e P lan ( th e “2 0 02  P lan ”) .  Un der  the
p ro visio ns  o f  the 2 0 02  P lan , th e Com p an y may  g ran t in cen tive or  n on - qu alified  s tock o ptio ns , s to ck ap pr eciation  r ig h ts 
( “S ARs”), restr icted s to ck , p er fo r mance u nits  or  p erf or man ce s h ar es  f o r no t m or e than 6 ,0 00 ,0 0 0 sh ares of  co mm o n
s to ck  to  cer tain key  emp loy ees, of ficer s an d  n on - em ploy ee dir ecto rs .  Th e ter ms  of  th e op tio ns , S ARs, r estricted sto ck ,
p er fo rm ance u nits  o r  p er f or mance s har es  g ran ted u nd er  th e 20 0 2 Plan  ar e d eter min ed  b y  a com m ittee o f th e
Com pany ’ s Bo ard  o f D ir ector s, h o wever , in  th e ev ent o f a chan ge in con tr o l as  d efined  in th e 2 00 2  P lan, th ey  sh all
b ecom e imm ed iately exercisable.  The 20 02  P lan  w ill r ep lace the Com p an y’ s  1 99 5 S to ck  Op tion  Plan  (the “1 99 5
P lan”), go in g  f or war d, ex cept th at th e 19 95  Plan  will co ntin u e to  ex is t to th e exten t that o ptio n s gr an ted  p r io r to  th e
eff ectiv e date of  th e 20 0 2 Plan  co ntinu e to  remain ou ts tan din g.  At Ju ne 30 , 20 0 3, 5 ,09 1,86 4  add ition al sh ar es ar e
availab le fo r  g rant un der  the 2 0 02  P lan .

A ll o ption s g ranted  un der  the 2 0 02  P lan  and  th e 1 99 5 Plan wer e gr an ted  at exercise p r ices  n o t les s th an  th e f air mar ket
v alue o f  the un derly in g com mo n s to ck  at the date of  g ran t.  I n th e event th at s h ar es  pu rchas ed  th ro ug h the ex er cise of 
incen tiv e sto ck  o ption s are s old  w ith in  o ne year  of  exer cise, the Co mp an y  is en titled  to a tax  d edu ctio n .  Th e tax b en ef it
o f th e d ed uctio n is  no t r ef lected in  th e co n so lid ated  s tatem ents of  op er ation s b ut is  r ef lected as an  in cr eas e in  ad ditio nal
p aid- in  capital.

The f ollow in g  tab le su mm arizes s to ck  op tion  activ ity fr o m Ju ly 1, 2 0 00  to  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 :

Year Ended
June 30, 2003 June 30, 2002 June 30, 2001

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Number of

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Number of

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Outstanding - Beginning of period ...............      8,084,673   $    34.25     7,128,141  $    36.96 6,161,785   $     30.86
Granted............................................................      1,195,168         15.89     2,818,928        22.10 2,049,049          46.71
Exercised.........................................................       (533,263)         13.01       (761,750)          3.09 (635,205)          10.92
Cancelled.........................................................    (1,510,362)         39.37    (1,100,646)        41.35 (447,488)          34.24
Outstanding - End of period ..........................     7,236,216   $    31.72     8,084,673  $    34.25 7,128,141   $     36.96

Options exercisable at end of period..............     3,972,477   $    37.79     3,122,949  $    38.84 2,588,418   $     26.40

Weighted average per-share fair value of
  options granted during the year....................   $    12.25  $    14.81   $     32.06

The f ollow in g  tab le su mm arizes inf or m atio n abo ut op tion s  o uts tand in g  at J un e 30 , 2 00 3 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
Weighted
Average

Range of Exercise Price Number
Remaining

Contractual Life
Exercise

Price Number
Exercise

Price

$  0.01 - $  15.00.........................................    2,027,724             6.7 $     12.92 969,425  $    11.70
$15.01 - $  30.00.........................................    1,847,185             8.1        18.03 645,843        19.14
$30.01 - $  60.00.........................................    2,921,417             6.5        43.48 1,963,819        44.26
$60.01 - $  90.00.........................................       107,540             6.6        77.08 61,040        77.87
$90.01 - $120.00.........................................       332,350             5.7      104.50 332,350      104.50

   7,236,216             6.9  $    31.72 3,972,477  $    37.79
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The f air  v alu e of  each  o p tion  g r an t is es tim ated  on  the date of  g ran t us ing  the Black -S ch oles  op tion - pr icing  m od el with
the f ollow in g  w eigh ted -av er ag e ass um p tion s u sed f or  g ran ts  in  the y ear s end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 , 2 00 2  and  2 0 01 ,
r es pectively : d iv id end  y ield of  0% in  all p eriod s ; ex pected v olatility  o f  9 5%, 9 8% an d 98 %; risk - fr ee in teres t rates  o f
3 .4 7%, 4 .0 0%, and  5 .62 %; an d ex p ected  liv es  of  tw o to  s even y ears .

The Com p an y agr eed to as s um e res po ns ibility  fo r the 1 99 7  and  19 98  Em ploy ee In cen tive Stock O ptio n  P lans  of 
Blu eG ill Tech no lo gies, I n c. in con ju n ctio n w ith the acq u is ition  o f Blu eG ill in A pr il 2 0 00 .  All ou tstan d in g op tio ns  were
con verted to  eq uivalen t Check Fr ee op tio ns  as  s pecif ically pr escribed  in the ass et pu r ch as e agr eem en t.  The f air  v alu e of 
the o ption s ass um ed  of  $ 1 8.5 million  was es tim ated on  th e acq uisitio n date us in g  the Black- S ch oles  op tio n pr icing 
m od el w ith  th e fo llo wing  weig hted- av erage as su mp tio ns  u s ed : d iv id en d  y ield of  0 %, ex p ected v olatility  o f  8 3%; r is k- 
f ree in ter es t r ate o f 6.6 0% and  ex pected liv es  o f  o ne h alf  to  s ev en  year s . Th e estim ated fair value o f the as su med o ptio n 
p lans  w as ad d ed  to the f air  v alu e of  Co mp an y  s to ck is su ed in  determ ining  th e pu r ch as e p rice of  Blu eG ill.

I n Ju ne 20 03 , the Co mp an y  m ad e an of f er  ( th e “Ten der Of f er ”)  to  cer tain emp lo yees to  ex ch an g e op tio ns  w ith  ex er cise
p rices g reater th an  or  eq ual to  $4 4.0 0 per s hare cu rr en tly  o u ts tand ing  u n der th e Com p an y's 1 98 3 I ncen tiv e Sto ck 
O ptio n P lan, 19 83  N o n- Statu to ry  Stock  O ptio n  P lan , 19 93  Stock  O ptio n  P lan , Th ir d  A men ded an d  Res tated  1 9 95 
S to ck  O p tion  Plan , Blu eG ill Tech no lo gies, I n c. 1 99 7  S to ck Op tio n Plan, Blu eG ill Tech no lo gies, I n c. 1 99 8  I ncentiv e
and  N on - Qu alified  S tock O ptio n P lan, an d 20 0 2 Sto ck  I ncentiv e P lan, fo r r es tr icted  s tock un its  o f  the Co mp an y 's 
Com mo n S to ck , and  in  cer tain cas es , cas h pay ments . Restr icted  s to ck  un its  iss ued  u nd er th e Ten der  O ff er  will vest
r atab ly  ov er  a th ree-y ear  p er io d .  Th e of fer  p er iod  clo s ed  o n  J uly 1 7, 2 0 03 , an d  emp loy ees h oldin g 1,16 5 ,0 35  op tion s 
p ar ticip ated  in  the Tend er Of fer .  Th e Co mp any  m ade cas h  p ay m en ts  to talin g $5 86 ,00 0 in Ju ly  20 03  repr es entin g  the
cas h co n sider atio n p or tio n of  th e Ten der Of f er  an d will is su e app ro x im ately  2 53 ,00 0 s hares o f res tr icted  s to ck un der 
the 2 00 2  S to ck In cen tive Plan  o v er  th e next th ree y ears .  Th ere w as  no  f inancial imp act to the Co mp an y r elated to  th e
Ten der O ff er  fo r th e y ear  end ed  Ju ne 30 , 20 0 3.  The Com p an y w ill recor d an ex pen se f o r cash  paym ents as  in cu r red
and  w ill r eco rd  an exp en s e fo r r es tr icted  s h ar es , s ub ject to  cancellatio n , ratab ly  o v er  the vesting  p er iod .

U nd er  th e 19 9 7 As so ciate Stock P ur ch ase P lan , ef f ective fo r the s ix - mo nth  p er io d  b eg inn in g J an uar y 1, 1 9 97 , the
Com pany  is  au th or ized to  is su e u p to  1,00 0,0 00  s h ar es  o f  Com m on  S to ck to  its fu ll- tim e em plo yees , n early  all of 
w ho m ar e elig ib le to  p ar ticip ate.  I n  N ov em b er  2 0 02 , th e Com p an y’ s s to ck h olders  ap pr o ved an  in cr eas e in  th e n um ber
o f sh ar es res er ved and  av ailable f or  sale u n der the 1 99 7  A ss o ciate S to ck  Pu rchas e Plan fr om  1,00 0 ,0 00  s h ar es  to 
2 ,0 00 ,0 0 0 sh ares.  U nd er  th e ter ms  o f  the P lan , emp lo yees can  cho os e, ev ery  s ix  mo nth s, to h av e u p to  1 5 % of  th eir
s alar y w ithh eld  to p ur ch ase the Co mp any ’s  Co mm on  Stock.  The pu rchas e pr ice o f the s tock is  85 % o f th e low er  of  its 
b eg in nin g- of - period  or  en d- of -p eriod  mark et pr ice.  P ar ticip ation  in  the plan  b y  elig ib le em ploy ees  h as  rang ed fr om 
3 0% to 5 0% in  any  g iven s ix -m on th per io d.  U nd er  th e Plan, 9 8 ,7 41  s h ar es  were is su ed  in  J uly  2 00 3 , 12 8,0 33  in 
J an uary  20 03 , 1 28 ,4 4 3 in  Ju ly  2 0 02 , 1 35 ,7 21  in  J anu ar y 2 00 2, 79 ,0 55  in  J u ly  2 00 1  and  56 ,9 01  in  J anu ar y 2 00 1 f ro m
emp lo yees’  s alary  w ith ho lding s f ro m the r es p ectiv e pr ev iou s s ix -m on th per io d.   As  o f  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03  ther e wer e
1 ,1 30 ,7 7 4 sh ares av ailab le fo r f utur e iss uan ce to  the A s so ciate S to ck Pu r ch as e P lan.  F ollo w in g is a su m mary  of  the
w eigh ted  aver ag e fair mar ket value o f  this loo k- b ack op tio n estim ated on  th e gr ant d ate u sin g th e Black - S ch oles  op tio n
p ricing  mo del, an d the r elated ass um p tion s u sed:

June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31,
2003 2002 2002 2001 2001 2000

Fair value of options..................... $7.73 $5.08 $4.17 $4.95 $9.28 $11.63
Assumptions:
   Risk-free interest rate ................ 1.2% 1.8% 4.0% 4.0% 4.4% 4.4%
   Expected life .............................. 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months
   Volatility .................................... 107.9% 71.8% 98.0% 98.0% 98.2% 98.2%
   Dividend yield ........................... 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

I n th e y ear end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 00 , the Co mp an y  iss u ed  1 3,0 00  s h ar es  o f  r es tricted  stock  to cer tain  of  its  key emp lo yees.
U nd er  th e ter ms  o f the g r an ts , f ull v es ting  of  th e sh ar es was  d ep en d en t u po n th e con tin ued emp lo y ment o f  the
emp lo yee f or  th e du r atio n  o f th e v es tin g per io d.  S hares  iss u ed  w er e r eco rd ed  at f air  m ar ket v alu e on  th e date of  th e
g rant w ith  a co rr es p on din g ch ar g e to  stockh o ld er s ’ eq uity.  The u nearn ed  po rtio n  w as  am or tized  as  com pen satio n
exp en se on  a straig h t- lin e basis  o ver  the r elated  v es tin g per io d.   In  th e year  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 , 12 ,00 0 s hares o f
r es tr icted  s tock wer e fo r feited  an d r etur ned  w hen  a k ey  em plo yee lef t th e Com pan y.
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I n Janu ary  1 9 97 , th e Boar d of  D irecto rs  app r ov ed  an  amen dm en t to th e Com p an y’ s 4 01 (k )  p lan, wh ich  autho r ized  up  to
1 ,0 00 ,0 0 0 sh ares of  Co mm o n Stock  f or  th e Co m pany ’ s match in g con tr ib u tion .   The Bo ar d  o f Dir ecto r s au th o rized  an
add itio n al 1 ,00 0,00 0  s har es  o f Com mo n  S to ck  fo r the Com p an y’ s  m atch ing  co ntribu tio n in No vem ber 2 00 2.  The
Com pany  is su ed 40 2,1 02  s h ar es  in  A ug u st 2 00 2 , 13 2 ,8 87  s h ar es  in  A ug u st 2 0 01  and  51 ,8 3 4 sh ar es in  Au gu st 20 00  to 
f un d its  4 01 ( k)  m atch th at had accru ed du rin g th e y ears  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 02 , 20 0 1 an d  2 00 0, resp ectiv ely .  A s  o f Ju n e
3 0, 2 00 3 , th ere w er e 1 ,2 2 3,79 7 s hares  available f or  f utu re co ntribu tio ns  to  the 40 1( k ) plan .

S to ck  R ela ted  Tra ns a ct io n s With  Th ird  Parties -  I n Octob er  20 00 , the Co mp an y com pleted an  ag reement to  acq u ir e
v ar io us  electro nic b illin g an d p ay men t as sets fr o m Bank  of  A m er ica in ex chang e f or  ten million  s h ar es  o f  the
Com pany ’ s Co m mo n Sto ck .  Bank  o f  A mer ica has  the ab ility  to ear n war rants  o n up  to  ten million  ad dition al sh ares,
eig ht m illio n  o f wh ich  v est u po n  ach iev em en t o f s pecific lev els  o f activ e s ub scr ib er  ad op tio n of  electr o nic b illing  an d
p ay ment serv ices an d  s ep arately , two  millio n  u po n  ach iev em en t o f sp ecific lev els  o f electro n ic b ills pr esented to  th os e
s ub scrib er s.  The w arr an ts have a str ik e pr ice o f  $ 32 .5 0 .  A t the time th at v es tin g o f a po r tion  of  thes e war rants b ecom es
p ro bable, th e Com pan y will reco r d a charg e f or  th e fair  valu e o f th e p or tio n of  th e w ar rants  ear n ed  to d ate b as ed  o n 
Ban k of  Am er ica’s  p r og res s to war ds  achiev in g  the milesto nes s et f or th in  th e ag r eemen t.  Th e Com p an y will co n tinu e
to reco r d a charg e each p er io d f or  an y ad ditio nal p or tio n of  th e war rants  ear ned , plu s an y chang e in fair value o f the
cum ulative am ou nt o f  w ar r an ts  earn ed  to  d ate, up  to  the po in t in tim e th at th e m iles ton es  ar e ach ieved and  actu al
v es ting  occu r s.  Un d er  th e pr ov ision s  o f EI TF 01 - 9, any  ch ar g e as so ciated  w ith these warr an ts will be r eco rd ed as  a
r ed uctio n of  revenu e u p to th e agg reg ate am o un t o f reven ue r eceiv ed  fr om  Bank  o f  A mer ica.

I n Octo b er  1 9 99 , th e Com p an y en ter ed  in to  an  agr eem en t w ith o ne o f its  cu stom er s .  U n der th e ter m s of  th e ag r eement,
the cus tom er  pu rchas ed  2 5 0,00 0 s hares  o f th e Com p an y’ s s to ck , h as  b een  is su ed  w arr an ts on  o n e million  s h ar es , and 
h as  the ab ility  to ear n w ar rants  o n u p to  tw o million  ad ditio nal sh ares.  A ll w arr an ts reflect a strike pr ice o f $3 9 .2 5 and 
b ecam e exercisable o n Sep temb er  15 , 2 00 2, co ntin g en t up o n ach ievemen t of  variou s  ann u al r ev enu e tar gets  an d
m aintain in g the con tin ued  existence o f th e agr eem en t th r ou gh  th at d ate. D ur in g the q u ar ter end ed  Ju ne 3 0 , 20 0 2,
v es ting  of  th e warr ants f or  o ne million  s har es  b ecame p r ob ab le.  As  su ch , the Co mp an y  r ecor d ed  a no n- cas h ch arg e of 
$ 2,74 8,0 00  f o r th e f air v alue o f  the po rtio n  o f the w ar r an ts  earn ed  th ro u gh  J un e 3 0, 20 02  b ased o n a Black -S ch oles 
o ptio n p ricin g mo del v alu atio n.  A t S ep temb er 15 , 2 00 2, up on  actu al vesting , th e Com p an y deter min ed  the final f air
v alue o f  the on e million  warr an ts tak in g in to co n sideratio n the m ar k et v alu e of  ou r s to ck  at that d ate.  D ur ing  the
q uarter  en ded  S ep tem ber 3 0, 2 00 2 , th e Com pan y recor ded a n on - cash  in cr eas e in  r evenu e o f $6 4 4,00 0 , reflectin g  the
p or tion  of  th e warr ants ear ned d ur in g  the q u ar ter  and  th e fin al f air  v alu e of  th e on e m illio n war rants that v es ted o n
S ep temb er 15 , 2 00 2.  F air  v alue was d eter min ed  b ased on  a Black -S ch oles  op tio n pr icing  m o del valuatio n.  Un d er  th e
p ro visio ns  o f  EITF 0 1- 9, “A ccou n ting  fo r Co n sider atio n b y a V en do r to a Cus to mer  ( In clu ding  a Res eller o f th e
V en do r’ s  P ro d ucts ),” the no n- cas h ch arg e of  $2 ,7 4 8,00 0 w as  r eco rd ed  as  a redu ction  o f  r ev en u e, an d th e n on -cash 
increas e o f $ 64 4,00 0  w as  reco rd ed as  an  incr ease to  r ev enu e.

I n Janu ary  1 9 98 , th e Com p an y en ter ed  in to  a ten- y ear pr o cess ing  agr eem en t w ith a s tr ategic p ar tn er.  Un d er  th e term s 
o f th e agr eem en t, th e par tn er  acqu ir ed ten- y ear w ar rants  exer cisable at $ 20  1 5/1 6 fo r  ten  m illio n  s hares  o f the
Com pany ’ s Co m mo n Sto ck .  Th ree m illio n warr ants v es ted u po n the executio n  o f a r elated pr ocess in g  o utso u rcin g 
agr eemen t on  March 9 , 19 9 8.  Du r in g the y ear  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 1, th e str ateg ic partn er ’s  b u sines s was d is so lved, an d
therefo r e, it d oes n ot h ave the ab ility  to ear n any  o f the r emain in g  s ev en million  w arr an ts .  Du r in g each of  th e fis cal
y ears  en ded J un e 30 , 2 00 0  and  2 0 01 , the s tr ategic p ar tn er ex ercis ed  75 0,0 00  o f the v ested  o p tion s  and  1 ,50 0,0 00 
r em ain o utstand in g at Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3.

I n March  1 99 7 , th e Com pan y en ter ed  in to  a co ns ultin g ag r eemen t with  a th ird  p ar ty.  U nd er  th e ter ms  o f the ag reem en t,
the con s ultan t acqu ired 5 -y ear o ptio n s ex er cis ab le at $ 1 3.00  fo r up  to  5 0 ,0 00  s h ar es  of  the Co mp any ’s  Co mm on  Stock.
I n Ju ne 19 98 , u po n the ex ecutio n  o f a p ro ces sing  ag reem ent w ith  a k ey cu s to mer, 25 ,0 0 0 of  th e op tio ns  v ested .  Th e
r em ainin g 25 ,00 0 op tio ns  vested  in  March 20 0 2.  I n March  2 00 2 , th e con su ltant ex er cis ed  all 50 ,0 0 0 op tio ns .  An y
s hares acq uir ed  b y the co ns ultan t un d er  the term s  o f th e agr eem en t are s u bject to cer tain  tr an sf er restr ictio ns .

C on vert ible S ub ordin at ed  No tes -  I n No vem ber 1 99 9, th e Co m pany  is su ed  $1 72 ,5 0 0,00 0  m illio n of  co nv er tib le
s ub or din ated  no tes.  Each  $ 1,00 0  n ote m ay  b e con v er ted, at th e ho ld er’ s o ptio n, in to  13 .6 61 2  s har es  o f com mo n  s to ck 
at a co n vers ion  r ate o f $ 73 .2 0 p er  s h ar e.  The f air  m ar k et v alu e of  th e Com pany ’ s sto ck  o n J un e 3 0, 2 00 3  w as  $2 8.00 
p er  s har e.  P leas e r ef er  to  N ote 1 0 f or  f ur ther inf or matio n r eg ar din g th e con ver tible s ub or d in ated no tes .
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NOTE 15.  EARNINGS PER SHARE

The f ollow in g  tab le reco n ciles the d iff er en ces  in  incom e and  sh ar es  ou ts tan ding  betw een  b as ic an d  d ilutiv e f or  th e
p er io ds  in dicated  ( in th o us an ds , except p er  sh ar e d ata) :

Year Ended June 30, 2003 Year Ended June 30, 2002 Year Ended June 30, 2001
Income Shares Per-Share Income Shares Per-Share Income Shares Per-Share

(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
Basic EPS...................................  $     (52,184)             88,807  $    (0.59)  $   (440,950)            87,452  $    (5.04)  $   (363,135)            80,863  $    (4.49)
Effective of dilutive securities:
    Options and warrants.............                  -                      -                    -                     -                    -                     -
    Convertible notes...................                  -                      -                    -                     -                    -                     -
Diluted EPS................................  $     (52,184)             88,807  $    (0.59)  $   (440,950)            87,452  $    (5.04)  $   (363,135)            80,863  $    (4.49)

A nti- dilutio n  p ro vis io ns  of  S FA S  1 28  requ ir e con s is tency  b etw een diluted  per- co m mo n- s hare am ou nts  and  b asic p er -
com mo n- s hare am ou nts  in los s per io ds .  Had the Co mp an y r ecog n ized  n et in com e fo r  the period s  p res en ted, an 
add itio n al 3 ,56 7,00 0 , 3,3 33 ,0 00  an d 6 ,7 69 ,0 0 0 of  in -the- mo ney  o ptio n s an d  w ar ran ts  w o uld hav e been in clu ded in th e
d iluted  earn ing s per  s har e calcu latio n fo r the y ear s en d ed  J u ne 3 0, 20 03 , 2 00 2 and  2 0 01 , res pectively .  Us in g  the
treas ur y  s to ck meth o d pr escribed  b y S FA S 12 8 , th is wo uld  h av e increased d iluted  sh ar es ou ts tan din g by  7 4 7,00 0 ,
8 99 ,0 00  an d 3 ,2 05 ,0 0 0 fo r  the y ear s end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 , 2 00 2  and  2 0 01 , r es pectively .

The w eig hted  av er ag e d ilu ted co m mo n s hares o utstand in g f or  th e year s  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3, 2 0 02  an d 20 01 , als o 
exclu de th e eff ect o f ap p ro ximately 6 ,4 11 ,0 0 0, 6 ,56 5,00 0  and  2,05 1,0 00  o f  o ut-o f -the- mo ney o ptio n s an d w ar ran ts ,
r es pectively , and  th e 2,3 57 ,0 00  sh ar e eff ect f or  th e as s um ed  co nv er s io n o f th e con ver tible s ub or d in ated  no tes , as  th eir
eff ect w ou ld  be anti-d ilutiv e.  I n  add ition , the after- tax  eff ect o f inter es t exp ens e on  th e con vertible s ub or din ated  no tes
o f ap pr o ximately $7 ,54 1,0 00 , $9 ,49 8,0 00  and  $9 ,1 9 8,00 0 f or  th e year s  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3, 2 0 02  an d 20 01 ,
r es pectively , h as  n o t been ad ded  b ack  to th e n um erato r, as  its ef fect wo u ld  b e anti- d ilutiv e.

NOTE 16.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

R et irement  Plan  -  The Co mp an y  h as  a defin ed  con tribu tio n 40 1 (k ) r etir em ent p lan  cov ering  su bs tan tially all o f its 
U .S .- bas ed  em ploy ees .  U n der th e p lan , elig ible emp lo yees may  con tr ibu te a po rtion  o f  their  salar y un til r etirement an d
the Com p an y, at its  discr etio n, may m atch  a po rtion  o f the em ploy ee’ s co n tr ib ution .  In  J an u ar y 2 00 2, th e Co m pany 
add ed  a similar  p lan  cov ering  s u bs tan tially  all its  n on  U.S.- based emp lo y ees.  Total ex pens e u nd er bo th  plan s  amo un ted 
to $3 ,4 7 6,00 0 , $3 ,0 3 5,00 0 , an d $ 3,52 8 ,0 00  f o r th e y ears  en ded  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03 , 20 0 2 an d  2 00 1, resp ectiv ely .

D ef erred  C omp en sa tio n Pla n -  I n Jan uary  19 99 , the Co mp an y estab lis hed a d ef err ed  co mp en s atio n p lan ( th e “D CP”)
cov er in g  h ig h ly  com p en sated  emp loy ees  as def in ed  by  the DCP.  U nd er  th e p lan, elig ib le em plo yees  may co n tr ib u te a
p or tion  of  th eir salar y o n a pr e-tax  basis.  The DCP is  a no n -q ualif ied p lan, th er ef o re the as so ciated liabilities are
inclu ded  in the Com p an y’ s  J un e 3 0, 2 0 03  and  20 02  Co ns olidated  Balan ce Sh eets.  I n ad d itio n, th e Com pany  has
estab lis hed a r ab bi tr us t to fin an ce ob ligatio ns  un der the D CP with  co rp o rate-o w ned lif e in s ur an ce po licies o n
p ar ticip an ts .  Th e cas h s ur rend er value o f s uch p olicies  is als o in clu ded  in th e Com p an y’ s J un e 3 0, 2 00 3  and  20 02 
Con so lid ated  Balance S heets .  To tal exp en se un der  the D CP fo r  the y ear s end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 , 2 00 2  and  2 0 01 
amo un ted  to $ 13 1,00 0 , $1 7 6,00 0 and  $ 7 7,00 0, resp ectiv ely .

G ro up  M edica l Pla ns  -  Eff ectiv e J an uary  1, 2 0 00 , th e Com p an y co n verted all o f its  U .S .- b as ed  em ploy ees  to  a g ro u p
m ed ical self - in su ran ce p lan . Th e Com p an y has  emp loy ed  an  adm inistrator  to  m an ag e this  p lan.  U nd er term s  o f this
p lan, b o th  th e Co mp any  an d elig ible emp lo yees ar e r eq uir ed  to  m ak e con tr ibu tion s .  Th e ad min is tr ato r rev iews  all
claim s f iled  an d au tho rizes  the paym ent o f b en ef its .  Th e Co m pany  h as sto p-los s in s ur an ce co ver ag e o n all ind iv idu al
claim s exceed in g $2 5 0,00 0 .  P rior  to  J an u ar y 1, 20 00 , the Co mp an y  h ad  a gr ou p  m ed ical self- in su r an ce plan  co verin g
cer tain  of  its em plo yees , and  m edical ins ur ance cov er ag e u nd er manag ed  care h ealth  p lan s co v er in g  the r emain ing 
emp lo yees. Th e Co mp any  p r ov id es  su pp lem en tal m ed ical in s ur an ce co ver ag e to its n on  U .S.-b as ed em p lo yees .  To tal
exp en se fo r m ed ical in su r an ce co verag e am ou n ted to $1 1,4 54 ,0 0 0, $ 11 ,58 8,0 00  and  $1 1,1 16 ,0 00  fo r the y ear s en d ed 
J un e 30 , 2 00 3 , 20 02  an d 2 00 1, r esp ectiv ely.  U nd er th e s elf- ins ur an ce plan, the Co mp any  exp ens es  amo un ts  as  claims 
are incu rr ed  an d recog nizes  a liab ility  f or  in cu r red bu t n ot repo rted claim s.  A t Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3 and  2 00 2 , th e Com pan y
accru ed  $3 ,4 2 5,00 0 and  $ 4 ,1 53 ,0 0 0, r esp ectiv ely, as  a liab ility  f or  co sts  incur r ed  b u t no t p aid u nd er  th is  p lan .
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I n Decem ber 1 99 8, a su bs idiar y, Ch eck Fr ee Managem en t Co r po ratio n, w as cr eated  to  adm inister  th e Com pany ’ s
emp lo yee m ed ical ben ef its  p ro gr am.  The Com p an y o wn s a con tr o llin g inter est in the s u bs id iar y an d , th er efo re, the
accom pan ying  co ns olidated  f in an cial s tatemen ts  in clud e the s u bs id iar y’ s r es ults  of  o p er atio n s.

NOTE 17.  REORGANIZATION CHARGE

D ur in g the y ear  end ed Ju n e 30 , 2 00 2, th e Co m pany  an no un ced  it w ou ld  streamlin e o peratio ns  in  its  Electr o nic
Com merce D iv ision , r ef in e its  s trateg y fo r the i-S olution s b us in es s  u nit o f its  S of tware D ivisio n, and  disco ntin ue
cer tain  pr od u ct lin es as s ociated  w ith  its  I n vestm en t Ser vices  D iv is ion .  As  a r esu lt of  thes e actio ns , the Co mp an y clo sed 
o r co ns o lidated  o per atio n s in  s everal location s and  elim in ated certain  o ther po s itio n s in  th e Co m pany .   The
s tr eamlining  of  its  Electro nic Com mer ce D iv ision  op er ation s r es ults  fr om  ef ficiencies  g ained  f ro m  the co ns olidation  of 
thr ee legacy  tr an saction  pr oces s in g p latf or m s to  its Gen es is  platfo r m an d  r es ulted  in  the clos in g  o f its  S an  Fr an cis co ,
Calif or n ia lo cation  on  A p ril 30 , 2 00 2 ; its H ou sto n, Tex as lo catio n o n Ju n e 30 , 2 00 2; an d its  A us tin , Tex as  lo cation  on 
S ep temb er 30 , 2 00 2.  The refinem en t in strateg y f or  the i-S olution s b us in es s  r es u lted  in  the clos in g  o f its  A nn  Ar bo r ,
Michigan  and  Sing ap o re lo cation s  o n Mar ch  1 9 , 20 0 2.   Revenu es an d o peratin g in com e r elated  to  th e disco ntin u ed 
p ro du ct lines  in th e I nv estment Serv ices Div is io n  are im mater ial to  th e Com pany .

A s a res ult o f th es e action s, th e Co m pany  r eco rd ed $1 6,3 65 ,0 0 0 of  r eor gan izatio n  char ges fo r  the year  en ded J un e 30 ,
2 00 2, w h ich inclu ded  $ 1,6 40 ,0 00  of  n o n- cash  as set imp air ment ch ar ges , $1 0 ,9 62 ,0 0 0 of  severan ce an d related  b enefits 
cos ts  f o r th e ter min atio n  o f 70 7  emp loy ees, an d $ 3,76 3,0 00  o f  o th er  ex it co sts, in clu ding  leas e ter minatio n f ees an d 
o th er  clos ur e, em plo yee and  p ro f es sio nal co s ts .  Fo r th e y ear  end ed  Ju ne 30 , 20 0 3, th e Co mp any  r eview ed  its estim ated
r em ainin g liabilities un d er  this  r eo r ganizatio n p lan an d  r eco rd ed  an  add ition al ch ar g e of  $ 1 ,4 05 ,00 0, w h ich inclu des 
$ 16 5,00 0  o f s ev er an ce an d  r elated ben ef its and  $ 1 ,2 40 ,0 0 0 of  other exit cos ts , inclu d in g lease term in ation  f ees  and 
o th er  clos ur e, em plo yee and  p ro f es sio nal co s ts .  Th es e amo un ts ar e inclu d ed  in r eo rg anizatio n ch arg e in  th e Com pany ’ s
Con so lid ated  Statem ent o f  O peratio ns .  Th e Com pan y’ s reo rg an ization  plan  was su b stan tially com plete at J un e 3 0,
2 00 3.

A  s um mar y of  activity related  to  the reor gan ization  r es erv e is as  f o llow s  ( in  th ou san ds ):

Severance
and Other
Employee

Costs

Office
Closure

and
Business

Exit Costs
Other Exit

Costs Total

Initial reorganization charge............................ $      10,962 $      3,677 $           86 $    14,725
Cash payments, year ended June 30, 2002 .....          (6,261)          (649)             (15)        (6,925)
Reorganization reserve at June 30, 2002 ........           4,701         3,028              71         7,800
Additional reorganization charge....................              165         1,248               (8)         1,405
Cash payments, year ended June 30, 2003 .....          (4,866)       (2,739)             (63)        (7,668)
Balance as of June 30, 2003............................ $               - $      1,537 $             - $      1,537

I n co nju nctio n with  th e r eo rg an izatio n activ ities  d es cr ibed abo ve, the Co mp an y r ev is ed th e estim ated us efu l liv es  o f  the
Existin g  P ro d uct Techn olo gy  and  Cu sto mer Bas e in tan gible ass ets  r elated to th e p ro du ct lines  that w er e to be
d is co ntinu ed  fr om  its Mob iu s G ro up  acqu is ition , the W o rk fo r ce intang ib le as set f ro m  its  s trateg ic agr eem en t w ith Ban k
o f Am er ica, and  cer tain p ro perty  and  eq uipm ent as sets  as so ciated with of f ice lo catio n s th at were to  b e clo sed .  This 
r es ulted  in add itio n al am or tizatio n exp en se of  $ 1 ,0 35 ,0 0 0 fo r  the y ear  en ded Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3, wh ich  r ep res en ts  an  after- 
tax  imp act o f  $ 62 1,0 00  an d an  im pact to  ear n in gs  per sh are o f  $ (0 .0 1 ) fo r  the y ear  en ded Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3, an d add itio n al
d ep reciation  an d am o rtization  ex pens e o f $3 ,31 8,0 00  f or  th e y ear en d ed  J u ne 3 0, 20 02 , w hich  repr esents an af ter -tax 
imp act o f $2 ,71 0,00 0  and  an  imp act to  ear nin gs  p er sh ar e o f $ (0 .0 3)  fo r the y ear  end ed Ju ne 30 , 2 00 2.
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NOTE 18.  INCOME TAXES

The Com p an y accou nts  f or  in co me taxes  in accor dan ce w ith  S FA S  1 09 , “Acco u ntin g f or  I n co me Taxes,” w hich 
r eq uires  an ass et an d liability  ap pr o ach to  finan cial acco un tin g an d  r ep o rtin g f or  in co me taxes.  I n accor dan ce w ith 
S FA S 10 9 , def er red incom e tax  as sets  an d liabilities ar e com p uted  an nu ally fo r d if fer en ces b etween th e f in an cial
s tatemen t an d  tax  b ases o f as sets an d  liabilities  that w ill r es ult in tax ab le o r  d ed u ctib le am ou n ts  in the f u tu re b ased o n
enacted  tax law s an d  r ates ap plicable to th e p er iod s in  wh ich  the d iff er ences  ar e ex p ected to af f ect tax ab le in co me.
I ncom e tax  ex pens e ( benef it) is  th e tax  p ay able o r refu n dable f or  th e per io d plu s or  minu s the ch an ge d u ring  th e per io d
in defer red tax  ass ets  an d liab ilities.

The Com p an y’ s  incom e tax  benefit con s is ts  o f  the fo llow ing  ( in th ou s an ds ) :

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

Current:
     Federal ........................................................................ $      1,700 $           - $             -
     State and local ............................................................                -              -                -
     Foreign........................................................................            341           281                -
               Total current.....................................................         2,041           281                -
Deferred federal and state ...............................................      (35,147)    (99,152)    (115,362)
               Total income tax benefit .................................. $   (33,106) $ (98,871) $ (115,362)

I ncom e tax  ex pens e d if fer s fr om  th e amo un ts  co mp u ted by  ap ply in g th e U .S . f ed er al statu to ry  in co m e tax r ate o f 35 
p er cent to  in co me b efo re in co me taxes  as a r es ult o f th e f ollow in g ( in  th ou sand s ):

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

Computed “expected” tax benefit...................................... $   (28,838) $ (188,937) $ (167,243)
Nondeductible in-process research and
   development of acquired businesses ..............................                -                -         6,510
Nondeductible intangible charges .....................................         2,094     101,294       60,346
State and local taxes, net of federal and foreign
   income tax benefits .........................................................        (4,715)      (10,321)      (14,793)
Federal and state tax credits...............................................        (2,080)        (1,364)           (687)
Other, net ............................................................................            433            457            505
              Total income tax benefit ...................................... $   (33,106) $   (98,871) $ (115,362)

The tax  ef fects  o f tem po r ar y dif feren ces th at giv e rise to  s ign if icant p o rtio ns  of  th e defer red tax  ass ets  an d defer red tax 
liabilities at Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3 an d  2 00 2  are as  f ollow s (in  tho u sand s) :
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June 30,
2003 2002

Deferred tax assets:
     Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards....................................... $    48,008 $   80,692
     Federal and state tax credit carryforwards ....................................................       12,289        5,311
     Allowance for bad debts and returns.............................................................            845           951
     Accrued compensation and related items......................................................         1,369        1,227
     Stock warrants................................................................................................       17,433      18,298
     Property and equipment.................................................................................            518           451
     Other investments ..........................................................................................         3,964        3,143
     Deferred revenue............................................................................................         1,786        2,254
     Reserve accruals.............................................................................................         4,891        7,188
                    Total deferred tax assets .................................................................       91,103     119,515

Deferred tax liabilities:
     Capitalized software.......................................................................................        (5,246)      (24,063)
     Intangible assets .............................................................................................      (73,383)    (123,629)
                    Total deferred tax liabilities ...........................................................      (78,629)    (147,692)
                     Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)................................................ $    12,474 $   (28,177)

A t Ju ne 30 , 2 00 3, th e Co m pany  h as ap p ro ximately $ 14 1,40 0 ,0 00  of  s tate an d  $ 11 8,6 00 ,0 0 0 of  f ederal n et o p er ating 
los s car ry fo r ward s  available, ex pirin g in  20 09  to  2 02 3  and  2 0 19  to  2 02 3, resp ectiv ely .  A d dition ally, at J un e 3 0, 20 03 ,
the Com p an y h as  app r ox im ately  $ 1 ,0 00 ,00 0 of  state and  $ 1 1,60 0 ,0 00  o f  f ed eral tax  cred it car ry fo r ward s  available,
exp ir in g  in 2 00 7 to  20 13  an d 20 0 7 to  20 23 , r es pectively .

The r ealization  o f the Co mp an y’ s  d ef err ed  tax as s ets, w h ich r elate p rimar ily to  net o peratin g lo s s car ry fo r ward s  and 
tem po rar y dif ferences is  depend ent o n  g en er ating  su ff icien t tax ab le in co m e in  f u tu re period s .  A lth ou gh  realization  is 
n ot ass u red, managem en t b elieves  it is mo re likely th an  no t that th e n et deferr ed tax  ass ets  w ill b e realized .

NOTE 19.  SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)

Interest paid ..................................................................... $     12,028 $     12,041 $      12,119

Income taxes paid (received), net ................................... $       2,770 $            49 $       (1,442)

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and
     financing activities:

     Capital lease additions and acquisitions of other
          long-term assets..................................................... $     13,105 $       1,539 $        5,716

     Stock funding of 401(k) match.................................. $       3,229 $       3,621 $        2,487

     Stock funding of Associate Stock Purchase Plan ..... $       3,274 $       4,433 $        3,587

     Purchase price of business acquisitions .................... $             - $             - $ 1,351,649
          Issuance of common stock and stock

            options pursuant to acquisitions .........................                -                -   (1,350,083)
          Cash acquired in acquisitions ...............................                -                -        (97,200)

          Acquisition costs paid in prior period ..................                -                -             (965)

               Net cash received ............................................. $             - $             - $     (96,599)
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NOTE 20.  BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Com p an y o perates  in thr ee b u sines s segm ents -  Electr on ic Co mm er ce, S o ftware an d I nv es tm ent S erv ices .  Th ese
r ep or tab le s egm en ts  ar e s tr ateg ic bu s in es s u nits  th at o f fer d if feren t pr o du cts and  s erv ices . A  f u rther d es cr iptio n o f each
b us in es s  s eg m en t alo ng  w ith  the Co rp o rate s erv ices ar ea fo llo ws :

� Electro n ic Co mm er ce - Electro nic Com mer ce p r ov id es  serv ices th at allow  con s um er s  to receive electr o nic
b ills  th ro ug h  the I n tern et, p ay  bills  r eceiv ed  electr on ically  o r in  paper  f or m to an y on e an d  p er f or m or d in ar y 
b an king  tr an s action s  includ in g b alan ce in qu iries , trans f er s b etween  acco u nts an d  o n- lin e statemen t
r econ ciliatio n.  Th ese s erv ices  ar e p rimarily dir ected to fin an cial in stitu tion s , inter net f in ancial s ites , p er so n al
f in an cial man ag em en t s of tware p r ov id ers  and  th e cus to mer s of  th es e b us in ess es .

� S oftwar e -  S of tw are in clud es  so ftw ar e pr o du cts  and  r elated  s er vices  f o r electro nic b illin g, A CH pr ocess in g 
and  acco un t r econ ciliatio n.  Th ese p r od ucts  an d s er vices  are pr im ar ily  d irected  to  larg e co r po ratio ns  an d
f in an cial in s titu tio ns .

� I nves tm ent S ervices  - I nv es tm ent S erv ices  in clu des in v es tm ent p or tfo lio  m an ag ement serv ices an d  inv es tment
trading  an d r ep or tin g ser vices.  Thes e pr od u cts and  s er v ices  ar e pr imarily directed to fee- b as ed  mo ney
m an ag er s  and  financial p lan ners  wh o m an ag e inv es tments o f in s titu tio ns  an d high  net w or th  in divid uals .

� Corporate - Corporate services include human resources, legal, finance and various other of the Company’s
unallocated overhead charges.

The acco un tin g po licies o f th e s eg men ts  are th e s am e as  th os e d es cr ibed in No te 1 “S u mm ar y o f Sig nifican t
A ccou nting  P o licies .”  Th e Co mp any  ev aluates  p er f or mance b as ed on  r evenu es an d o peratin g in com e ( lo ss ) o f th e
r es pective s egm en ts . S eg m en t op eratin g in co m e (lo ss ) ex clu des  intan g ib le as set amo rtization , in- p ro cess  research an d 
d ev elop m en t cos ts  an d sig nifican t on e-tim e charg es related  to  v ar io u s bu s in es s and  as set acq uisitio ns .   Ther e ar e n o
inter seg ment sales.

The f ollow in g  s ets f or th  certain  f in ancial inf or m atio n attrib utab le to  th e Co mp any ’s  bu sines s seg ments f or  th e year s 
end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03 , 2 00 2  and  2 0 01 :

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)

Revenues:
     Electronic Commerce .....................................................................  $       405,373  $     352,054  $     301,532
     Software ..........................................................................................             64,711           58,849           62,175
     Investment Services........................................................................             81,562           79,574           69,613
              Total .......................................................................................  $       551,646  $     490,477  $      433,320
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Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)

Segment operating income (loss):
      Electronic Commerce ....................................................................  $       115,539 $ 39,010  $      (13,083)
      Software .........................................................................................             18,008 5,789                837
      Investment Services.......................................................................             21,062 24,376           20,347
      Corporate........................................................................................            (33,798) (36,500)          (35,746)
              Total .......................................................................................           120,811 32,675          (27,645)
Purchase accounting amortization ......................................................          (183,342) (394,009)        (393,436)
Impairment of intangible assets ..........................................................            (10,228) (155,072)                    -
Reorganization charge .........................................................................              (1,405) (16,365)                    -
Impact of warrants ...............................................................................                  644 (2,748)                    -
One-time marketing charge.................................................................                      - -          (25,000)
In-process research and development .................................................                      - -          (18,600)
Loss on investments.............................................................................              (3,228) -          (16,077)
Interest, net...........................................................................................              (5,648) (4,302)             2,261
              Total loss before income taxes and cumulative effect of

accounting change ....................................................... $        (82,396) $ (539,821)  $    (478,497)

Identifiable assets:
     Electronic Commerce ..................................................................... $     1,046,063 $ 1,218,340 $   1,603,069
     Software ..........................................................................................             39,782 63,792         206,746
     Investment Services........................................................................             37,696 41,347           50,113
     Corporate.........................................................................................           463,729 313,998         324,025
              Total .......................................................................................  $    1,587,270 $ 1,637,477  $  2,183,953

Capital expenditures:
      Electronic Commerce .................................................................... $          31,963 $ 15,654 $        28,355
      Software .........................................................................................                  381 2,074             2,938
      Investment Services.......................................................................               4,857 2,643             6,771
      Corporate........................................................................................                  228 3,148             9,317
              Total .......................................................................................  $         37,429 $ 23,519  $       47,381

Depreciation and amortization:
       Electronic Commerce ................................................................... $        202,313 $ 385,729 $      350,277
       Software ........................................................................................             10,665 32,887           62,485
       Investment Services......................................................................               8,126 10,706             9,421
       Corporate ......................................................................................               5,534 6,243             5,312
              Total .......................................................................................  $       226,638 $ 435,565  $     427,495

F or  the year s  end ed  Ju ne 30 , 20 0 3, 2 0 02 , an d  2 00 1 , on e cus to m er  acco un ted  f or  $ 9 4,26 5 ,0 00 , $ 60 ,0 2 2,00 0 and 
$ 44 ,5 00 ,00 0 o f co ns o lidated  r ev enu es , r es pectively.  Rev en ues  f or  th at cu stom er  were generated  th ro ug h the Electr on ic
Com merce, So f tw ar e and  I n vestmen t Ser vices s eg men ts  f or  th e y ears  en ded J un e 30 , 2 00 3  and  2 0 02  an d th ro u gh  th e
Electro n ic Co mm er ce an d S of tw ar e s eg m en ts  f o r th e y ear end ed  Ju ne 3 0 , 20 0 1.  Fo r eign  sales b as ed  on  the lo catio n of 
the cus tom er , f or  th e years  end ed Ju n e 30 , 2 00 3, 20 02  an d 20 0 1 were $9 ,4 9 1,00 0, $1 0,7 72 ,0 00  an d $ 7,63 6,0 00 ,
r es pectively .
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Lon g- liv ed  as sets  b y  g eo g raph ic ar ea ar e as  fo llo ws  ( in  th ou s an ds ):

Year Ended June 30,
2003 2002

United States ........................................................  $   1,037,213  $   1,238,961
Other.....................................................................              4,616              3,151
              Total .......................................................  $   1,041,829  $   1,242,112

NOTE 21.  GUARANTOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Check Fr ee Man ag em en t Cor p or atio n  is a g uaran to r o f th e Com pan y’ s $1 7 2,50 0 ,0 00  co nv er tib le s u bo rd inated n otes 
that wer e is s ued No v em ber  2 9, 1 9 99 .  Ch eckF r ee Managemen t Co r po ratio n was  f or med  as a m ed ical claim s
m an ag em ent s u bs id iar y in  or der to ap p ro pr iately m in im ize, co n tr ol, and  m anage th e med ical claims  liab ilities  of  the
Com pany  an d its  s ub s id iar ies.  A s of  Ju ne 3 0 , 20 0 3 an d 2 00 2, th e Co m pany  an d its  s ub s id iaries ow n  app ro x im ately 
8 9% o f Check F ree Man ag em ent Cor p or ation .  A s  o f J un e 30 , 2 00 3  and  2 0 02 , the ass ets  o f  Check F ree Man ag em ent
Cor po ratio n r ep resen t les s th an  2% o f  the to tal con so lid ated  as sets  of  th e Co mp any  an d, ther ef or e, separ ate f in an cial
s tatemen ts  an d finan cial disclo s ur es  ar e no t d eem ed  s ig n if icant.

NOTE 22.  SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The f ollow in g  q uarterly f in an cial in f or matio n fo r  the y ear s end ed  J u ne 3 0 , 20 03  an d 2 00 2 in clu des  all ad ju stm en ts 
n eces sar y fo r  a f air  p res en tatio n of  qu ar ter ly  r esu lts o f op eration s  ( in  th ou san ds , excep t p er  s h ar e data) :

Quarter Ended
September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30

FISCAL 2003
Total revenue ...................................................  $        130,235   $    135,505   $  141,301  $   144,605
Loss from operations .......................................            (21,151)          (17,437)        (11,695)        (23,237)
Net loss.............................................................            (16,176)          (11,207)          (7,830)        (16,971)
Basic earnings per share:
     Net loss per common share ........................  $            (0.18)   $         (0.13)   $       (0.09)  $        (0.19)
     Equivalent number of shares ......................             88,378           88,694         88,949         89,215
Diluted earnings per share:
     Net loss per common share ........................  $            (0.18)   $         (0.13)   $       (0.09)  $        (0.19)
     Equivalent number of shares ......................             88,378           88,694         88,949         89,215

Quarter Ended
September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30

FISCAL 2002
Total revenue ...................................................  $       116,675   $    121,338   $   124,586  $  127,878
Loss from operations .......................................          (112,045)        (258,251)         (95,337)       (69,886)
Net loss.............................................................            (88,947)        (215,133)         (77,459)       (59,411)
Basic earnings per share:
     Net loss per common share ........................  $            (1.02)   $         (2.47)   $        (0.89)  $       (0.67)
     Equivalent number of shares ......................              87,090            87,217          87,446        88,063
Diluted earnings per share:
     Net loss per common share ........................  $            (1.02)   $         (2.47)   $        (0.89)  $       (0.67)
     Equivalent number of shares ......................              87,090            87,217          87,446        88,063

The s um  of  th e qu ar ter ly  lo ss  p er sh are d oes  n ot eq ual the y ear -to- d ate los s per  s har e fo r the r esp ectiv e fis cal per io ds ,
d ue to chang es in  th e nu m ber of  sh ar es ou ts tan din g at each  q u ar ter- end .
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S CH ED ULE I I -  V ALUA TIO N A ND  Q UA LIFYI N G AC CO U NTS
FOR  THE YEAR S  END ED  JU NE 30 , 20 0 3, 2 0 02  A ND  20 01 

BALANCE AS
OF

BEGINNING
OF PERIOD

CHARGES TO
COSTS AND
EXPENSES DEDUCTIONS

BALANCE AS
OF END OF

PERIOD

(In thousands)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
                    2003...................................................  $         2,000  $          (232)  $             98  $        1,670
                    2002...................................................  $         2,963  $           689  $        1,652  $        2,000
                    2001...................................................  $         4,003  $             50  $        1,090  $        2,963
Reserve for Returns and Chargebacks
                    2003...................................................  $         1,706  $        1,235  $        1,679  $        1,262
                    2002...................................................  $         4,663  $          (514)  $        2,443  $        1,706
                    2001...................................................  $         2,405  $        3,847  $        1,589  $        4,663
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our management carried out an evaluation, with the
participation of our  principal executive officer and  principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.  Based upon this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.  It
should be noted that the design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, there has been no change in our internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended) during our fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2003, that has materially affected or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Part III

Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Executive
Officers” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement relating to
our 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on October 29, 2003, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11.  Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Information Concerning the Board
of Directors” and “Executive Compensation” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Ownership of Common Stock by
Directors and Executive Officers,” “Ownership of Common Stock by Principal Stockholders” and “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

The information required by this item is included under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our Proxy Statement
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is included under the caption “Fees of the Independent Public
Accountants for Fiscal 2003” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

(1) The following financial statements are included herein in Item 8:

Independent Auditors’ Report.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2003 and 2002.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the three years in the period ended June 30,
2003.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for each of the three years in the period ended
June 30, 2003.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30,
2003.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) The following financial statement schedule is included in this Annual Report on Form
10-K and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in
Item 8:

Schedule II -- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

Schedules not listed above are omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are required or
because the required information is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits:

Exhibit Exhibit
Number Description

2(a) Agreement and Plan Merger and Contribution Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2000,
among Microsoft Corporation, First Data Corporation, Citibank, N.A., MS II, LLC, First
Data, L.L.C., H & B Finance, Inc., First Data International Partner, Inc., MSFDC
International, Inc., Citicorp Electronic Commerce, Inc., CheckFree Holdings
Corporation, Chopper Merger Corporation, and CheckFree Corporation.  (Reference is
made to Exhibit 2(b) of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-
32644) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

2(b) Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 7, 2000, among
CheckFree Holdings Corporation, Microsoft Corporation, First Data Corporation,
Citibank, N.A., H&B Finance, Inc., FDC International Partner, Inc., FDR Subsidiary
Corp., MS FDC International, Inc., Citi TransPoint Holdings Inc., TransPoint Acquisition
Corporation, Tank Acquisition Corporation, Chopper Merger Corporation, CheckFree
Corporation, Microsoft II, LLC and First Data, L.L.C. (Reference is made to Appendix A
of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-41098) filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 10, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.)
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2(c) Amended and Restated Strategic Alliance Master Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2000,
among CheckFree Holdings Corporation, CheckFree Services Corporation and Bank of
America, N.A.  (Reference is made to Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Statement for
the Special Meeting of Stockholders held on September 28, 2000, and incorporated
herein by reference.)

3(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.  (Reference is made
to Exhibit 4(e) to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-50322),
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

3(b) Certificate of Ownership and Merger Merging CheckFree Corporation into CheckFree
Holdings Corporation.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 3(b) to the Company’s Form 10-K
for the year ended June 30, 2000, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 26, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)

3(c) By-Laws of the Company.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 3(b) to the Current Report on
Form 8-K, dated December 22, 1997, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on December 30, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference.)

3(d) Form of Specimen Stock Certificate.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 3(d) to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2000, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on September 26, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)

4(a) Articles FOURTH, FIFTH, SEVENTH, EIGHTH, TENTH AND ELEVENTH of the
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (contained in the
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3(a)
hereto) and Articles II, III, IV, VI and VIII of the Company’s By-Laws (contained in the
Company’s By-Laws filed as Exhibit 3(b) hereto.)

4(b) Rights Agreement, dated as of December 16, 1997, by and between the Company and
The Fifth Third Bank, as Rights Agent. (Reference is made to Exhibit 4.1 to Registration
Statement on Form 8-A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 19, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference.)

4(c) Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement, dated as of February 5, 1999, between
CheckFree Corporation and the Fifth Third Bank, as Rights Agent.  (Reference is made to
Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-
26802), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

4(d) Amendment No. 2 to the Rights Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2000, between
CheckFree Corporation and the Fifth Third Bank, as Rights Agent.  (Reference is made
to Exhibit 4.3 to Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-
26802), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 3, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.)

4(e) Amendment No. 3 to the Rights Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2002, between
CheckFree Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association, as
Rights Agent.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 4.4 to Amendment No. 3 to Registration
Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-26802), filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 28, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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10(a) CheckFree Corporation Second Amended and Restated Associate Stock Purchase Plan.
(Reference is made to Exhibit 4(a) to the Registration Statement on Form S-8
(Registration No. 333-101284), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 18, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)

10(b) CheckFree Corporation 401(k) Plan.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-91490), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 28, 2002, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

10(c) CheckFree Corporation 2002 Stock Incentive Plan.  (Reference is made to Appendix B to
the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
held on November 6, 2002, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 3, 2002, and incorporate herein by reference.)

10(d) CheckFree Corporation Third Amended and Restated 1995 Stock Option Plan.
(Reference is made to Exhibit 4(d) to Registration Statement on Form S-8, as amended
(Registration No. 333-50322), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 20, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.)

10(e) CheckFree Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Stock Option Plan.  (Reference is
made to Exhibit 4(a) to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8, as amended
(Registration No. 33-98442), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
January 9, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.)

10(f) CheckFree Corporation Amended and Restated 1983 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan.
(Reference is made to Exhibit 4(a) to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8, as
amended (Registration No. 33-98440), filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 9, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.)

10(g) CheckFree Corporation Second Amended and Restated 1983 Incentive Stock Option
Plan. (Reference is made to Exhibit 4(a) to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-
8, as amended (Registration No. 33-98444), filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 9, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.)

10(h) Form of Indemnification Agreement.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(a) to Registration
Statement on Form S-1, as amended (Registration No. 33-95738), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 1995, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

 10(i) * Schedule identifying material details of Indemnification Agreements substantially
identical to Exhibit 10(h).

 10(j) * Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement, dated May 7, 1999, between Peter J.
Kight and the Company.

 10(k) * Noncompetition Agreement, dated February 11, 2003, between Mark A. Johnson and the
Company.

10(l) * Confidentiality and Nonsolicitation Agreement, dated February 11, 2003, between Mark
A. Johnson and the Company.

10(m) Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Peter J. Kight. (Reference
is made to Exhibit 10(z) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 1997,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 26, 1997, and
incorporated herein by reference.)
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10(n) Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 13, 1997, among KeyBank National
Association, the Company, CheckFree Software Solutions, Inc., CheckFree Services
Corporation, Security APL, Inc., Servantis Systems, Inc., and Servantis Services, Inc.
(Reference is made to Exhibit 10(ee) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
June 30, 1997, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 26,
1997, and incorporated herein by reference.)

10(o) First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and between KeyBank National
Association, as Lender, and CheckFree Corporation, as Borrower, dated as of December
9, 1998. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 1999, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17,
1999, and incorporated herein by reference.)

10(p) CheckFree Corporation Incentive Compensation Plan. (Reference is made to Exhibit
10(ff) to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 1997, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on September 26, 1997, and incorporated herein by
reference.)

10(q) Form of Stockholder Agreement entered into between the Company and each of
Microsoft Corporation and First Data Corporation.  ( Referen ce is  m ad e to Ex h ib it 1 0 (f f)  of 
the Com p an y's  Reg is tratio n Statement on  F or m  S -4  (Reg is tratio n No . 3 33 -4 1 09 8)  f iled w ith
the S ecu rities an d Exchan ge Com m is sio n on  J u ly  1 0 , 20 00  an d incor po r ated  herein  by 
r ef er en ce.)* * 

10(r) Form of Registration Rights Agreement entered into between the Company and each of
Microsoft Corporation and First Data Corporation.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(gg)
of the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-41098) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 10, 2000 and incorporated herein
by reference.)**

10(s) Form of Registration Rights Agreement entered into between the Company and Citibank,
N.A.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(hh) of the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-41098) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 10, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.)**

10(t) Form of Commercial Alliance Agreement entered into between the Company and
Microsoft Corporation. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(ff) of the Company's
Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-
32644) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2000 and
incorporated herein by reference.)**

10(u) Form of Marketing Agreement entered into between the Company and First Data
Corporation. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10(gg) of the Company's Amendment No. 1
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-32644) filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 18, 2000 and incorporated herein by
reference.)**

10(v) * Master Agreement, dated August 5, 2003, among Bastogne, Inc., CheckFree Services
Corporation and SunTrust Bank. ***

21 Subsidiaries of the Company.  (Reference is made to Exhibit 21 to Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on September 26, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.)
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23 * Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

24 * Power of Attorney.

     31(a) * Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

    31(b) * Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

    32(a) * Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of
2002.

    32(b) * Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of
2002.

________________

    * Filed with this report.
  ** Portions of this Exhibit have been given confidential treatment by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
***        We have requested that the Securities and Exchange Commission give confidential treatment to portions of
              this exhibit.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

We filed the following Current Reports on Form 8-K since March 31, 2003:

(1) Form 8-K dated June 17, 2003, pursuant to Items 5 and 7 in connection with our
June 17, 2003 press release announcing our stock option exchange offer program
for our employees.

(2) Form 8-K dated April 22, 2003, pursuant to Items 7 and  12 (furnished under Item
9) in connection with our April 22, 2003 press release announcing our financial
results for the third quarter ended March 31, 2003.

(c) Exhibits.

The exhibits to this report follow the Signature Page.

(d) Financial Statement Schedules.

The financial statement schedule is included in Item 8 to this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CHECKFREE CORPORATION

Date: September 15, 2003 By:   /s/ David E. Mangum                                              
David E. Mangum, Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on our behalf and in the capacities indicated on the 15th day of September, 2003.

Signature Title

               *Peter J. Kight                      Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Peter J. Kight (Principal Executive Officer)

               *David E. Mangum               Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
David E. Mangum (Principal Financial Officer)

               *John J. Browne, Jr.            Vice President, Controller, and Chief Accounting Officer
John J. Browne, Jr. (Principal Accounting Officer)

               *William P. Boardman         Director
William P. Boardman

               *James D. Dixon                  Director
James D. Dixon

               *Henry C. Duques                 Director
Henry C. Duques

               *Mark A. Johnson                 Director
Mark A. Johnson

               *Lewis C. Levin                    Director
Lewis C. Levin

               *Eugene F. Quinn                Director
Eugene F. Quinn

               *Jeffrey M. Wilkins             Director
Jeffrey M. Wilkins

*By:        /s/ Curtis A. Loveland                   
Curtis A. Loveland,
Attorney-in-Fact
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F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s

Year ended June 30 2003 2002 2001

Statement of Operations Data (in thousands, except per-share data)

Total revenue $ 551,646 $ 490,477 $ 433,320

Net loss $ (52,184) $ (440,950) $ (363,135)

Net loss per common
equivalent shares outstanding $ (0.59) $ (5.04) $ (4.49)

Weighted average common and 
equivalent shares outstanding 88,807 87,452 80,863

Balance Sheet Data

Working capital $ 304,286 $ 201,741 $ 142,661

Total assets $1,587,270 $ 1,637,477 $ 2,183,953

Total stockholders’ equity $1,268,149 $ 1,305,661 $ 1,732,186

Net book value 
per share outstanding $ 14.21 $ 14.82 $ 19.93
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